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VISION
The Future is Qurs

MISSION
We shape the future of gaming and entertainment in Asia



new
HORIZON

It has always been in our character to challenge
the status quo by creating unique inspirational
entertainment experiences. With an  enviable
portfolio of entertainment assets established, we
continuously Iook for good soil to further grow our
Imaginations.

The acquisiion of Studio City, a unique
entertainment-driven experience that caplivates
the mass market, significantly expands our
coverage in Cotai. With our enhanced footprint
in the fast-growing Cotai and the exciting
possibilities that the Hengqin lsland presents, the
future polentials ane immense.







OUTPERFORMANCE

Qur visignary management and talented staff set
high achievement targets and the results have, time
and again, exceeded all expectations

Apart from accomplishing new heights in financial
terms, with our operations significantly ramped
up, we have also been stacking up intemational
recognitions with over a dozen awards for our
outstanding facilities and services, including the
"Best Casino Operator of the Year in Asia” awarded
to Melca Crown Entertainment for the third time at
the International Gaming Awards, and the Forbes’
5-Star Awards for Lodging and Spa gamered by
Altira Macau for the third consecutive year. We strive
to confinue fo raise our game.







WOWwW

entertainment

Breathtaking. Pulsating. QOur  first-class
entertainment offerings aim to excite all senses of
our visitors and simply leave them in awe

The House of Dancing Water welcomed its
1,000,000th spectator on January 23, 2012 and the
interational piano maestro Yundi graced us with his
performance in the first anniversary of the world's
largest water-based show in September 2011, Club
Cubic opened in April 2011 has quickly become the
most prestigious hotspot in Asia; the 11th Chinese
Film Media Awards made its appearance in Macau
for the first time at the iconic Dancing Water Theater
in June 2011; and the first-ever Madonna exhibition
in Asia opened at City of Dreams in the same month.
We never fail to bring new surprising experience.







Security Engu
-

seizing
OPPORTUNITIES

We are well-positioned in Macau, and in Cotai
in particular, to fully capture the rich aray of
opportunities in the rapidly growing local gaming
market,

Melco Crown Entertainment’s successful dual-
listing on the Stock Exchange on December 7,
2011 created an additional growth driver for our
Company. Adding to the joy of this momentous
event, Melco Crown Entertainment was the first-
ever company in the financial history of Hong Kong
to hit the gong at its Listing ceremony in the Stock
Exchange.
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connecting
HEARTS

Our Company iz a responsible corporate citizen fully
committed fo act in the interest of our Shareholders,
amployees and the wider community, by fostering the
highest level of corporate governance and corporate
social responsibility.

We care a great deal about creating a sustainable
living environment for our future generations, and
we are proud that our three hotels in City of Dreams,
namely Crown Towers, Hard Rock Hotel and Grand
Hyatt Macau, were recognized with the “2010 Macao
Green Hotel Award” in June 2011,

We share our resources with the less fortunate
in society and encourage our staff to engage in
community services to spread laughter, love and care,
Through a variety of community outreach programs,
we truly touch the hearts of many.
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Financial Highlights

Net revenues MNet income Basic net Adjusted EBITDA
US$3.83 US$294.7 aome US$809.4

SRR SRR #lz] ars R
billion million million

US$0.184

Met revenues for the year ended Net income attributable 1o Melco Basic net income per Share Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended
December 31, 2011 were US$3.83  Crown Entertainment was U5S294.7  attributable to Melco Grown December 31, 2011 was USSB09.4
billion, an increase of US51.19 millign for the year ended December  Entertainment was USS0.184 for million, representing an increase
billion, or 45.0%, as compared with 31, 2011, as compared with net the year ended December 31, 2011 of USS379.0 million, or 88.1%,
US52.64 billion for the year ended loss of USS10.5 million for the year  compared to basic net loss per compared to USS430.4 million for
December 31, 2010. ended December 31, 2010, Share of USS0.007 for the year the year ended December 31, 2010,

ended December 31, 2010,







Market Overview and Key Highlights

Macau Market

Gross gaming revenues in Macau grew
in 2011 to USS33.4 bilkon, which
57.6% in 2010. This growlh was driven by all threa

by 42.2%

follows growth of

main gaming segmants. Aolling chip gaming revenues
g 73% of a

Mass market table games

increased by 44,.6%; representin gaming

revenuas in Macauw.
revenuas grew by 36.8% and electronic gaming

revenues grew by 32.6%

W baelieve the growth in gaming revenues in Macau
is supporied by, among other things. the continuing
emergenca of a wealthier demographic in China, a
frarmewark,

robust  regulatory and significant new

infrastruciure  developmanis within  Macau and

China, as well as by the anticipated new supply of

garming u, which is

d nan-gaming F

predominantly fecused on the Cotal region.

Visitation 1o

2011

ol strong growth in
Increasing by 12.2% to 28.0 millien visitors.
Mainland China continues to drive owarall visilation

growth, incréasing by 22.2% in 2011 as compared o

0.5% for all other visitors and represented over 57.7%

STING OF MELCO cp
ERTAINN

ENT L

D“‘-'1\1

e D

Taiwan

ol all visitors o Macau.

Heng Kong and
visitors represented 27.1% and 4.3% of all visitors to

Macau in 2011, respectively,

Hang Kong Listing

On December 7, 2011, Melco Crown Enterainment

successfully completed & dual primary listing on

the Stock Exchange by way of introduction. This

dual primary listing is expected to benafit our

Company and ours Shareholders by, among other

things, prowiding access to a beoader range of

investors, providing ready access to an additional
source of equity capital i required, and enhancing
our Company's profile in Hong Kong, as well as
impnawing access to the Hong Kong inwestment
community, including research coverage and retail
and institutional shareholders. Wa believae our Hong

Kong Listing is important for cur Company's potential
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N, 5 8 maj stitive advantage, particulardy

light r

increasingly important mass market segments.

bs Expansion

, we openad our ninth Mocha Clubs venue at the Macau Tower,

n Sepbtemba:

260 slot hin actronic t

which offer

ately

21,500 square feet of floor area on the ground floor and the lewer ground fleor of

Macau Tower.

¢ 2012, we opened our tenth Mocha Clubs venue at the Hotel Golden

300

offars electronic table games across

slot machines and

which

=a on the ground floor, first floor

uare feet of floor a

ly 20,500 s

second floor of Hotel Golden Dragen.

1t Developments

Other Rec
*  On May 9, 2011,

5% bonds due 2013 and listed on the Official List of the SGX-8T

ve tesved RMB2.3 billion aggregals principal

] On June 30, 2011

] oAF gt

r things,

sirictions on our

maturity profile, as well as reduc

5 impesed by

outstanding shareholders’

IDBIS

. On November 28, 2011, we converted our

te b

due 1o Malco Laiswe and Cr

into 40,211,930 Sh a

ol approxirmately $115.6 million, LoV

price of U5$2.87 per Share
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Co-Chairman &
Chief Executive Officer’s
Statement .




In 2001, we delivered BB 1% r-gvir-yéar growth in Adjusted EBITDA and a

45

E

incraase in net revenues. Thesa substantial improvements in underying
profitability, daven by strong top line growth and meaningful operating leverage, are

indicative of the success of our core 1ocus on driving our Mass market operations,

which wa baliave will continue to undarpin owr future profitability and cash flows.

During the past year, we have expanded our rolling chip volume and mass market
table gamas drop and improved our mass market table games hold percentagas,

whila ingrgasing the contnbution frgm gur wnigue ¢ntarfainment :.;iFL".r._ 5 and other

nan-gaming amenities, such as our hatels, food and beverage and retail segments.
As a result of our strong focus and commitment to the premium mass market
b,
key competitive advantages, enabling us to capture and leverage a loyal and more

it City of Dngs

s, wi have lurmed this impartant segrent in1o o of our

profitable customer base. In addition to dri

ng top line growth, we have maintained
our sirict Company-wide cost control focus, eénsuring thal we maximize cash

fliow and long-term profitability. Moreaver, wa have taken steps during the year to

enhance our balance sheet to provide us with additional flexibility to pursuse both

organic and fu

e developmaent opporunities,

We are proud of our ach sng and have

s in ramping up our open

continued 1o ennch cur enviable portfolio of world-class entertainment oferings.

In 2011, we opaned one of the largest and most exciting clubbing facilities in Asia,

Cluby Cubic at City of Drearms. We also recently opened Hard Rock Café at City
of Dreams in February 2012 which, together with The House of Dancing Water
and our Dragon's Treasure show, solidifies cur reputation as the leading provider
of world-clags entertainment in the region. W have also opened two new Mocha

Clubs, Mocha Macau Tower and Mocha Golden Dragon, which further bolsters

thir slats club market, For th L

Altira Macau has been honored with the Forbes five-star rating for s hotel and spa

offerings

W are optimistic about the outlook for Macau in 2012 given its robust regulatony
framawork, togethar with the ongoing structural demand for leisure and gaming
in Macau, particularly from our core feeder markets in China and Hong Kong. We
are particularly excited about the supportive infrastructure development plan for
Macau, and specifically the Cotai region, which we beleve is well on the way o
becomang the epicenter of gameng, leisure and emertainment in Macau. Studio City,
with its unigque and diversified offerings, will complement our current portfolic of

#5505 and enlarge our footprint in Macay, while reinforcing Macau's position as the

leading leiswe and tourism destination in Asla.

Interns

ally, wi have rec implemented a streamlined management Streciung

to unlock synergies between our gaming and non-gaming operations, which we

baliswe will enhance our organizational efficiency and our competitiveness in this

dynamic market.

Finally, we would like fo express our heartfelt thanks to our Board of Directors,
Shareholders, employees and business partners for their support during 2011,
which empowered Melco Crown Entartainment to reach new heights across many
argas, We will continue to focus on improving the efficiency of bath our gaming
and non-gaming operations and ensuring thal we leverage ouwr code assets 1o drive

profitability and generate long-term valua for all our Shareholders.

Ho, Lawrence Yau Lung

Ce-Chairman and Chief Executive QOfficer
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Report of the Directors

The Directors.
¥

e pleasad o presant their report with the audited consolidated

wled D

% of aur Cg

y and our Group for

31, 21

Hong Kong Listing

Qur Shares were succassiully listed on the Man Board of the Stock Exchange on
December 7, 2011 by way of introduction. Our ADSs are listied ocn the NASDAG
Global Salect Markat under tha symbal "MPEL"

Principal Activitias
Qur Company and our Group are a developar, owner and, throu
0 Crown Gaming,
facilities focused en the Macau markat. Ows Company i a holding company
and through our principal subsidianies owns and operates City of Dreams, Altira
M s of developing Stedio City, a large
scale integrated resort compeising entertainment, refail and gaming facilities to be
daveloped in Macau. The principal actvities of our subsidiaries are set out in note
T to the consalic tatemants included in this

alor of

rtainment e

5ing  ganting and &

au and Mocha Clut

nd 1% in the proc

ed financi

il report

Financial Results

Dividends

Th: Board dos 4 i L
Deca r 31, 2011 (2010: Nil). Qur Company currenily intends 1o ret
not all, of our available funds and any futre earnings to finance the construction
and development of cur projects, to service debt and 1o ope o] expand our

el Eee Tt

Properties and Development Projects

Details of our properties and development projects are set oul in the “Managemant
Discussion and Analysis Properties and Development Projecis™ section and
4, & and 22 to the oo enis in 5 annual

il

nabes
resport.

miber 30, 2011,
woXImatedsy

mant of our Comg
dings ol our Group were &
U555.24 billion (HKS40.76 billon) on Saptember 30, 2011. Had owr Group's land

use nights and bDuildings been included in the consolidated financial statements

‘l.;j'{;';'ﬂll\l'] to the listing o
the land use rights and

v dated Nowve
i

valuation thaoy End anal

s

it haut the D g 31, 2011, a
depreciation and amortization charge of US$56.6 million would have been charged
to the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended Decambar 31,
2011,

Share Capital and Share Options

Datails of movaments in the sharg capital of our Colf::-;l"y during the yaar arg 508
gl L quity and compréhengive
income (loas) on pages 95 and 96 of this annual report. Details of movements
in share oplions of owr Company during the year are set out in note 16 to the
olidated financial 12

5 of gl

out in the consolidated atement

et included in this annual repo

Tiabrilitig antralling
al years, as axtracted from the audited
consolidated financial statemants and reclassified as appropriate, |s set out on
174 of this annual report

summary does not form part of tha

Al Statemse

f the Compan
subject 1o the provisions of our amended and restated memorandum and
Artickes of Association, the share premium account of our Company may be

s 5 provices

Annual fleport 2011 L.




Report of the Director

applied to pay distributions or dividends 1o Shareholders provided that
tollowing the date the distribulion o div 3 paid
is able to pay our debis as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The
share premium included in the additional paid-in capital of cur Company as
of Dy e 31, 2011 amounted to approximately USE2.809.9 milion (2 =
UISE2 491.0 million). Our Company recorded accomulated losses as of December
31, 2011 and 2010.

immadiately
our Campany

il % proposed o

For the d s ability of our idiaries to fransfer funds to ou
Company in the form of cash dividends, loans of advances and the impact of
such restrictions on our ability to meat our cash obligations, see note 18 to the
consolidated f al staterments included in this annual report

sion an

Donations
Tha donation made by our Group during the year amounted to USS1.7 million
Indebtedness

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of our Group as at December 31,
2011 are set cut in note 11 fo the consolidated financial statements includad in this
annual [

Mc'lDr Customers and Suppliers

promoters ang responsibla for a su antial portion of our casing revenues
Foe the y ended December 31, 2011, our 1ap five o y largest
customar were gaming promoters and accounted for approximately 23

and 6.9% of our casing revanues. respectively. We believe tha
Mg e

i85 market our

hawe strong
a solid

network of gaming promoters
assist in managing rolling chip patrons at our properties. |
gaming promoter agraaments I'o" a ona-year term that are automatically rengwad

whi help
",ch-ally enter into

i OfdrwiSe ber

tor periods of up 19 ong year unl s, Qur gi
are compeansaled thaoe ﬁh COMMISOn arangemeants which are ei |"“'

calculated
ith reference to revenwe share or monthly rolling chip volume. We also extand

interest-free credit to a significant portion of our gaming promoters which are
subject to manthly review and regular setflament procedures.

dhrwzl Proport 5111

During the year anded Decambar 31, 2011, our five largest suppliers accountad for

less th i

W% o

our total producis

and services purchased

Directors

The Directors durn up to the date of this report wena

B year and

Co-Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Mr. Lawrence Yau Lung Ho

Co-Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. James Douglas Packer

Nen-executive Directors
Mir. John Peter Ban YWang
Mr. ¥uk Man Chung

M, am Todd Misbedt

Mr. Rowen Bruce Craigee

Independent Non-executive Directors
M. James Andrew Char MacKenzie

Mr. Thomas Jaferson Wu

Mr. ¥iu Wa Alac Tsu
Mir, Robart Wason M

Pursuant to Artic any Director

until the next follow

e 104 of our Company's Articles of Association,
appointed during the y
general maeting of cur Company and shall then be eligibla for re-slection
meating. In addition, pursuant to code provision A4.2 of the Con pcrate Go
Code and C varnance Rapart :
Ruiles, all dir

shall hold

affice anly

ppointed to 6l 2
by shareholders at the first general meeting aftar their appointmeant.




one-third of the Directors for the
Dir

At each annual general meeting

shall rgting from off

time being
bé subject
tors will relire and they
h ning annual -;cﬂgral

¢ by rotation provided that ewery
to retirement al least once avery thres years, All DN
are gligible io ofler themselves for re-election at the
maing

Our Company has recalved annual confirmation from each of the independant non-
execufive Directors concami indepandence to our Company and considers
that of the independent non-exec » Directors. is spendent to our
i

| Details of Directors and Senior Management

Biograph

et

t out on pag

ive Directors has entersd into a d
gervice contract with our Company on December 18, 2006, except for Me. Jar
Andrew Charles MackKenzie, who has entered info a director sanvice co
oy on April 2

of the contracts
Director ceasas to be 8 mamber of the Board for any reason. Undar the
confracts, each independent non-executive Director will receive a fixed

¥ BCOIT

Save as disclosad above, none of the Directors has entered into a dire f Sarvice
contract with our Group (excluding coniracts expiring or detarminable by the
s wilhigal
compensgation), Mr. Ho enferad

his rode as our Chief Ex

of co

Directors' Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
As at December 31, 2011 Director and
= and

ol executive af aur Comparny in the Shi

nderlying Sha

convertible loan notes of our Company or any of its associated corporations. (within
vy of Part XV Wi SFO} which (@) w uirgd to be notified o our
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO {including interests and short pesitions which the Disector is taken or d
i nder such provisions of the SFCY; or {b) were requited, pursuant to
the SFO, 1o be & 1 i 1 s TR ed by our Company r
to therein: of [c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified fo our
Cempany and the Stock Exchange were as follows

i

i

(1! Directors' long and short positions in the Shares of our Company

fa) Directors® fong and short positions in the Shares of our Company
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g Sharas of our Co
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i

Interests in other members of our Group

N of Sh,

rry 10%: of tha total voting rights in Mialc

2006 Share Incentive Plan and 2011 Share Incentive Plan

(a)

2006 Share Incentive Plan
Pl

ot Appendix 1 and

16 o the
statements included in this annusl report for details of
I

aniive Plan,

A summary of the cutstanding awards granted under the
Plan as at Decembar 31, 2011 is presanted balow

ickal

the 2006

G Share Incantive

Exarcise price

Vasting pericd

Share Options
2008 Long Term In

2010 Leag Tarm in
2011 Long Tarm I

4 YBa'S

Restricted Shares
2008 Long Term
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Report of the Directors

Details of the movement in sh

sptions granted under tha 2006 Share Incentive Plan during

ar andad Deacernber 31, 2011 are as follk

"= g~
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Report of the Director

i Shares granted under the 2008 Share Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2011 are as follows:;

5 of the movarment in restrnich

Mumbar of restricted

tanding

as at
Decembar 31
201

Vesling data

¢ Yau Lung Hio

Sub-tatal: 241,563 2
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Numbsar of restricted Shares

Vested

during

G

ancelad
aunng

the yaar

Outstanding
CLE
Decambar 31

total:

John Pater Gen

Sub-total:

2011
2013

, 2012
23, 2013
23, 2014

ch 23, 2011

- 1,502 =
— - - 114
- 11,5 -
(11,502
- 1.5 -
1,502
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Report of the Directors

Number of restricted Shares

O

wding
as at

during Decembar 31
Narna or categ the year 2011
Thomas Jed - -

Sub-total:

James Andrew Charles MacKenzie

March 23, 2012 52 - -
March 23, 2013 252 - -
March 23, 2011 March 23, 201

Movember
Movember

Agril 1, 20
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Kumbsar of restricted Shares

Outstan

Reclassifad Wasted

during

Mame or categary of participants Vesiing date

bar 25, 2008
er 25, 2008

Sub-total:
Total

GEA00  EU0AIE T (12555

S

Rl

4,002,503
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Report of the Director

fb) 2071 Share Incentive Plan

Plaaze refer to Appendix | and note 16 i the consolidated financis
nents Included in this annual report for defalls of the 20
Plan

Mo award has been granted under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan during the
year ended December 31, 2011

Directors' Interests in Competing Business
As at December 31, 2| e of 1 iors o their respective associates had
any competing interests in any busine W competes or may competa, either
ity with the i our Co

any L

antial Interests in the Share Capital of our Co
t December 31, 2011, the follawing §
per cent or more of the isays
register required to ba kept under Section 336 of
in the Sharas or underlying Shares of our Compan

61 & )

-Orporal
share capital of our Company as recorded in the
2 SFO. Datails of the interests




doint Sponscrs
o L

Directors’' Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in nofe 16 to the conaolidated financial statements included

in this annual report, at ne 1
sil

he Directons o aoguing e

me during the year was our CC-T"‘ECI" .

hald

5 0r fallow subsidiar arty o a

QoI

o emalk its by means of the acquisition of Shar

or debentures of, our Company or any other body corporata.

Directors' Interests in Contracts of Significance
Save as disclosed below and in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

includad in this annual report, no contract of significance in relation 1o cw Group's

5 1o which our Cormpd ar any of P i or

ifg o

fellow subsidiaries, was a party and in which a Director had a matesal interast,

vhether directly or indiractly, subsisted at the and of tha year or at any time during

the year

Continuing Connected Transactions
During the year, our Group had the follos

ng continuing connectad ransactions

v are required to be disclosad in the &
g Rules

nual report of our Company under

apter 148 of the List

(a) Ferry Ticket Sales Agreement
Our Compa rrend fiox {"Ferry
Ticket Sales Agreement”) in Apal 2007 with Shun Tak-China p
Managemant Limited (“S§TCTS"). a subsidiary of Shun Tak Holdings Limited
["Shun Tak™}, isting
Aules, by virtue of being & compary in which the associates of our executive

o a

Travel

which is a connecled person as defined under the

Director are able to exercise or control the exercise of more than 50% of

the woting power at genecal meetings o contral of its board of directors,

and its subsidiaries. Pursuant 1o the F

rry Tickel Sales Agreement, our
i“Farry Ticket

iy hckats, our

Company purchased round-trip feery tickats toffrom Maca

Transactions™) for dur

-hasar of
ourt ("Discount™) on the nel selling po

slomers. AS a bulk pu

Company was grante

of each farry ticket we purchased. The Discount was determined on an arms’

length nagot d by refarance to p

ling markat

in accordance with markat o granting discounts on bulk purchases

of ferry tickats to promote STCTS's farry services. The above transactions ara

enterad into and tha Discount is given within the ordinary and usual coursa
of d arg tarm. Our Co iy @ntered
Into a Ferry Ticket Sales Agreem th STCTS on Movember 24, 2011
in relation to the Ferry Ticket Transactions for an initial term commeancing
7, 2011 to December 31, 2013, Unless

ach of the parties by giving 30 days prior

r BLigin

T

from Dece

darly benmi

i by

written notice, the Ferry Ticket

Sales Agreemeant entered into in 2011 is renawable for periods of three years

o annual price review.

Annual fleport 3011 L.




Report of the Directors

k)

The aggregate value of Ferry Ticket Transaction which took place during the

year anded Decamber 31, 2011 is within the annual cap for 2011 (which was

disclosad in the listing documeant of cur Company dated Movembar 30, 2011),

details of which are shown below

Ferry Tickot Sales
Agroemant 2.7

Annual Review of the Continuing Connected Transactions
Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, our Company has engaged
the auditor of our Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, to conduct
a review of the abowe continuing connected transactions for the year ended
December 31, 2011 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Emgagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Auwdits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information® and with reference to Practice Mote 740
“Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Heng
Kong Listing Rules® issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter to the Board in respect of the
Ferry Ticket Transactions and confirmed that for the year ended December
31,201

tham 1o believe that
xd By the

]

the continu
Board:

Annusi Feger

[2) maothing has coma to their attention that causes them to believe that
the transactions were not entered inte, in al respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions
and

mataria

(3) with respect to the aggregate amount of the confinuing connected
transactions sat out in this report, nothing has coma to thair attention
that causes them to beliave that the continuing connacted transactions
have exceeded the maximem aggregate annual value disclosed in the

sting document of our Company dated Wovember 30, 2011 made
by our Company in respect of each of the coatinuing connected
transacticns.

The Independent non-executive Directors, hawe reviewsed the

continuing connectad transactions for the year ended December 31, 20

and the letter issued by the auditor and confirmed that the continui

connected transactions have been entered into

{1) in the ordinary and uswal course of business of cur Group;

[2) edher on normal commercial 1erms o on erms no le Wworable to our

Group than tlerms available to or Inom independant third parti

3)

1% governing the transs

in the interests of the

Aot rilated party transactions
Jad in

Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in

Thé above cortinuing conngcted transactions Gow
which are set out in note 20 to the consolidated f

cial statements incl

this &

rapart, Qur

accordance with Chapter 144 of the Listing Rules.



Management Contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any

substantial part of the bu wss of our Company were antered into or existed for

e 31, 2011,

the yaar ended Dece

Related Party Transactions
s,
of business &
in this annual report

s of the n the |

rd party 1 LrSa

& sal out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements included

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of our Company's Listed Securities
During the wear ended December 31, 2011, neither cur Company nor any of

its Subgidiar

d

s had purchased, sold or redesmed amy of our Company’s

Fecunnes.

Fublic Float

Based on the information that is publicly

mlable 1o our Company and within

ules
Legal and Administrative Proceedings

In March 2010, our subsidiary Melco Grown Gaming initiated procesdings against
AMa nterm al L neder for Altira Ma
and Mz Huan Chen, an individual guarantor of Ama, to recover cutstanding
amounts owed by Ama, and in June 2010 Melco Crown Gam
In Jan
was served with a civil action complaint filed by Ama. claiming contractual breach

i ["AmaT), a fo

terminatad the

TNy promod nt with Ama

aming

of the terminated gaming promotion agreement and unfair competition at Altira
M I n July 2011 a T
reached. Pursuant to the sefilement agreaments, Ama and Ms. Chen filed requests

s and other reliet, 1w

d seeking da

to terminate all executory and incidental procesdings made against Malco Crown

Gaming and agreed to pay the selflement sum in instalimeants.

tiff, KaL Gat
LLE served a writ of surmmon:

In Qctober 2011, the pl
law firm K&L G
Future {Management Services) Limited (“Golden Future®), as one of the co-

. tha Hong Kong office of an international

against our subsidiary, Goldan

defendants among others incleding Mr. Mavin Kumar Aggarwal, a foemer partner in
KL Gates. KAL Ga M, Agy alid
funds from the plaintiti’s clent accounts, and that these amounis were received by
Gaolden Ful

-

sropriated or r

re. In March 2012, K&EL Gates served a wril of summons against Malco
L : d thy
that Malco

Crovan

from chient accounts to Melco Crown Gaming and requesting an ande
Cro

W ik

yin Gaming pay back these sums plus interest, among othar forms of relief.

15 wark with

our respective subsidianes 1o vigonously defend o

against these claims.

ancial conditi

s of operations.

Grown Melbcurne Limited, the owner of a number of “Crown” trademarks licensed

to us, is from fime to time involved in legal procesdings regarding “Crown™
tr narks in M . We unde i Welb Lirr will
continue to take vigorous measures 1o protect its irademarks. We believe we have

h Crown M

a valid right under cur frademark Bcanse agreement w Ihourne Limited

ks in Mg

to wse the Crawn rad bt ¢

0 Busing

Annual fleport 2011 L.




Report of the Director

Corporate Governance
Our Company Is committad to mal

ning a high corporate governance standard
v and protection of Shareholders’ interasts, Our
@ Corporate G

50 as to ansura bettar transparen
[ y
Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the L
Rulas for the period from the Listing Date to December 31,
oiact of i

d with the ¢ of

af

==

|\g
2011 axcept for the
i

of the roles of the Chairrr

Diractors for specific tarms

Furthar information on our Company's corporate governance practices ig set out in
the corporate governance report on pages 78 to 838 of this annual report

Emolument Policy
The employees of our Group are selected, remunerated and promaoted on the basis

of their mesit, qu d competence, The emolsments of the Directors
are decided by our Company's Comg
Company's operating results, individual performance and comparable market
wdards, Our Company has adopied the 2006 Share Incentive
Share Incentive Plan, as an incentive 1o Dirstlors and amployeas, o

MEALON COmMimi

, having regard 1o our

il of the

plans are sat out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and Appendix
I of this annual report

Pra-emptive Rights

signs for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman
of Asg
Shares on a pro-rala basis to our exsling Sharehalders.

Thara are no pro

Islands or under the Art

ion that require owr Company to offer new

dhrwsl Proport 111

Audit Committea
Cur Company has established an audit committea for the purpose of assisting the
Board in oversesing and monitor ¢

1 5 of aur Comp
the integrity of our systems of internal accounting and financial controls. Qur
Company's audit committee consists of three members, Mr. Thomas Jefferson
W, Mr, Yiu Wa Alec Tsui and Mr, MacKenzie. Mr. Jam
Andrew Charles MacKenzie is the chairman of ouwr audit committes

o thi B

Auditor
ended
ho

The consolidated financial statements of our Company for the year

Dacember 31, 2011 have been awdited by Messrs, Daloitte Touche Tohmatsw

ble, offer themsehes for

rigrtan

rf at the farthcaming

b

annual general meeting.

On bahalf of the B
Ho, Lawrence Yau Lung
Co-Chairman and Chief Exacutive Officer

Hang Kong, March 28, 2012



Corporate Governance Report

Tha Directors are pleased to present this corporate governance report for the
paried from the Listing Date to December 31, 2011,

cor
Qur Comps
standards of corporate governance practices and procedures and has adopted its
own corporate governance principles and guidelines (the “Company's Code”) 1o

The Co y
address the principles and code provisions as set out i °

ate Governs Practic

mitted 1o conduct our busir

% o

sbent with the highest

af

s S % resCanthy

the Corporate Governanc
Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Corporate Governance Code”)
ix 14 1
Company's Code were also developed by the Board taking into consideration
rnance slandards of NASDAQ. In addition, our

Company has also adopted a number

sl i App

of the applicable corporate gow

f athir pod

5 and

, divalopad

intarnally, 1o enhance our cofporate gQovennance practices and procedures.

Our Con
tor thie pefiod from the Listing Date to December 31, 2011, except for the following
daviations.

y has complisd with al sions in the Corporate Gover Code

pro

Pursuant to the code provision A4.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the roles
of chalrman and chief executive officer of a listed company should be separate and
should not be porformed by the same individ

Howavar, in view of the prosent

composition of ihe B d M, Lawres

rel, the in

ath knowledg Yau Lung Ho of

the operations of our Group and of the gaming and entertainment sector in Macau

I, his extensive business network and connections

n that sector and the

scope of operations of our Group, the Board befieves it is in the best i
y Tor Mr.

and Chial Executiv

arests of

our Cormps awrence Yau L rme the roles of Co-Ch |

Otficer at this time and that such arrangeament be subject to
by the Board from time to time

g Ho to

e

Pursuant to the code prowision Ad.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, non-
exacutive Direclors should be appeinted for specific term, subject to re-election
Owr Company | five Dire
are not appoir

€ d from 1] 1in 1

MM

ale ]

ed for specific term. They are, however, subject to retirement and

re-alection every three years, The reason for the deviation is that our Company

3 Appro
given that Direclors ought to be committed to represanting the long term interasts
of owr Shareholders and the retirement and re-election requiraments of non-
v Dirpctors Ry

e =T}

approve continuation

of non-axecutive Directors’ officas.

The Board of Direc

ra — Function and Composition

Ruole of the Board
The Dir hettir

they reasonably believe to be in the best interests of cur

" main duty is to e

judgment to act in wh
Company and our
Sharehglders. The Board advises and counsels our Company's senior managemant
and monitors
C

mana

the performance of such ment and the affairs of our

Annual feport 3011 L.




Corporate Governance Report

In addition fo i

general oversight of managem

and the affairs of cwr Company,

the Board also performs a number of specific

clions. either directly or through

its committess, including:

()] g, uating and com ating our Company's Chief Executive
Otficer and owversaeing Chéef Executive Officer succession planning;
(] o, develor

i3 elviewing

monitoring fu

bus

strategees and major conporate actions;

i4) ng M@jer ris our Company and
mitigation; and
(] aring o

the integrity of the financial statemeants, the integrity of compliance with law

Board Composition
The Board comprises ten Directors, of whom ane is an executive Director, five are

tors and the cen

sUlive

ning four

hrwzl Proport 5191

Diract

ol

Mame

ng table provides informati

were nominated by Melco and three ware

on about our Directors,

Fosition

Lawrence Yau Lung Ho

Jamas Douglas Packer
]

John Pater Ban Wa
Yk Man Chung
Wilkam Todd Misbet
Rowen Bruce Craigia
Andrew Charles
MacKenzie

Thomas Jeffarscn
Yiu Wa Alec Ts
Robert Wason Mactiar

M

The non-g

whom are independent of the management of eur Group's businesses, are hig
axperienced professionals with

unting and fi

Is a major contribution to the future development of our Company.
a strong independent element on the Board, exercise independent judgmant

engurg that r

dominates the Board's decision making processes. In addition, they
Board to maintain a b i

L it

ulive Director and the indepand

rment, Their mix of skills and bugin

e fully deb

and our Company as a whale.

Co-Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
exacutive Director

Co-~Chairman and non-executive Directar
Non-executive Deactor

Non-gxécutive Deector

HNon-executive Dector

Non-executive Diecior

Independent non

nogcutive Director

Indapandeant noa-aoe
Indap:
Inclepe

e of the Board members are related 1o one anathar.

ent non-executive Directors, all of

by
stantial exparience in areas such as legal,

bl J

They provide

and

ed and that no indiv

il or group of individ,

facilitate the

standard of financial and other mandatory reporing and




Director Independence Set out below is the attendance record of e ber of the Board at the Board

mar

All indepandent non-executive Directors have mat meetings during the year ended December 31, 2011 which illusirates the attention
for assessing independence st out in Aule 3.13 of given by the Board in overseeing our Company's affairs:
Company has réd el fram af tharm a ual written confirmal
Independence and considers each of them to be indepandent Mo, of
FTHH ‘]
Board Meetings and Directors Attendance Records attended’ Attendance
The Board meets regularly over our Company's affairs and operations. The Board held in 2011 rate
hald a total of ten meatings during the year andad December 31. 2011. The chief
officer, chigf legal off ry i i all Exgculive Direclor
Board meetings to advise on stalulory compliance, legal, accounting and financial AWTence “_' Lung Ho (Co-Chalrman) BHoe L
matters, All businesses transacted at the meetings were documented and the e e _
rdcords are mg irigd i C Al
John Peter Ben Wang ang
Yuk Man Chung a0
Williarm Todd Misbat a0
Rowen Bruce Craigia a0
Independant non-executive Directors
James Andraw Charles MacKenzie 410
Thar Parson YW a0
Yiu Wa Alec Tsul 10410
Robert Wason Mactier 10410

Annusl Report 5511 1.




Corporate Governance Report

Securities Dealings by Directors and Relevant Employees
The Directors and relevant employess are subject to the mles sat forth
s Policy for the Prevention of Insider Trading, the farms therein are no
less axacting thil Code. The L
an express Model Code compliance confirmation from the directors and that the
confirmation ba given following a specific enquiry. All Diractors have confirmed that
and ce

q our

Compi

ng Aulés ré ]

o with the Jard of deali

they

regarding securities dealings by direciors as sel out in the Meodel Code for t
paried from the Listing Date to December 31, 2011

Delegation by the Board
The Board reserves for its decision all major matters concerning our Company.

The day-to-day m ministration ign of our Compa

agerment, 3

Wl Opi ¥
delegated to the chiel executive officer and senior management of our Company.
The Beard has fermalized the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated
] i, The fur

o

Rions and mesponsibilites  del are ','ul;;_l:q,". 1o

agen

penodic meviaw.

The B

audit com

tions to three Board committess,

g and corporate

as delegated certain fu
3, the compensalion committés and the nominat

maly the

govarnance committea. Each committea has s defined scope of duties and tarms
of referance within its own charter, which empowers the committes members 1o

idke de

Each Board committes, upon reasonable request
profes

s able to saek indopendent

Audit Committes
The Board | B in 2008, with

to assist the Board in owersesing and monitoring, among others, the integrity

an audit commi

dhrwzl Proport 5071

of tha financial statements of our GC'HF}EIH" includ any ralevant lgal and

regulatory issues, the performance of the independent awditors, and the

of our systems of internal accounting and financial controls, our Company's risk

egrity

m pement process, the effectivanass of our Compan nternal audit function

pCed franss

and ary rélated party andi/or conr

In ling with Rule 3,21 of the Listing Rules, our Company's audit commitbes
¢ Mr. The
Charles MacKenzia. Mr. James

Jut an

. Wiu Wa Alec Tsul and Mr. J
Andrew Charles MacKengzie is the chairman of the audit committee,

Set out beal g the attendance record of each member of the audit committes

meatings during tha year ended December 31, 2011

Mo, of

attended’  Attendance

held in 2011 rate

James Andrew Charlas MacKenzie (chairma 11411 100%
Themas Jefferson 71 63,64 %
Yiu Alpe T 11711 100%

Other datails of the roles and funclions of the audit committee are available in the

audit committee charier, which can be found on cur Company’s website and the

Stock Exchange's wabsite

In discharging its duties, the principal work performed by the audit committes

during the year and up 1o date of this report included the following



M review of the annual | statemants of cw Group for the years endad
Decamber 31, 2010 and Decambar 21, 2011
Board |

with recommandation to the

@ inclusion within our Com,

WS annual rep

M review of the quarbery unawedited financial statements and key performance

wir G q Decembser 31, 2010, M

for t

i

31, 2011, June 30, 2011, Septembar 30, 2011 and December 31, 2011 and
provide recommendations 1o our disclosune committee for inclusion within our
Cong rrgnt,

I rafation o wship with indapan Heifies

) review and approve of the engagement letters of Messrs. Deloitte Touche

Tohmatse for audit and non-auwdit services, the nature and scope these

and ind

rigk
h r*:anagen\.g-'l_

systems of our Group, nternal audit

oag ment and independent awditors and revi

with our g

of 2002 (“S0X 404 Compliance Proegram”} and internal awdit plan;

review of internal audit reports, including the major findings and

recommendations from internal auwdit;

al audit work plan for ar 2012

reviaw

d approva

{wil} review and approval of certain related party transactions and connected

transactions carried out duw ar and conducted the annual review of

v the

with

the continued conr c

ong, togeth ¢ inddEper i

execulive Director who is not 2 member of the audit committea, as included
within this annual report; and

(ix} review of the staffing and resources of our Group's internal audit and finance

departmenits.

Compensation Committes
Owr Company has established a compensation committas in 2006, with its primary

@ tha
including by designing (in consultal
the executive and Director compensation plans, policies and
roval, M

direct involvement in

duty 1o disc of the Board relating 16 comp

and our

Our exacutives
Board) and ev.

s of

prog

to our Board for apps

al the compensation com 2 are nol prohibited from

datermining their own compensation.

The comps 1 oo compri non
namely Mr. Thomas Jeflerson Wu, Mr. Yiu Wa Alec Tsul and Mr. Robert Wason
Mactier. Me, Thomas Jeflerso w is the chairman of the compensation committes

Annusl Raport 5511 L
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Set out below is the attendance record of each member of the companss

ber 31, 2011

cammitiea meetings during the year ended Dece

No. of
maatings
ardad ndance
naid in 2011 rate

Themas Jafferson Wu (chairman)
¥iu Wa Alec Tsul
Robert Wason Mactier

slaplal: (W [ 1 be found

airtér, which

Company's wabaite and the Stock Exchangs’s wabsite.

In Aarging its duties, principal work performad By the compensation commitbes
ineludas:
] nmendations to the Board for approval in on o the grant of sk

aptions 1o paricipants under the 2006 Share Incentive Plam;

i} the s af the 2011 Shy Plan; and

(i} the compensation of executive Director and senior management and approval

af thi Same.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitiee
Our Company has
in 2008, with its p

nominatng and Conporate gows

Ca committes

5t our Board in dischas

g iM% responsibilities

dhrrwzl Proport 5011

regarding () the identification of qualified candidates to bacome members and
chairs of the Board committees and to fill any such vace

es; (i) oversight of
cular the legal
tad fo the

our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, in

and regulatory requiremants of Macau (including the relavant
siry), Hong Kong, the Cayman lslands, the SEC and NASDAQ,; (i) the

development and recommendation to our Beard of a set of corporate governance

garning ing

principles applicabde to our Company; and (iv) the disclosure, in accordance with

our relgvant palic

al any mabe

g e

quality of integrity of our financial statements), which & brought to its attention by

the disclosure committee.

The nominat g and conporate Govaernance commilles COMphnses independant non-
Directors, namaly Mr. Thomas Jaffarson Wu, Mr. ¥iu Wa Alec Tsui and Mr.

Alec Ts

Robart V

hairman of the naminating and

COrpOrale QOvBrnance Committas

Set out below is the
COrpofale governance commilles meetings during the year ended Decemiber 31,
2011:

ndance record of sach member of the nor and

Mo, of
mieeting
attended/

held in 2011

Attendance
rate

Wiu WWa Alec Tsui (chairman) 22 1
Thomas Jeffarsan Wu an 1
Robert Wason Mactier 242




Other  detail
oo vailable in the nomin,
charter, which can be found on o

s of the roles and functions of the nominating and corporate

rnance commilles ar

g and corporale goves o
Company's wabsite and the Stock Exchange's

In discharging its duties, the principal work perfermed by the nominating and
corporate governance committes during the year included the follewing:

1 considered and approved amendment of existing cofporate governanc
policies to incorporate relevant Listing Rules requiremants;

(W considered and recommended for the Board's approval a new corporate
govarnance policy 1o incorporate ralevant Listing Rules requiraments;

(w) rEvieswad the structwe, size and composition of the Board amd the Board
committaas; and

Wl assessed the independance of the independant non-axecutive Difectors.

Directors' and Auditors' Responsibilities for Accounts
The Dir
on page 85 of this annual repeet and the reporting responsibilities of the external

ors” responsibilities for preparing the financial statements are set oul
auditors are sot out on pages B9 to 90 of this annual report

Financial Reporting
The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is committed to presenting

©

T wE olders on as: et of aur

s and timealy information to the St

Company's performance, financial position and prospects.

Our Company val publishes quarterty unaudited financial results for the

three mond d Septemnber 30 and key parformance indicatorns
of owr Group for each fiscal quarter genarally 40 days atter the end of tha
relevant quarter to enable its Sharsholders, investors and public fo better

nance of our Group, Such

within

appr

& the posi

i and business pe financial

informatien is prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP using the accounting

[l
t

s intarim and annual financial staterments and
an ta IFAS

s applied o our Com)

v indar

fi o 3

Directors' Responsibilities on the Financial Statements

Thié Dirgctors 4

gyl entation of financial

bility for the pe

statements which give a true and fai

vigw of the slale of aflairs of cw Company
and our Group and the results and cash flow for each financial pariod. In preparing

the fing fatemants, the Directors o engure that appropr

b ACO

ifting
policies are adopted. The financial statements are prépared on a Going concern
basis

The Board's responsibiity to present a balanced
assessment extends 1o annual and
and other financial dis
and reports to regulators as well as to information required to

clear and und
reports, other
losures required under the Li

andabla
prica-sansitiva
Rul

imtarim

LG

pursuant to statutony requiremants.

sl D er 31, 2011 s
these wers ne material unceriainties relating to events or conditions that may cast

For tha y

significant doubt on owr Company’s ability to continue as a going concern

Annual flmport 5011 L.
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Internal Control
The Board has the owerall responsibility for ensusin
sound and affect

g our Gompany maintains
ols to safeguard the Sharsholders
timas, To fulfll this résponsibility, the Dirgc
have conducled a review of the affectiveness of the system of intarnal control of

e internal co

Inwestm

and our Company” 5 at @

our Company and our subsidiaries for the year anded Decamber 31, 2011, which
al d
the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and exparienca of staff of owr Company's accounting and financia

fim

of

conirols

and risk management functions

and

prograr This re

nd budget W
conducted by conssdering the reports and recommendation received from 1
audit commities, given its role in providing oversight of the internal contral and risk

gemant

The audit commities delivered those reports
hiskd with

d the review of work perormed and repors

and final recommendation based on
indapear
s imaved by those paries
relation to the S0X 404 Compliance Program and our Group's internal audit plan.
Rt

d

SCLIS

AT

intarmal audit &

men

audiors a

o audit corr

e section within this report for more information on the wark
P US Corpo
section for further detasts on the SOX 404 Compliance Program

| By e audit o  and he

el Poport 3091

Auditor's Remuneration
For the year ended Dwecember 31
HKS20.9 million for sar

L&

2011, our Company paid approximately

a5 prowided to us by cur auditor, Messrs, Daloitte Touche
1atsy, compriging, HKSE.2 milkon for audit Services and HES14.7 millian for
rim review of our Group's
consolidated financial statements and review of certain documents associated
with the ¢ of cur RME Bo orting a
internal control assessment assaociated with our Hong Kong ksting by |
an assurance engagemant of our continuing connected transactions, agreaed-upan

wrgs related to our pralimin

non-awdit services. Non-awdit sarvices included an int

the role of ne

v annual r e C

Communication with Shareholders

Cur Company has established a shareholders’ commuenication policy with an
aim io ensure Shareholders are provided
tion about our Com
igh our Comps

th readily, equal and timely access o
N wi Hdars
nlerim and annual

inbarr

Infarmi

B COMmimmnmac;

mamndy th

y's financial reports (guarery
ual general meatings [“AGM
aned, Our Comps

reports), anr

and other genaral meetings that may

be con will past 2

effart to make

bl all disclosures

rited o the Stock Exchange and its corparate communications and othar

-

corporate publications an the Company's wehsite. A dedicated “Investor Relations®
saclion s avadlable on owr GCompany's website. Information on our website is

ular b




Our Company regards the AGM an important ovent and Shareholders are

encouraged 1o partici
at meetings for and on their behalf it they are unable to attend the maatings.
argholders may dimect their guestions about their shareholdings fo
Company's Hong Kong regis Coer

ale in AGMs or 1o appoint proxies to attend and wole

Invasior Services

re Hong Kong

Limited, if Shares ane registered at the Company's Hong Kong reglstrar; cr (i) the
Compa

Are P@gis

y's Cayman Islands registrar, Walkers Corporate Service Limited, if Shares

wd at th s e

Shareholders’ Rights
Pu
they think fit, convens an extraordinary gener

ant to A

meeling. and extracrdinary genaral

me g5 shall also be convenad on the written requisition of any ane or mona

Shargholders, prov il that Such ridg hitld as at the

@ of deposit of
the requisition not less than 10% of the paid up capital of our Company which
carries tha right of voting at general meetings of our Company. Such member shall
r
a principal office, the head office of the registered
office of cur Company specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
req|

g or in the @

y in Hang Kang aur

Company ceases o

onists

The last Sharcholders® meeting of owr Company was an extracrdinary general
T which was held on Octobar &, 2011
, B0 Wynd
resolution

at Board Room, 38th Flogr, The
0:00
were duly passed in respect of major items, among cthers, adopting

which

Streat, Hong Kong at

(Hong Kang tir

the new amended and restated memorandum, new share incentive plan, increase

authorized sha ndate and repunch

US Corporate Governance Practices

As a NASDAC-lsted company, we are also subject 1o other ongoing reporting
obligations and requiremants imposed by the SEC and MASDAQ, such as
complianée with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ("S0X Act”), Und
404 of the SOX Act, we are required to include a management report on the
effectiveness of our imternal control cver financial reporting in our LLS. annual
reports on Form 20-F,

section

Our Company's intarnal control over financial reporting is designed to provide
b
preparation of financial statements for exiernal puwrposes in

rabie

arding the e

ty of cial reporting and the

accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of itz inherant limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of

effectivenass to future panod: re Subject to the risk that controls may bec

e

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance

with the policies or proceduras may detariorata.

O Company
internal control over financia

d the eMactive al our

Comipd

MAnAgarn

| reporting as of Decambear 3 2011, In making this
assessmant, cur Company’s management usad the framework set forth by the

Comrittes of S

Organizationg af th

GControl —Integrated Frameawork”.

Treadway Con

Ba
our Ceor

of D
ancial reporting is effective based on this

an this ass cluded that,

mpany's internal contral over
framework,

Annusl Report 5511 1.




Corporate Governance Report

The effective

ass of our Compa
of December 31, 2011, has been xd by Messrs, Deloitle
an indapendent ragistered public accounting firm,. as stated in their report wihsch

appears he

ternal control over financial reporting as

e Tohmaisu,

For and on behalf of the Board

Ho, Lawrence Yau Lung

Co-Chatrman and Chiel Executive Officar

Hang Kong, March 28, 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Deloitte
=%

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Melco Crown Entertainment
Lirnited:

Wi have a
Entert,

ing consolidated balance sheets of Melco Crown
arigs (the “Cor v &5 of December 31, 2011

and 2010, and the related consolidated stataments of operations, shareholders’
and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the years ended
weer 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, Our audits also ingly 1 financial
statements included in Schedule 1. These consolidated financlal statements and

financial statemant schedule ara the responsibility of the Company's management

e the n

Our  respo jility B 1o expre an on ik

stalements and financial statement schedule basad on cur audits.

W ¢ cted our @ r with th

of the Public Company
Accounting Owersight Board (United States). Those standards require thal we

plan and perform the audit to cbtain reasonable assurance about whether the

congolidated fing freg of material misstalenment. An audit

includes examining, on & fest basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the

counting pr

iphes u

p by

well as evaluating the ov cial statement presentation. We believe that our

audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinéon, such consolidated financial staterments present fairty,

matarial

respects, the consolidated fi on of the Co zermber 31,

£ N po
2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash
fiows for the years endad December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, in conformity with

N d in the United St

acen g af A

ca. Also,

¥ principlas ger

ally ac

in our opinion, such related financial staterments included in Schedule 1, whan

considered in relation to the basic consclidated financial statements taken as a

whala,

airty in

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Aot rd [Unibed S
financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on the criteria established in

o], the Com

vy Chear

Ul
Internal Contral — integrated Framework issued by the Comar
O
expresged an ungualified opinion on the Company's inennal control over financial

ee of Sponsoring
sl March 28, 2012

zations of the Tre

weiry Commission and our repart da

reporting

Dweloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Heong Kong

farch 28, 2012

Annual fleport 2011 LY




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Deloitte
=E)

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Melco Grown Entarfainment
Lirmited:

We have sudited the internal control over financial reporting of Melco Crown
Entertainment Limited and subsidiaries (the "Company”) as of December 31, 2011,
Based on the Criteria established in Interng Contrgl — Integraled Framdwork issudd
by the Commitiee of Sponsoring Organizations af the Treadway Commission. The
Company’s mansgemant is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
canfral o

ntarnal

MEnt's

financial reporting, included in the accompanying Manag
Annual Report on Internal Contrel over Financing Reporing. Our responsibdity is 1o
express an opinion on the Gompany’s intamal control ovar financial reporting basad
on our audnt

We conductad our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the awdit to oblain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal contrel over financial reporting was maintained in all matesia
Qur audit mcluded obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and avaluating
gn and operating effectiveness of imternal contral based on the assessed
risk, and perlorming such other procedures as we considerad necessary in the
circumatances. We believe thal our auwdit provides a reasonable bDasis for our
opinion

A company's internal conirol ove reporting is a process igned by, or
under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial
officers, or parsons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's
bBoind of dire oth
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparal
of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

to provide e

drwzl Proport 511

ncncrully’ i\f.:{!pl{'ﬂ JICCDlIﬂrIHn Principes, A CC!‘ﬂr}élﬂ'r"s nbarng CUH'.I'U' over
fingneial reporting inelu thos a5 and procedurés that (1) pertain 1o the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detad, accurataly and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
that tra are recorded mit pr
of consobdated financial statements i accordance with generally accepted
sccounting principles, and that recaipts and expenditures of the company ane
baing made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable reding prevention or tirmet
detection of unauthosized acquisition, use, of dispasition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statemants.

polic

urd

=8 of the inherant hmi 15 of intérmal contrel ower financial reporting,
including the possibdity of collusion or improper management ovennide of controls,
material misstatements due te eroer or fraud may not be prevented or detected
on a timety basis, Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the
ol ave arcial reporting 1o futune periods ang subject 1o the risk that
the cantrols may becoms inadequate bacause of changes in canditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In aur o@inion, the Company ma Tl
control owver financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, basad on the criteria
established in Internal Confrol = Integrated Framework issued by the Committes of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com

dimed, in all materidl respects, Elive inl@

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statemants
and redated financial stalaments luded in Schedula 1 as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2011 of the Company and our report dated March 28, 2012
expressed an unguakfied epinion on those consolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedula.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Cartified Public Accountants
Herng Kang

March 28, 2012




C Bal

qnceSheeh

Decembar 31 Decembaer 31,
2011 2010 2011

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT ASSETS CURRENT LIABILITIES
Cash and cash equivalenis 51,158,024 % 441923 Accounts payable (Note 9) 5 12,023
Rastrictad cash - 167 266 ad axpanses and other curent liabilities (Mote 10) 588,719
Acoounts receivable, net (Note 3) 206,500 258,521 @ tax payable 1,240
Amounts dua fram aflikated companias (Note 20(a)) 1,848 1,528 LTl o long-term debt (Mote 11) —
Amount due from a shareholder (Mote 2 [ - Amcunis due to affillated companies (Note 1,137
Income tax receivable - 198 Amounts due to shareholders (Note 20(d)) —
Invertar 15,258 14,900 ch'_aI cument liabilties. || 603,119 BT5,604
Prepaid expensas and other current assets 23,842 15,026 LONG-TERM DEBT (Mote 11) 2325080 1,521,251
Todal cu L as: 1,505,516 800,472 OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (Mote 12) 27,900 6,496
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET [Maote 4) 2,655,429 2,671,895 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Mate 15) 7o.028 18,010
GAMING SUBCONCESSIOMN, NET (Mote 5) 509,505 656,742 LOANS FROM SHAREHOLDERS [Not -
INTAMGIBLE ASSETS, MET (Mote &) 4,220 4220 LAND USE RIGHTS PAYABLE (Mota 18(c)) 55,30
GOODWILL (Mote €] 81,915 81,9158 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGEMCIES Mote 19)
LONG-TERM PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS

AND OTHER ASSETS (Mo 72,858 95,620
RESTRICTED CASH [Mote 11 364,807
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS | 24 25
DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS 42,738 45367
LAMD USE RIGHTS, MET iMote £} 842,968 428,155
TOTAL 56,260,930 $4.884.440

Annusl Report 5511 L.




nslid cce Sheets

December 31,
2011 2010

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Ordinary st it USE0,.01 par
[Authormzed — 7,300,000,
sharas as of Decamber 31, 2011 and 2010

1,653,101.002 and

8,111 shares as of Dec

and
1,60

and 2010, respactively (Note 5 $ 16,056
s, at USS0.01 par value per share
o 8,409, 18 of
2011 and 2010, respectvaly (Note 14)) [10&)
itional paid-in capi 3223274
11,034)
(282,5100
sharaholders” aquity 2,856,155 2,523,1M

Moncontralling interests
Total equity

TOTAL § 6.260,980
MET CURRENT ASSETS § 002397
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES £ 5,666,881 54208836

The accompanying notes aré an

rf of the consolidated

statarments.
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Statements of Operations

Year Ended Decembar 31

Waar

2011

OPERATING REVEMUES

an

OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES

BEFORE INCOME TAX
AX CREDIT (EXPENSE)

OPERATING IMCOME (LOSS)

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO

0 CROWHN EMTERTAINMENT

413

{113,806)

4310

347
(14,2038

(89500
(25.,193)
{157.902)
287,208

204 656

Annusl Raport 5511 L
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Year Ended Decembar 31,

2011 2010

Consolidated Statements of Operations

2009

NET INCOME {LOSS) ATTRIEUTABLE
-RDWH ENTERTAINMENT

184§ 0.007) 5

0.210

{
§ 0082 § 0007 §

0.210)

AGE SHARES USED IN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ENT LIMITED

1.616,B54,682 158

Thes BCCOMpr
stataments.

drwzl Ploport 511

ng notes are an intégral part of the consolidate




Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and

Annusl Report 5511 L




Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and
Comprehensive Income (Loss)

" Shy
=
& & MdpsE & % 380
i 11
e C]
¥ 2855
N VALK ]
- o4
)
§ 5 &
P mpa

The accompanying notas are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

tind sl Ploport 2011




ear Ended

201

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

December 31,
2010 2009

201

Ended Decamber 31,

2010

ome (loas) %

ZBB 844

Adjustments to reconcila nat income

350,862
14,203
X e 1,142

Amartization of defermed financing costs
1ol diede

ST

Amartization of discount an seniar
notes payabla 723

Loss on d

araperty and

37,803
25,153

oif e

ad compensation B.624
05ses of wst rate SWap
agreements from accumulated
other comprehensimg losses 4,310

5

Change iin fair value of interest rate
swap agreaments
Changes in operaling assets and liabiities:
HAccounis recatvabla
Amounts due fram a
ncome ax receivable
nverionss
IPirey enpenses and oiher curmant
assets
Long-lerm prapayment, deposis
and other assats
Dedered fax asssts
Accounis payable
Accrued expensas and othar
current liabditiss
ncoma tax payabls
3,137 Amounts due 1o affilated companies
Amounts due 1o sharsholders
rm liabdities

abed companies

313,065

12,302

Ac
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of subsidianes
Changes in restricted cash
Acquisitio roparty and eguipment
Payment for land use right
Depaosit acquisitan of proparty and
aguipment
Paymen entertainment praduction costs
Proceads from sale of proparty and equipment
Refund of depos
land inerast

1,892 =

6,043 11,385

(3,947 %

(59, 741)
318y
265

[268)

Annusl Report 5511 1




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Yaar Ended D

2011

camber 31,

2009

sh provided by
EFFECT OF FOREIGH EXCHANGE ON
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

MET INCREASE (DECREASE] IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END

OF YEAR $ 1158024

dhrrwsl Bloport 5111

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF
CASH FLOWS

Cash paid for inerest (net of capitalized

¢ current llabilities

noed through

se5 and other cument

Prowisaon of bamus funded thiough

rastricted sharas issued and vested

5

'

wing cests funded thraugh

-

(111,656) &
B27 $

14,630

85,183

240

w oo

o

o

The accompanying notes are an

MEments,

consolidated

financial




COMPANY INFORMATION

Melco Crown Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
tha Gayman Islands on December 17, 2004 and completed an inftial public
offer of its ordinary sharas n the Unitéd States of Ame in Decambar
2006. Tha CCII"-"EIEJ-)'S Amarican depositony shares (*ADE") are traded on
the HASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbaol "MPEL". On Decembaer
7. 2011, the Company completed a dual primary listing in the Hong Kong
Special Admenigirative Region of the People’'s Republic of China (“Hong
Kong™) and listed its ordinary shares on the Main Board of The Stock

d ("SEHK") by way of introdu

Exchange of Hong Kong Lin , under the
stock code of “SBB3". The addresses of the registered office and principal

place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate infermation

siction 1o the

il report,

The Company together wi subsidiaries (colectively referred to as the

“Group”) is developer, owner and, throwgh its indirect subsidiary, Melco
Crown Gaming [Ma ted (“Melco Crown Gaming™), operator of ca
gaming and entertainment resort facilities focused on the Macau Spacial

NG

Administrative Region of the Peopla's Republic of China ("Macau”) market

The Group cun City of Dréams — an inlegrated
resort development which apened in Juna 2009, Taipa Square Casino which
opened in Juna 2008, Altira Macau (formerly known as Crown Macau) — a
casing and hotel resort which openad in May 2007, and Mocha Clubs — non-
casino-pased operations of electromsc gaming machines which have been
in oparation since Saptember 2003, The Group also holds Studio City — an
integrated resor priertainment, retail and gaming facil

developad in Macau.

s o be

TS

Ag of Dec
are Melco International Development Limited (*Melco®), a company ksted in
Hong Kong, and Crown Limited {“Crown

arghalders of the Co

mber 31, 2011 and 2010, the major

}. an Australian-listed corporation

2

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

i Beicands of LS. dolnn, axcept Shise s

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

)

fe)

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consalidation

The consalidated fnancial statements have baén prapared in o

farrmily
with accounting principles generally accapted in the United States of
Amerca (LS. GAAPT) and includes applicable disclosures required
by the Aules Governing the Listing of Securities on SEHK [the “Listing

Fules”) and by the Hong Kong Gompanies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial include the accounts of

the Company and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounis and
transacticns have been eliminated on consolidation

T

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial staternents in conformity with
U5, GAAP requires mi

that af

wment 9 make estimates and assuemplions

st cerfain reporied amounts of assets and liabalities,

and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assats and
liabdlities. These estimates and judgements are based on hisforical
information, informatan | @ 1 the Group and on

At s currently avadlat

various other assumptions that the Group believes to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Accordingly, actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be pived to sell the

or pald to fransfer a labdlity (Le. the “exit pri an orderly transaction

between market participants at the measurernent date. The Group

estimated the fair v and

% using appropriate valuation methodolo

markel information available as of the balance sheat date.

Annusl Report 5511 L.




Notes o Consolidated Financial Statements

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

(d)

(e}

]

Cash and Cash Egiivalents

and d

of ¢
and highly liguid investments which are unrestnicted a3 10 wilhdrava
and use,

and which have maturities of three months or less when

Cash and cash equivalents ara placed with financial institutions with
high-cri

Restricted Cash
Thip ¢
bank accounts restricted for repayment of the Group's senior secured

iched «

partian af st ]

1 CONS

cradit facility (the “City of Dveams Project Facility”) and payment of

City of Dreams peo; @ with the City of 5
ad cash répresents
& "AMEB Bonds®)
el

Loan™) as disclosad in

Project Facility. The non-
RMB2 300,000,000 3
procesds oo
deposit-linkad loan facdity [the “Deposit-Linke

srrent portion of res

bonds, due 2013

osted into a account for sacuring a long

Mote ¥

Accounts Receivable and Credit Risk

nstruments that are potentially subject the Group 1o
concantrations of cradit risk consist principally of casing receivables
d
customers following invesiigations of creditworthness including its

Financ

The Group msues credit in the form of markers to appe

i1+

gaming promoters in Macau which receivable can be offset against

Commissions able and any other v

s held by the Group 1o
h the Group intends to set-off

the respective cusiomer and for wh

drwzal Proport 5111

fg)

whan required, As of Decernber 31, 2011 and 2010, a substantial portion
of the Grou
countries. Business of econDmes conditions, the
s in fonal

markers were due fram customers residing in forgign

egal anforceakbility
n countnes could
and gaming

of gaming dabts, or other significant e
|
promaters residing in these couniries,

affect the col lity of receivabl

:lud
spically nen-interest bearing and are initially recorded at cost. Accounts

e, i R, and othes

are written off when management deems it is probable the receivabile is
Hibde, Re [+

when received. An astimated allowance for doubtful debts is mai

unGoll s of Acoo

aughy writben off

1o reduce the Group's receivables to their camying amounts,
Tha allo

ir val

APPraXin

review o customer

Bir 31,
2011 and 2010, no significan! concentrations of credit risk existad for
which an alowance had not already baan reconded.

as of Dec

Inventories
nvantories consist of retall merchandise, food and beverage items
atesd at the lower of cost or

and ain operating supplies, w

wilated

marks gi-in, first nid

average

specific identification methods. Write downs of potentially obsolete or

slow=movyi nventory are recorded based on management’s specific




SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

Praperty and Equipmant

Prog

el are al e

fty

4 equip
depreciaticn. Impairment losses and gains of lossas on dspositions of

4, whila

Mg b e of the Group®

g

gaming and entertainment resort facil rect and incremental

costs related 1o the design and constr

1he

. including costs under

it

i tein,

shipping costs, payroll and payroll-benelit e

l1ed COSls, depiaciation
of plant and eguipment used, applicable portions of interest and
f
and equipment, The capitalization of such costs beging when ihe

armorti f

zed in property

construction and development of a project starts and ceases once

tha construction is subs

ally completed or d

suspended for mans than 4 el pansd.

Depreciation and amaortization expensa

italized

construction costs and other properly and equipment is recognized
from the time each asset s placed i service. This may occur at
different stages as casing gaming and entertainmant resort facilities are

d and opened,

Property and equipment and other long-lived

are depreciated and amortize

assat's estimated usaful life. Estima

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

assats with a finite useful

on a sin 3 over the

tad useful lives are as follows

Estimated Usabul Lile

§ to 25 years or over the term

of the lan

right ag
whichever is shorter

2 10 10 years

310 5 years

10y
whichever is shorter

5 years

Annusl Raport 5511 1.




Notes t

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

(i

Capitalization of Interest and Amortization of Deferred
Financing Costs

Interest and amortization of deferred financing costs inc
wsed to construct the Group's casing gaming and ente
fi
subject to capitalization prima

ed on funds

ainment resort

during thae tion pariod are

rily includes interest paid or payable on
;oans from shareholders. the City of Dreams Project Fac narast
. 2600,000 10.25% 2018 it
the Deposii-Linked Loan and the
amanded on June 30, 2011

SWAD B

ler nol

“Senior Motes”), the RME Bonds
City of Dwearms Project Facility
Criadit

The capitalization of i

detarmed

Cing COSls ceases Once a progect is substantially complete

is suspended for more than a brief pericd.

wapment

The amount 1o be alize datermined b 1ppl W waighited

Averdge Nl

ate of the Group's oulstanding borrowings to the

average amount of accumulated capital expenditures for assets under

is added fo the cost of the

construction during tha ye

dertying

ful Fves. Tatal

nd amartized aver thair s
axpenses. incumed amounted o $116,963, $105,180 and 582
of which $3,157. $11.823 and 550,488 wy
ended Decermber 31, 2011
amortizaticn of deferred financeng costs of nil, ni

capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2011,

respactively.

a%s brve: ud

e capitalized for the years

2010 and 2009, respaectively. Additionally,
and $4
2010 and 2009,

4 were

dhrwzl Ploport 5111

o Consolidated Financial Statements

i

ki

Gaming Subconcession, Net

The gaming subconcession (s capitalized based on the fair value of the
gaming subconcession agreament as of tha date of acquisition of Melco
ming in 2006,
over the term of agreement which is due to explre in June 2022,

irtized using Ethod

Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair walue
ntangible net assats of any businass

of tangibla and identifiabla

will is

excess of the camying amount ovar the mphed fair

ble 215 othaer than _l|r_:q;dv.'.ll amortized owar their

lives unle their lives ane d e 1o be indefinite in which

cage

thay ara not amorlized.

ntangible assets are camied at cost, lass

ted amortization. The Group’s finite-lived in la asset

ACCUT

consists af the

S3413 ang

iing subconcession. Finite-lved intangibhe

amartized cwvar the shorter of their contractual terms or estimated useful

lives. The Group's intangible asse th indafinite lives represant Mocha

Clubs trademarks, which are te

for impairment on ar

of wihen circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the intangibla

assats may not be recovarabla




2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

i

{m)

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (Other Than Goodwill)
This Group ¢
Iwes whenever avents or changes in circumstances indicate that the
not e recoverable. Recoverabilit
isan of tha

le5 the recoverability of lor | with finite

carrying amount of an asset may

bar held and o

amount of an asset to the estimated undscounted fulure cash flows
axpacted to be generated by the assat. If the carrying amount of an
R

1 flo

s irrpairmaent

iz recognized in the amouwnt by which the carrying amount of the asset

axceeds its fair valua. During the year ended December 31, 2008, an

@d 1o write off

ming
equipment dua to the reconfiguration of the casing at Altira Macau

o me

the evolving demands of gaming patrons and target specific
Segmants, an ] 10 52,855 was rec
1o write off the construction in progress carried out al the Macau

mour

an irmpairmant o

Peninsula site foll

ng termination of the ralated acquisition agresmant.

These impairment losses wera included in “Property Charges and
Othars™ in the consoldated GLER LT S,
Deferred Financing Costs

Wl imGremental surnesd in obbain M3 Bk Or 1f SOk ]

with the issuance of long-term debt ase capitallzed and amartized
ovar the terms of the rolated debt agreemants using the affective
interast method, Approxir y 514,203, 214,302 and S10,3BE were
amortized during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008,
respectively, of which a portion was capitalized as mentioned in Note
21}

)

fel

Land Use Rights, Net
Land use rights are recorded at cost less accumulated amor

NN,

Ameartization is provided over the estimated lsase term of the land on a

o an
arrangement exists, the service is provided or the retall goods are sold,

peices ara fived or determinable and collection is reasonably assured

Casino revenues are measured by the aggregate net difference between

gaming wins and losses less accruals for the anticipated payouts of

rized for f

5, with liabilises

et
by customers belone gaming play occurs and for chips in the customers’

ot |

POESEEEI0N.

glasit

The Group lollows the acoounting 51 for réporting révenue gross
85 a principal versus net as an agent, when accounting for operations of
Tai

of Taipa Square Casing, given

a Square Casing and Grand Hyatt Macaw hotal. For the operat 5

the Group operates the casing under
a right to use agreemant with the cwner of the casino premises and
has full responsibility for the casino operations in accordance with

on, it is the principal and
nized on a gross basis. For the operations of Grand Hy,
and tha hotel

SN0

Macau hateal, the Group is the owner of the hatel propart

3 manag eemant providing

management services fo the Group, and the Group receives all rewards

and takes svbstantial risks associated h the hoted business, it is the

principal and the trg zed on a

ctions of the ¢ therafore recogn

gross basis,

Annusl Raport 5511 L




Note

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

(a)

Revenue

(continued)
Rooms, food and beverage, entertainment, retall and other revenues
ara recognized parformed. Advance deposits on

e ded as HTHES

Recagnition and Promolional Allewances

nd a

unlil services are provided 1o the customer. Minimum operating and
right to wse fee, adjusted for contractual base fea and operating fee
Li: 1 ded in end tlap reta angd other revenu

and are recognized on a siraighi-line basis over the tarms of the related
agreament.

Revenues are recognized nel of cerfain sales incentives which are
raquired to be recorded as a reduction of revenw the
Gy

points earmed in customer |oyally programs,

; consequantly,

5 Cca racdheced by di ks

O rEvenues

o and

L

ve player's club
oyalty program.

dhrrwzal Proport 5071

S o Consolidated Financial Statements

e}

Tha retail value of rooms, food and beverage, entertainmant, reta
ncluded in gross
revenues and then deducted as promotional allowances. The estimated
cost of providing such promotional allowances for the years ended
Dece 2011, 2010 and 2009 is I

food and beverage costs, entertainment, retall and other ser

and

other services furmnished to guests without charge is

dl from roe

cosisg,

ices costs

and is included in casino expenses as follows:

r Ended December 31

2010 2009
Rooms $ 12696 5 10395 § GTTE
Food and be 28,653 27,870 17,296
Entertainment, ratail and
othars 6,510 \ 3448
] BSG 5 43810 § a75al

Point-loyalty Programs
The Group opsers

1es diffarent loyalty programs in cartain of its properties
1o encourage repeat business from |oyal skot machine customers and

patrons, Members

b
and servicas. The Group accrues for loyalty program points expecied to

el

d for tree play and other ire

and for loyalty prog

1 pdint
free goods and services as casing expense. The accruals are based on

exf

managema

ts estimates and assumptions regarding the redemption

g and history with exp

i P rasulting in

reduction of the accruals.




2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q)

{rl

(s)

it

Gaming Tax
The Group is subject 1o taxes based on gross gaming revenus in Macau.
Thesa gaméng taxes ane determined from an assessment of the Group's

itern in the
$1,948,652, $1,362,007 and 5737 485 for the years ended December
3, 2011, 2010 and 2009, raspactivaly.

Pre-opening Costs
Pre-opening co

% and other

con:

primarily of marketing exp
axpanses related to new or start-up operations and are expensed as
incurred. The Group incurred pre-opening cosis in connection with
Studso City since its scquisition by the Group in July 2011 as disclosad
1 Mate and City of Dreams prior 1o ils , and
toir
Stedio City
acilities and operations

2

paning in Juna 2

[ i

g portion of City of

Dirgams d other ane-off act

ties related to

e miarkating

of new

Adverfising Expenses

Thes Group @p«

all achvrtising o

imcurrad during deve
Once a project is completed, advartising costs ara mainly included
in general and administrative expenses. Total advertising costs were
$31,556, 545,267 and 529,018 for the years ended Decernber 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009, r

lopmant pariods are included in pré-ope

shivedy.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations

All transactions in curencies other than functional currencies of the
Company during the year are remeasured at the ewchange rates
v M

respaclive trans and

prevailing on

liabalities. existing at the balance shest date denominated in currencies
other than functional cwwencies are remeasured at the exchange
rates existing cn that date. Exchange differances are recorded in the

consolidatad statements of aperations.

Tha functional curran of the Compa NS
are the United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars or the Macau
Patacas, respectively. All assets and liabikties are translated at the

rates of exchanga prevailng wee shest date and all income

its major

w

1 the Dl

and expense iems are tr i at the

age ra of exchange

slation

ovir the year, All exchange differences arsing from the tras

of subsidiaries' financial statements are recorded as a component of
comprahansiva {loss) incoma

Share-based Compensation Expenses
] 4
incantive plan during tha years ended Decembar 31,
2009

el restricted

s

The Group iss

arg oplid

The Group o ures the cost of

p for

- 2 ! ¢ iy ¥ i tha g
date fair value of the award and recognizes that cost over the service
pericd. Compensation s attributed to the periods of associated
service and such expensa & being recognized on a siralght-line basss

o

the westing penod of the awards. Forfeitures are sstimated at

tha time of grant, with Such abisd perics

y and with
actual forfeitures recognized currently to the extent they differ from the

estimate.
Further information on  the Grouwp's share-Dased compansation
arrar N 16,

Annual fmport 2011 L.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

[

Ineome Tax
This Gro
States of Amenica and other jurisdictions where it operates.

to incorme taxes in Hong Koo

is Sul

Deferred incos taxes ed for all

04

Orary

differences between the tax basis of assels and labilities and their
raported amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferad

ri nic,

tax &

valuation allowance when, in the opinion

of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the

deferrad tax assels will not be realized. Tha components of the defemad

tanx vl lihilifies assified as current and non

ari individually
current based on the charactenstics of the underlying assets and
abilities. Cument income laxes are provided for in accordance with the

the rédevant taxing authori

The Group's income fax returns are subject to examination by tax

uithortias in tha | it

whara it operates. The Group @

BE585

outcomes of such examinations d on

entially unigvora

accounting standards for uncerain income taxes. These accounting

standards utilize a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring

i or

lax pe I Fal 5 10 eval
recagnitson by detarmining if the ght of available evidence indicates
t is mora likely than not that the position will be sestained on awdit,
i q ufion of related appe itany. T

second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which

udi

Ation procas:

5 more than 50% likely, based sclely on the technical merits, of being

sustaingd on examinalions

drwzl Ploport 5111

Net ircome (Toss) attributable to the Company per share

Basic net income (loss) attribuiable to the Company per share is
calculated by dividing the net income {loss) attributable to the Company
ber of ord

by tha wi
the year

Brage n

Diluted net income (lossh attributable to the Co
calculated by dividing the net income | e G
oy the weighted-average number of ordinary shares cutstanding
ally dilutive effect of outstanding share

adjusted to include the paten

d awards

Tha weighted-average number of ordinary and ordinary equivale
sl
aftributable 1o the Company per share consisted of the following

used in the ation of and diluted net income |

Year

apm P

2008

& rrumber of

shares outstanding

used in the calculation of basic
-]

1,604,213,324 1,595,552,022 1.465974,00
ares from

shares and share oplions g
the treasury shock mathod

e rumber of
tanding used
[ LT
ncome (loss) attributaiile fo
Company per sharg

12,641,358 - -

1,616,054,682 1,505, 560,022 1.4




2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES [continuad)

(w)

(x)

Net income (loss) attributable fo the Company per share
(comtinued)

During the year ended December 31, 2011, 5, & outstanding share
options as at December 31, 2011 were excleded from the computation
to the Co

of di ik

Y pear st

effect would have been a
3, 2010 and 2008, the Company had securities which would potantially
elilute

-dilutive. During the years ended December

gt b

i le 1o the Company

but which were excluded from the compy an af diluied net loss

e as their effect would have bean

ibutable to the Company per sl

riched shargs

anfi=dilutive, Such oul st of

curities coe

and ghare oplions which resull in an incremental weighted-average

number of 9,377,509 and 13,931,088 ordinary shares from the asswmed

conversion'exarcise of

5ing
the fre

2008, respaciivedy.

sury stock method for the years ended December 31, 2010 and

Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Group uses derivative financial instrumants such as floating-
for-ficed interast rate sw

ap agreaments and forward exchange rate

A it risks

AME Bonds. The Group 2 sial instrum

in accordance wilth applicable

ounts for ¢ it
accouniing siandards. All dervative
imstruments ar mecognized in the consolidated financial statements

in fair

fair valpe

1 tha

balance sheet date, Any ch

7]

on whethar the da

Tvating

prehansive losses, dependi

is designated and qualifies for he
transaction and the affectiveness of the hadge. The estimated tair values
p agreaments and fo rd exchanga rate contracts

:1g futura

& accounting, the type of hedge

of interast rate

are based ona sh flows

and discounts those fulure cash fiows to a present value using market-
based observable inputs such as inferest rate yields and market forward

Further information on the Group's outstanding financial instruments

ATar rib o tr; and inl 1 Fd

swap agreements as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 are included in
Mote 11 and Mote 12, respectively

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses
Accumulated other comprehensive losses represent foreign curmency

tmaent and in the vilug of i ard

g

acts and interest rate swap agreaments. On June
¢ of Dreams Project F

agros

exchangs rate con
30, 2011, the Group amended tha Ci
and 1k

by

W

rate swap agreemenis no longer
qualified for hedge accounting immediately after the amendment of the
prihar infarmation on the amendment of

et i N

City of Dreams Project Facili
the City of D

1% Project F

Annual feport 2011 L.




SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

7]

{z)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses (continued)
As of D ¢ 31, 2011 and 2010,
comprehensive losses consisted of the follow

reiulated ot

December 31,

2011 20$o
Forelgn cumency translation adjustmeant 5 1,073 $ (B2d)
Change in the fair value of tha forward
te ¢ 39 -
Change in the fair value of interest rate
SWaD agresmants = (10.421)

$ (11,345

Recent Changes in Accounting Standards
In May 2011, the Financial Asc ard (“FASE")
ssued guidance regarding fair walue measurement amendments

ing Stan

1o align the principles for fair valpe measurements and the
U5, GAAP 3
Reporting Standards (“IFRST). The FASE also clarified existing fair value

disclos A Irite

measurament and disclosure requirements, and expanded disclo

Fiar il

prospective basis for the Group on January 1, 2012 and is not expectad
to have a material impact on the Group's financial position, results of

operations anc flows.

dhrwsl Proport 5111

n June 2011, the FASB

re paquirements concarming comprehensive incoma, most

shengive inco 1 with

b pire

net income in a continuous statement, or in a saparate but consacutive
statement. Furthesmore, the accounting standards update prohibits

an entity from g ing other comprihern
a siatement of changes in equity. In December 2011, the FASE lssued
an accounting standards update to defer the requirement that was
2011
tions b

ncoma or loss. This accounting standards update (as

W iNG

in

ally included in i dabe for an

tween other comprehensive incomes

y to prasent reclassific

or loss and net

modifiad il

or the Group on Janug

¥
1, 2012, and will result in changes 1o the presentation of comprehensive
nat incoma in tha Growp's consolidated financial statemants, but will

¢ o affect on the Group’s fin

| pasifion, results of o

and cash flows.,

n Septermber 2011, the FASE
related to goodwill

counting ge

rment testing. The amended guidance parmilts
an entity to first assess gualitative factors before calculating the falr

ue of a reporting unit in the annual two-step quantitative goodwill

impairmant test required under

e AcCo

g standards. If it is
detarmined that it is maore likely than not that the fair value of a reporting

wit needed, The
y 1, 2012 and
not expectad to have a material impact on the Group's financial position,

wnit is not less 1 arrying walue, further testing

ar ol g iy oo the Groug on Jant

rasults of operations and cash flows.




2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

(z)

Components of accounts recalvable, net ane as follows:
Recent Changes in Accounting Standards (continued)

D st 2011, the FASE 3 Decembar 31,
related o disclosures about offsetbing assets and liabilities. The 2011 2010
amendments require that a company disclose information about

al Casino § 385888 § 2034976

of ] and related arrangements 1o
statements to understand the eflect of those arrangements on its 3,691
financial pesition. The amendments enhance curent disclosures f 3,688
by requiring improved information about  fin instry s and Sub-tota 33275 0§
Less: allowanca Tor doubiful debls (86, 7 F5) (41,490

dernivative instruments that are either (i) oH=et in accordance with curment

g o
subject to an enforceable master n 3 SUBE00 S 259,52

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and , tha Group
btful dabts of $36,871. §32.241 and $16,114 and
d S643, re

ctively,

for the Group on January 1, 2013, t0 have a materia act an the

cash flows, as its

Ll ST .
§ Movement of allowance for doubtful dabis are as follows:
requiremants are disclosura-cnly in natuna

Yaar Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2

At beginning of year % 41480 5 24227 § B3
36,871 2,241 16,114

(14,978} —

recaivablas, net

At end of year

Annusl Raport 5511 L




Notes

w

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET |continuad)

The Group grants unsacured credit lines to gaming promoters based on
pré-approved credit limits. The Group typically issuwes markers 1o gaming
promeders with a cradil period of 30 days. Thene ard somé gami
for whom credit s granted on a revolving basis based on tha Group's monthly
credit risk assassment of such gaming promaters. Credit lines granted to al

gaming promaters

CHTIalErs

o Subj

t 10 month Y MW and setilerment Prolaciungs,
For other approved casino customers, the Group typécally allows a credi
period of 14 days to 28 days on issuance of markers fo

of creditworthir

g investigations
ally 9 ¢

offered to casino customers with lange gaming losses and established credi

5, An ectended n

meEnd ferm of fyp

s may be

history. The following is an analysis of accounts receivable by age presentad

based on wend due date, net of alowance

December 31
2011 2010
Currisnt & 220,141 & 158,615
1-30 days 41,571 32,305
31-60 days 3,344 8.783
81-80 days 2,573 11,8981
Ower 90 days 38,871 49,837
S 306500 § 259.51

ezl Poport 3091

to Consolidated Financial Statements

4.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, MET

December 31

2011 2010

Cost

Buildings

S$2430117 32439425

Furniture, fixtures and equipmeant 403,577 381,231
Plant and gaming machinery 147,084 131,104
Leasahold improvarments 179,089 147,530
Mator vehicles 4,273 4,309
Sub-tatal $3,173140 $3,103,599
Less: accumulated depreciation [730,313) {4B1,040)
Sub-total 52442827 $2.622552
Construction in progress: 212 602 49,336
Propery and edguiprment, net 52655429 12671895

As of Decernber 31, 2011 and 2010,
City of Dreams included interest d or payat
the City of Dreams Project Facility and intersst rate swap agreements,
weing costs and other direct incidental costs

n o

d wages
to &7

5

profi |
respeciively,

As of December 31, 2011, construction in progress in redation to Studio
paid or g the AMEB Bong
apitalized (reprasen insurance, salarnas and wageas and
certain other professional charges incurred) which amounted to $15,628

City incluced ir

oiher dirgct

incid

xd December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, additions
E st amounted to $236.555, $119,6680 and S828,7T36,
respectively and disposals of property and equipment at carrying amount
were 3655, $207 and £5,279, respactively.

L]

During the ya

and equipn




o

GAMING SUBCOMNCESSION, NET

§ 900,000 £ 900,000
. .|'.'!4er,.£.9:'|:| (243,258)
§ 599505 § 656,742

Doamed cost
L
Gaming subconc

i amortization

ACCUT

assion, nat

The deamsd cost was dal
gaming subcx

The gaming subconcession is amortized on a sira

ined based on d tair value of 1he

& astimal

cession contributed by a sharsholder of the Company in 2006,

ght-line basis over the

iR

termm of the gan
The Group expects that amortization of the gaming subconcession will be
approximately $57.237 each year from 2012 through 2021, and approxmately
$27.135 in 2022,

1 agreement which expings in June 2022,

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Goodwill relating to Mocha Cl ts with indefinile

vl ather intangible

uszeful lves, representing trademarks of Mocha Clubs, are not amortized.
Goodwill and intangible asseis arcse from the acguisition of Mocha Slot
Group Li i 21

oy thie G

To assess potential impairment of goodwill,

the Group performs an
nits at b

t af the ¢ alug of the report 51 O

T

basis or when events occur of circumstances change that would more likely

than not reduce tha estimated fair value of thosa reporting units below thair

At Bxt nir value,

carmy i, I the canry ludr of & repa

the Group would perlorm the second step in its assessment process and
record an impairment loss to earings to tha extent tha camrying amount of the
reporting unit’s goodwill excesds its implied fair value, The Group estimates
lue of those reporting wnils through internal analyses an

the fa d extermnal

ions, which utiliza income and market valuation approaches through

the appication of capilaized earnings, discounted d
comparable methods. Thesa valuation techniques are based on a number of
estimates and assumptions, including the projected fulure oper
of the reporting unif, discount rates, lo

comparable.

L

ating results

arm growth rates and

marks of Mg
when evenis occur or circumstances change that would more

fed Por impairment at

ually or

wely tham not
reduce the estimated fair value of frademarks below its carrying value using
thod, Linder 1

the the

thod, the Group estimal

fair value of the trademarks through internal and external valuations, mainky

based on the incremental after-tax cash )

w represanting the royalties that

v from P vy it i thee Swrsir of the tr

ks,

the Group i rgl

These valualion techneguas based on a number of astmates and

assumptions, including the projected future revenues of the trademarks

v appropraté royvalty rate a ong-tanm

with

ates,

The Group has performed gocdwill and
trademarks in accordance with the accounting standards regarding goodwill
and other intangible assets. No impairment loss has been recognised during

the years ended Decambar 31, 2001, 2010 and 2

Annual fimport 2011 L.




Notes

LONG-TERM PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER ASSETS
Long-term prepayment, deposits and other asssts consisted of the following:

December 31,

to Consolidated Financial Statements

2011 2010

Entertainment production costs § 6855 § G69.483
Lass: accumulated amortization i9,141) (2,283)
Entertainmant production costs, net 5 5412 & 66,200
sit and other 11,143 12,085

el 2,303 17,344

el b

55 72858 § 95620

Entertainment production  costs represent the amount  incurred and
capitalized for tha entartainment show in City of Dreams. which commencad
nee in September 2010, The Group e
entertainment production costs will be approximately 56,855 each year from
2012 through 2019, and approximataly $4,572 in 2020

parfonm % that amortization of

Long-tarm receivables, net, represent casino receivables from casino
customers where settlemant is not expected within the next year. Aging of
such balances ane all over 90 days and include alowance for doubtful debts
of 56,564 and $14,978 as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
ring the year ended Decembar 31, 2011, long-term receivables, nat,

amounting to $17,344 includin

comaspond,ng allowance for cdoubiful debts

of 39,697 wera reclassiied 1o curment, and curmén! accounts recenvable, net

amounting to §2.3 vance for doubtful debts of

$1.283 were reclassified to non-current. Reclassifications to current accounts

II'\._-I.;dlﬂg coffaspondeng alk

recaivable, net, aré made when condilions Suppor that it s probable for

settlemeant of such balances to oocur within ona year

ezl Poport 3091

LAND USE RIGHTS, NET

Decembar 31

2011 2010
Altira Macau Madium-term loase Taipa Land™) 5§ 141,543 £ 141,543
City of Dreams — Meadi @ ]
["Cotai Land®) 376,122 are 122
Studie City = Medium-term lease
[“Studio City Land™) B45 079
T 1,086,744 517,665
L accurmulated amortization _I'1?1,??ﬁ:- (B9,

5 P42.968 § 428,155

Land usa rights, net

Land

righis recorded at cost less accumulated amorization,
Amdortization is provided over the estimated lease tesm of the land on a
straight-line basis, The expiry dates of the leases of the land use rights
of Alira Macau, City of Dras vl Studio City are March 2031, Augusi
2033 and October 2026, respectively. The land use right of Studio City was

acquired upen acquisition of assets and liabilities as disclosed in Mote 22

In Movember 2008, Melco Crown (CODY Developments Limited (“Melco
Crown [COD) Developmenis”), an indirect subsidiary of the Company, and
Melco Crown Gaming acc

pted in principle the initial terms for the revision
of the land lease agreement from the Macau Government and recognized
additional land premium of $32,118 payabla to the Macau Governmant for

tha incre s divle

ol g loas anga of Cotai Land in Macay, wine

the City of Dreams site is located. In March 2010, Melco Crown (COD)
Developments and Mealco Gro

ri

n Gaming accepted the final tarms for the

on of the

¢ paid tha additic

jare
the Macau Government. The land grant amendment process was completed
on Septembar 18, 2010.




ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
The tollowing ks an aged analysis of accounts payable presented based on

paymant due data:

December 31

2011 2010

Within 30 days 8551 % 8,431
31-60 days 755 319
61-80 days 1,196 37
Ovar 90 days 83
8,860

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT

LIABILITIES
Decembar 31

2011

Consiruction costs payable

Customer depesits and ticket sales

Gaming tax -

Interast axpanses payable

Interast rate swap liabilities

Land use right g i

Operating expense and other accruals

Cther gaming related accruals

Outstand .

Paya
liabdlities (Mote

g chips and tokens

i of s|

13316 $

42 832
169,576
12,180
363
15,960
100,161
19,643
187,978

26,710
5BB,719 %

462,064

LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consisted of the fallowing:

December 31,

2011 2010
City of Dreams Project Facility 5 = £1,131805
2011 Cradit Facilitias 1,014,729
Senior Notes 502,443
RAME Bonds —
Daposit-Linked Loan
1,724,248

Currant pocton of Igng=tarm debl

(202,997)

EZE_:!.'.:.UHU 51,521,251
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LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

City of Dreams Project Facility

On Sept gt 5, 2007, Melco Crown Gaming (the “Borrow
the City of Dreams Project Facility with certain lenders in the aggregate
amaount of §1,750.000 to fund the City of Dreams project. The City of Dreams
ity y $1.500,000 ty [ Ti
ity”) and a $250,000 revolving credit facility (the “Fevolving Credit
The Term Loan Facility would have matured on September 5,

[ihe =5

il indo

Lo

to qu duled

rly amortizal

Amortization Payments”) commencing on December 5, 2010. The Revehing
Credit Facility

date aof rag it

ould have matured on Septamber 5, 2012 or, if earlier, the

payment or cancellation in full of the Term Lo

Facility, and had no inferim amortization payments. In addition to the
Scheduled Amorization Payments, the Borrower was also subject to quarterly

mandatory prépayments (the “Mandatory Prepaymen v respect of the
following armounts within certain subsidiaries of the Borrower {togather with
the Borrower collectively refermad to as the “Borrowing Group®) including bt
nat limited to: ) 50% of the net proceeds of any permitted equity issuance

of any member of the Borrowing Group: (i) the nét poods

o any asset

sales; (i) net termination proceeds pald under the Bomowar's sUBCONCAsSI0N

and carfain contracts or agreaman (v cartain net proceeds or liquidatad

85 1o obfain 3

damages paid; (W) insw
proceeds; and (v excass cash as defined under a leverage test.

Of proceeds nel of expe

Drawdowns on the Term Loan Facility w

subject to satisfaction of
ty of Dreams Project Facility
nelueding registration of the land concession and execution of

conditions precedent specified in the
agraemant,

construction contracts, compliance with affirm;

, negative and fin

covenants and the provision of cerificates from technical consultants. The

onsolidated Financial Statements

Ravolving Credit Facility was to be made available on a fully revelving b

fram the date upon which the Term Loan Facility had been fully drawn, 1o the
data that was one manth prior to tha Revolving Cradit Facikty's final maturity
data

The indebtedness under the City of Dreams Project Facliity was guaranteed
g Group, Security for the City of Dreams Project Facility
and wherg Allira M
City of Dreams are located which are held by subsidiaries of the Company

by the Borro

included: a first-paiority r au and

(such mortgages also cover all present and any future buildings oo, and

fintures to, i and). an it of any land use rights under

land concession agreements, leases or equivalent; changes over the bank
accounts in respect of the Borowing Group, subject to certain exceptions;

armient of th urance policigs: first prior

urity

ower the chattels wables and other assets of the Bormowing Group which
are not subject to any sacurity under any other secunty cocumantation; first
priarity
equipmant and tools ugad in the gaming busingss by the Borrowing Group, as
well a5 other cusiomarny security.

rgas over the iad share capital of the Borrowing Gro and

n affirmative

The City of Dreams Project Facility agreament comained o
and negative covenants customary for such financings. Including, but
net limited to, limitations on incurring additional 5 "

tain  irmve:

additional

3, making

indebtedness (including guara

is, paying
dividends and other restricted payments, creating any subsidiaries and selling
assets
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LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

City of Dreams Project Facility (continued)
The City of Dvean
comply with certain financial covenants, including, but not limited to:

ing Group 1o

solic xoeed 4,50 to 1,00 for the

reporting periods ending December 31, 2010, March 31, 2011 and June
30, 2011, cannot excesd 4.00 to 1.00 for tha reporting pariods ending
& raber 30, 2011, D a1, 2011 Pl ai, 22,
cannot exceed 3.75 to 1.00 for the reporing periods ending June 30,
2012 onwards;

- a consolid

imerest cover ratio, which must be greater than or equal
o 2.50 to 1.00 for the reporiing periods ending December 31, 2010 and
BMarch 31, 2011 to 3,00 to 1.00 for
the reparting penods ending June 30, 2011 onwards; and

@r 1

must ba

1 0r @g

L a consoli ad ca covar ratio, w

1 1.05 W

must be greater than or equal

1.00 for the reporting peric ending December 31, 2010

onwards.
In addiion, thens were provisions thal Bmited or prohibite rrEnts of
caertain dividends and other distributions by the Borrowing Group o the
Company. As of Decembaer 31, 2010, the net assets of the Borrowing Group
¢ £1.553,000
terms of the ity of Dreams Project Facility.

of

approxier

L i

pcd from being distributed under the

In May 2010, the Borrower gntered inta

m@ndmignt iI';:.!iH!I'IlI‘I'\l 10 the Cll'J'
of Dreams Project Facility (the “Amendment Agreement”). The Amendment
Agreement, ameng other things, () amended the date of the first covenant

test date to De

al flexibility to the

b provided adc

¢ obligation but retained the right to

enter
Arrangam

interast rate or foreign currancy swaps or other hadging
and (i) restricted the use of the net proceeds received from
r Notes of approximataly 5577,

the issuance of the Sen 066 to re

of certain amounts outstanding under the City of Dreams Project Facility,
including prepaying the Term Loan Facility in an amount of $283.7
f 150,352, with the rer

net proceeds in an amount of $133,000 deposited in a bank account that

the Revelving Crédit Facilty in an am

was restricted for use to pay fulure Sche
1cing D yar 2010
of the Fevolving Credit Facility of $100,000.

ed Amortization Payments

oor

:ton

will a5 provid

g bar a p

Borre

&f D
Offered Fate |
Otfered Rate (“HIBOR™) plus a margin of 2.
complation of the City of Dreams projec
reduced 1o LIBOR or HIBOR plus a margin of 2.
Draams Project Facility also provided for further reductions in tha marg
the Bomowing Group s n prescribed e

Prey
LIBOR") or Hong Kong Imarbank

inbgngst

the London I

% par annum until substantial

interest rate w
0% per annum. The City of

i

g ratio tests upon

ware placed by the Borrowar
s the 250,000 latter it
provided to support the contingent equity commitment by the major

v May

S0y

areholders of the Compy weng to De released

upon rligr Subject to
lender detarmination that the full amount was not required to meet remalning
costs) and compliance with other release conditions under the City of Dreams
Praject F

Annusl Report 5511 L.
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otes to Consolidated Financial Statements

LONG-TERM DEBT (continuad)

City of Dreams Project Facility (continued)

Thix Borraower hisd ne draw down on the Term Loan Facility and Revelving
Credit Facllity dur ng the year endad December 31, 2010. Dunng the year
anded December 31, 2009, the Borrower drew down a total of $70.951,
which included 512,685 and HK3453,312,004 |
the Term Loan Factity and a total of $188,740, which included 532,468 and
HKE1,301,364.572 (equivalent to $167.2T1), on the Revolving Cradit Facility,
clivaly,

quivalent to $58,266) on

The Borrower was obligated to pay a commitment fee gquarterly in arrears
an the vndrawn amount of the City of Degarms Project Facility throughoat
the availability period. Loan commitment fees on the City of Dreams Project
Facility amownting to $461 and 52253 were recognized during the years
ended Decermber 31, 2011 and 20089, respec

y. During the year ended

o

December 31, 2010, the Bomower réc zed a loan commitment fee

g with

cradit amownt of $3,811, which include a commitmant fee of 5814 and a
raversal of accrual not required of 54,625

i compliance with all covenants of the City of Dreams Prgject Facility
Decamber 31, 2010

ezl Poport 3091

In addition to the prepayment of the Term Loan Faciity and Revolving
Credit Facility in May 2010 in i Agreamant
as describad above, during the years ended Dacember 31, 20711 and 2010,
the Borrower further repaid $89,158 and 535,683 and prepaid $20.896 and
S71.643 of ording to the Scheduled Amortization
Payments and the Mandatory Prepaymenis, respectively. During the year
ended December 31, 2011, the Borrower also made voluntary repayments
of §7,022 befone 1he
described balow.

accordance with the A

the Term Loan Facility,

urnendment to the City of Dréams Project Facility as

2011 Credit Facilities

On June 30, 2011, the City of Dreams. Project Facility was further amended
pursuant to an amendment agresmant entered into among the Borrower and
City of Dve Pri ty on Jung 22, 2011
The 2011 Credit Facilities, among other things: () reduce the Tesm Loan
1.440,000 (equivalant to $802,241) (the “2011 Term Loan
tha R ty 1o HKS3,120,720,000

Facility to HKS6,2

Facility™) and incrods ing Criedit Faci

(eqguivalent 1o $401,121) (the “2011 Revalving Gredit Facility™), of which both

are denominated in Hong Kong Dedlars: (i) introduce new lendars and ramaove

rider thi Ci

of Dreams Project Faci i extend

lurity date; (iv) reduce and remove o clions

Imposed by the covenants in the City of Dreams Proje and (v}
remove MPEL {Delaware) LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Borrowar,

fram the Borrowing Group

“2011 Borrowing Group™).



LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

2011 Credit Facilities (continued)

; s of the 2011 Cradit 30, 2018, The
2011 Term Loan Facilty will be repesd in quarterly nstaimants according to
an amortization schadule commancing on Saptember 30, 2013. Each lsan
fer the 2011 Rew g Credit F
last day of an agreed upon interest period in respect of the lcan, generally
ranging from ona to sic months, or rolling over subject to compliance with
1c3

G June

ty will be repaid in full o

of cor

s precedent, The Borrower
may make voluniary prepayments in respact of the 2011 Credit Facilities in a
minimum amount of HKS160,000,000 {squivalent to $30,566), plus the amownt

licable break ¢

Barros

a5 e} Iy

the 2011
the net proceeds receivaed

prepayment réjuirements in nespeact ol various amounts withan
Borrowing Group, including but not Bmited to
by any rmes pr of the 2011 Bormowing Growp in respect of the compul
tranaler, seizuré o acquisition b

¥
my governmental autharity of the assats

of any member of the 2011 Borrowing Group {subject to certain exceptions);

(i) the net proceads of any as sale, strent rights and
& af $15,000: [iij net tesmination, claim
or sattlement proceeds pald under the Borrower's subCconcession or the

2011 Borro

bject to rain

=

in @xcaplionsg, which ang in éx

ng Group's land concessions, subject to certain exceptions;

L

o obtain such proc

Proce

23 net of expe
the property insurances relating 1o the total loss of all or substantially all of
tha Altira Macau gaming business; and {v) other insurance proceeds net of
subg
reinvestment rights and certaln exceptions, which are in excess of $15.000.

i under

[hrel]

s to obtain such proceeds under

¢ propérty ing

The indebl under the 2011 Cre

nbegd by the

2011 Borrowing Group. Sacurity for the 2011 Credit Facilities remains the

same as under the City of Dreams Project Facility (although the terms of the
associated ¢ the
2011 Credit Facilities) except for securities related to MPEL (Delawara) LLG,

which have been relaased,

The 2011 Credit Facilities also contain affirmative and negative covenants

customary for financings of this type,

2011 Bosrgwing Groaup m

vith an additional covenant that the

s foor the co

[al=3}

b0 ARy COnlng iction
or financing of an additional hotel fower in connection with the development
of City of Dreams except in accordance with plans approved by the lenders

with the terms of the 2011 Credit F

es remove the financial covenants under the City of Deeams Propact
Facility, and raplace them with,

hout limitation:

. a leverage ratio, which cannot exceed 3.00 1o 1.00 for the reporting
pericds ending September 30, 2011, December 31, 2011, March 31,
2012, June 30, 2012, Seplember 30, 2012, Decamber 31, 2012, March
31, 2013 and June 30, 2013 and cannot excead 2.50 to 1.00 for the
reporting peniods ending September 30, 2013 onwards

ch cannot exceed 4.

. tofal leverage ratio, w to 1.00 for the reporting
perieds ending September 30, 2011, December 31. 2011, March 31,
2012, June 30, 2012, September 30, 2012, December 31, 2012, March
31, 2013 and June 30, 2013 and d 4.00 o 1.00 for the
reporting periods ending Septembber 30, 2013 onwards; and

ol K

fica, wihi o egqual to 4,00 10 1.00
for the reporting periods ending September 30, 2011 onwards.

¥ gréshber

Annual fimport 2011 L.




Notes

LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

2071 Credit Facilities (continued)
Tr M Prowis
other distributions by the 2011 Borrowing Group to the Company of parsons
who are not members of the 2011 Borrowing Group (described in further
below under “D8 As of [ rmber 31, 2011, r
net assets of the 2011 Borrowing Group of approwmately $1,896.000 was
rastricted from being distributed undar the terms of tha 2011 Cradit Facilities.

of divi e

wt ar probibat

g

ticn of Profi

Borrowings under the 2011 Credit Facilities bear interest at HIBOR plus a

margin ranging from 1 é to 2.75% per annum as adjusted in sccordance
2011 Borrow

may salect an interast period for borrowings under the 2011 Ceedit Facilities

with th @ ratho in Growp, Thi Bormower

of cne, two, three or six months or any other agreed period. The Borrower is

obligated to pay a commitment fed qu priy in arrears from June 30, 2011

on the undrawn amount of the 2011 Rev

ng Credit Facility throughout
the availability period. Loan commitmeant fee an the 2011 Gredit Facilities
amounting to 5950 was recognized during the year ended December 37,
2011,

Azl Poport 3091

to Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group accounted for the amendman e City of Dreams Proje

1 extinguishment of debt bec le future o
under the 2011 Credit Facikties are more than 10% different from the
plicable future cash flows under the City of Dreams Project Facility as of

the a

LS e

a

=]

endment date, Juna 30, 2011, The Group wrote off the unamaortized

deferred finencing costs of $25,193 upon the extingulshment of the City of
Draarms Project Facility as loss on extinguishment of debt in the consolidated
died Decernber 31, 2011 and the 2011

Credit Facilities was recognized af fair value upon the extinguishment. In

4

staternenis of op i Tor the ydar e

addition, the Group capitalized the third party fee and related issvance costs
in relation to the 2011 Crédit Facilities of $29,328 as deterred financing o

As of December 31, 2011, the 2011 Term Loan Facility has bean fully
drawn down and HEKS1 853154 570 (@
2011 Fevolving Credit Facility has also bDeen diawn down, resulting in

ent 1o $212,488) under ftF
total owtstanding bomowings relating to the 2011 Credit Facilities of
HKST,894.594 570 [equivalant ta $1.014,723). Man s the
Group was in compliance with all covenants of the 2011 Credit Facilities as of
December 31, 2011. As of Decambar 31, 2011, HKE1,467 565,430 {equivalent
to $188.633) of the 2011 Revoling Credit Facility remains a
draw down.

gamant ba

lable for futune




LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Senior Notes

On May 17, 2010, MCE Finance Limited "MCE F
MPEL Holdings Limited) msuwed and ksted the Senior Motes on the Official List
of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-5T"). The purchase
98.671%
Senior Motes are general obligations of MCE Finance, rank equally

rly Khown

aunt, Tha
right
of payment to all existing and future senior indebtedness of MCE Finance
i rank %

paid by the i

Al pur

) ardd fut

indebtedness of MCE Finance. The Senior Notes are efectively subordinated
to all of MCE Finance's existing and future secured indebledness to the

axtent of the w af the such debl, Th and

MPEL Imternational Limited (together, the “Senicr Guarantors™), fully and
unconditionally and jointly and severally guaranteed the Senbor Notes on a
red Basis, Carl diaries of MCE Finance,
including Melco Crown Gaming (together with the Semor Guasan

1 othar indirect

"Guarantors®), fully and uncondit

alty and jointly and sevarally guara

tha Sanior Notes on a senior subord

sCunad b

the 2011 Credit Facilities, the guarantees provided under the Senior N
weane amended with tha principal effect baing that claims of noteholdars under
tha Senior Notes against subsidiaries of MCE Finance that are obligors undear
the 2011 Cradit F:
lenders under the 2011 Gredit Facilities. The Sendor Notes mature an May 15,
2018. Interest on the Senior Notes is accread at a rate of 10.25% per annum
on May 15 and November 15 aof each

5 of

1% will rank equally in right of payment with clai

and s px

wally in arn

year, commencing an Movember 15, 2010

ha net proceeds from the offering after deduc

d tely 7,974 and underwriting co

aunt of apy
expenses of approximately $14.960 was approximately $577.066. The
Group used the net proceeds from the offering to reduce the indebtednass

Fa aly 444,066 and
deposited the remaining $133,000 in a bank account that was restriciad for

feb

under the City of Dre s P

ility by approxim

use to pay futue City of Dreams Project Facility Scheduled Amortization
ke 2010, The
the amendment of the City of Dreams Project Fac

=11}
on June 30, 2011 as
r Nofes have been reflected net of discount under

Payrr i i pan

(=113

encing De

descnibed abos

balance she

At any time after May 15, 2014, 2015 and 2016 and tharaaftar, MCE Financ
all of VP
105.12 and 100.000%, respectively, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, additional amounts and liquidated damages. if any, to the redamption

wf

Sanicr MNote

§ Or at the redermpli

dale

Prior to May 15, 2014, MCE Finance may redeam all or part of tha Senior
Motes at the redempii
APRIE
accreed and unpaid interest, additional amounts and liquidated damages, if
any, o the redemption date

n price set forth in the related prospectus plus the

make-whole”™ premium described in the related prospectus plus

Annual feport 3011 L.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

N thoumands of ULS, collirs, o

shne dany

LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Senior Notes (continued)

Prige to May 15, 2013, MCE Finance may redéam up 1o 35% of the principal
amount of the Sendor Motes with the net cash procesds from one or more
cartain equity offerings at the redemption price of 110.25% of the principal
armount of the Senior No

., plus accrued and unpaid interest, additional
amounts and ligusdated damages. if any, 1o the redemption date. In addition,
subject to certain exceptions and as more fully daescribed in the relatad
ram the Senior Notes in whole, but r

prospeciug, MCE Financ i in

part, at a price equal to 100% of their principal amount plus accrued interast
and unpaid intarest, additional ameunts and liguidated damages, if any, to the
date fixed by MCE Finance for redamption, it MCE Finance or any Gud
would become obligated to pay cerain additional amounts as a result of

cartain changes in withholding tax laws or certain other circumstances. MCE
F

nce may alio redeem the Senior Motes if the gaming authority of any
sdiction in which the Company, MCE Finance or any of their respective

ju
subsidiaries conducts or proposes to conduct gaming requines holders or
beneficial owners of the Senior Motes o be licensed, qualified or found
suitable under applicable garming laws and such holder o Denelicial owner,
as the case may be, fails to apply or becomes licansed or qualified within the
required period or is found unsuitable

The indenture governing the Senlor Wotes containg cenain covenants that,
subject to certain exceplions and conditions, limit the ability of MCE Finance

its resiicted subsidiares’ ability to, among other things: [ incur or

guaraniee additional indebtedness; (i) make specified restricted payments;
{iii} issue or sell capital stock; (W) sell assets; (v) create lens; (vi) enter into

agreements that restrict the restricted subsidi

" ability 1o pay dividends,

fransfer assets or make intercompany loans; (viij enter into transactions

with shareholders or affiliates; and {vidl) effect a consolidation or menger, As
of December 31, 2011, MCE Finance was
financial restrictions and requirameants.

v compliance with each of the

MCE Finance has ente nio a registration rights agreament whenaby MCE

Finance has registered the notes to be issued in an exchange offer for the
Sanior Notes with the LLS, Securities and Exchange Commission in August
2010 and with further amendments filed in October and MNovernber 2010
in connection with the exchange offer, which registration statement was
affactive on Novemnber 12, 2010

The Group capitalized the underwriting fee and related issuance costs in
relation to the Senior Notes of $14,585 as defarred financing costs

RMB Bonds
On May 9, 2011, the Company issued and listed the RMB Bonds of
AMB2,300,000,000 (equivalent to S353,2TB based on exchangs rate on
trangaction date) on SGEX-ST. The RME Bonds were pricaed at par. The AMB
Bonds are direct, ganaral, wnconditional, wnsubordinated and unsacurad
obligations of the Com

anvy, which will at all times rank ecqually without

any preference or priofity ameong themselves and at least equally with all
of the Company's cther presant and future wnsecured and unsubordinated
obligations, save for such obligations as may be preferred by provisions of

law thatl are both mandatory and of general application. The RMEB Bonds

matwe on May 2, 2013 and the interest on the AME Bonds ks accrued at a
rate of 3.75% per annum and is payable semi-annually in amears on May 9

and November © of gach year, commencing on November 9, 2011,



1.

LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

RMB Bonds (continued)
Al 9, 2012, the Cor

alglgls 1l ount 1 thar witk L ink ] pvant § /]
as a result of any change in the laws of the Cayman Islands or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having po
(= r in the app or ¢
after May 9, 2011,

be required 1o pay additiona

ver to fax, or any

or regy
Company g

sfies the trustee that the Company has or
ounis in respect of the RMB Bonds and

LI vila bl

1o the Company; i) il at any time the gaming autharnty of any jursdiction in
which the Company and its subsidiaries conducts or proposes to conduct

gaming requires 1 a holder ar benefici of the

RMB Bonds be licensed, qualiied or found suitable under applicable gaming

ow

laws and such holder or beneficial cwner, as the case may be. fails to apply

or bacomes licensed or qualified within the required period or is found

unsuitable, or i) if immediately Dafore giving such , &% least 90% in

principal amount of the RME Bonds originally issued, including any further
bonds

redearmed, of purs

uad prior 1o the time of the notice, has aleady been previously

sl and cancelled,

The indenture gowverning the RMB Bonds contains certain negative pledge

and financial ce abe or
permit to subsis! any sacu
Company's present or future ur
any re inclebbed

1 g that the Comps
arest upon the whole or any part of tha

dertaking, assets or revenues 1o secura

5, prow y Shall not cr

of relevan stedness withoul:

aran 1 in

or gus

(i) at the same time or prior therete securing the AME Bonds equally and
th to the satisfaction of the trustee under the AMB Bonds;
curity for the BMEB Bonds
in its absolute discration consider 1o be not materially lese beneficial to the

rateably then

or (i} pedovick the brustee may

interests of the holders of the AMB Bonds or as may be approved by an
the Comg

slution af bondhold

¥ s
required to comply with certain financial cowenants, including maintaining a
rth not to be less than $1,000.000 and

pd 2,5001,00,

specified consalidated tangible nat

o not B0 éxc

laverage

The Company capitalized the underwriting fee and related issuance costs
to the AMB Bonds of S6813 as da
Manggement beleves the Company was

the RMEB Bonds as of Decembar 31, 2011,

ed financ

n compliance with all covenants of

Annusl Report 5511 1.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Deposit-Linked Loan
On May 20, 2011, the Company «
lander In an amount of HK$2,748

1  Loan il &
0,000 {equivalent to $353,278 based on
aschange rate on transaction date) ch was sacured by a deposit in an
armount of RMEZ 300,000,000 (eoq 1t to $353. 278 based on exchang
rate on transaction date) from the proceeds of the RME Bonds as described
above. The Deposit-Linked Loan matures on May 20, 2013 or, if earlier, at any
r with 30 days” pricr notice

r ¢ May prepay
any part of not less than HKE500,000,000 (equivalent to $64,267)
of the Deposit-Linked Loan outstanding. The Deposit-Linked Lecan bears
n at a rate of 2. 88% per &

the whole or

1and is payabhy £

L iII'|I'|IIil||}' nArmgars
on May B and Movember 8 of each year, commencing on Mowermber 8, 2011,
On the sama date, the Company entered into two AMB forward exchange rate
jate amount of RMBESZ,325,000 {approximately $8,000)
for settlement of the AMB Bonds st payable on Movember 9, 2011 af
a rate of RMB1T:HKS1.2096 and May 9, 2012 at a rate of AMB1:HKS1. 2187,
Duwring the year andad Decembar 31, 2011, ona of the AMB forwand contracts
9, 2011 and a3 af D¢ 31, 2011, the
walue of the remaining forward exchange rate contract of 37 was recorded as

forward exchange rate contract receivable and included in prepaid expenses

and other current assels,

The Company capstalized the undal ting fee and related issuance Cosls in
relation to the Deposit-Linked Loan of S800 a

red fina

of December 31, 2011, the AMB Bonds proceeds held as a security deposit
of AMB2. 200,000,000 jequivalent to 5364807, required 1o be sel aside for

the duration of this debt were recorded as non-current resiricte sh in the

consolidated balance gheals,

Total interest on long-term dabt consisted of the following:

Ended Decermber 31

2010 2009
Inbarest for City of Dreams Project
Fagility” $ 13280 § 39157 § 50824
Intarast for 2011 Cradit Facilitias® 13,731 - -
Intarast for Senior Notes™ 61,500 38,438
Amaortization of digcount in
connection with ssuanca of
Senior Notes® T23 417
Intergst for AMB Bonds 8,647 -
Interast for Depdsit-Linked Loan® 6,300 = =
$ 104170 § TEMM2 $ 50824
Interest capitalized (Mote 2(i) (3,157} (11,823) {37,374)
$ 10,013 & 66189 § 13,450

Long-1anms cebt rapayable within Sve yean

During the years endad December 31.
J4 Borrow

aw

rabes were 6.71%

¥,

Approximale

annum, resgpect
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LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Scheduled maturities of the long-term debt as of December 31, 2011 are as
.
ollo

Yaar ending December 31,

2012 % -
203 B8 444
2014 286,717
2015 256,717
2016 372,936
Chver 2016 583,166

$2.325.980

The long-tarm debt are repayable as follows:

Decambar 31,

2011 2010
Within one year or on demand § = § 202997
one yaar, but not excesd B46 444 294,383

5 BB6, 3T 634 425
583,166 3 3
£ 2325080 % 1.724248

Maore than five years ©

Less: Amounis due within one year shown
uwnder current liabilities - (202,997
§ 2325880 $ 1.521.251

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

December 31,

2011 2010
Interast rate swap liabilities 5 - 5 2,278
D rent liat 4,799 4,037
Oiher deposits re 196 181
Payables for acquisition of assets and llabdties
(Mote 22) 22,90

$ 27000 5

In connection with the signing of the City of Dreams Project Facility in
Septamibe

Melco Crown Gaming entered into floating-for-fixed intarest
rate swap agreaments to limit its expesure to ir

arest rate risk, Eight and six
interest rate swap agreements enterad in 2007 and 2008 were expired during
the ya fad D g 31, 2010 and 2011, res e Crown
iaming also entered into ancther three intarest rate swap agreemants in 2009

activaly.

that will expire in February 2012, Under the
o Crown G
4% per annum of tha notional amount, and recaives vanable interest
vhich is based on the applicable HIBOR for each of the
of Decermber 31, 2011 and 2010, the notional amounis

terast rale swap agreements,

W [ a figed

221 raté rang

Interest rale swap agreements amounted to 5127692
respectively

Annusl Raport 5511 1.
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¢ SPne Clt

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (contimuead)
As of December 31, 2010 and before the amendment of the Gity of Dreams
Project Facility on June 30, 2011 as disclosad in Mote 11

ntarast

thase

WD BQreEments w ily @k
imerast rate and qualify for cash flow hedge accounting. Therafore, there was
no impact on the consofidated statements of operations from changes in the

fair value of the hedging in
ware recorded as assets or kabilities on the consolidated balance sheets,

with an offsetting adjestment o the accumulated other comprehansive losses

G wWire in the o
statements of operations. As of December 31, 2010, the Group estimated that

nterast rate swaps would have

riscognized

$9,752 of the net unrealized losses on the

into

bein reclassified from accumulated other comprabi riling

axpenses over the next bwehie modihs.

wndmaent of the City of Dreams Project Facility on

Immadia
June 30, 2011 as disclosed in Mote 11, the inleres! rate swap agreements
no longer qualified for hedge accounting. Accordingly, the Group reclassifiad
the accumulated losses of 34,310 recognized ted  other
eomprahansive 1035as prior to the discontinuance of hadge accounting 10 the

ly after tha 2

N accum

consolidated statemants of oparations. Any subsequent changes. in fair value
of the
statements of oparations,

ntarast rate swap agreameants will ba recognized in the consolidated

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the fair values of interest rate swap
agréaments were recorded as interest rate swap Rabilities, of which 3363 and
$3,143 were included in accrued expenses and other current lakbdlities, and nil
and $2.278 wene included in other long-term liakilities, respactively.

drwzl Proport 111

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The canying walues of the Group's financial nstruments, including cash and
cash equivalents, restncled cash, accounts raceivable, other currant assats,
long-term deposits, long-tesm receivables, amounts due from {to} affiliated
companies and shareholders, accounts payable, other cument liabilities, the
2011 Crédet Facilities, tr
use rights payable, interast rate swap agreements, forward exchange rate
contract and debt instruments approximate thedr fair values, excapt for the
Sanior Notes and the RMB Bonds. The esiimated fair value, based on quoted
rarkat prce, of the Semor Notes was approamately $651,630 and $623,750
15 of Decembar 31, 2011 and 2010 b y, and of the RMB Bonds
was approximately $352,079 as of December 31, 2011. As of Decembaer 31,
2011 and 2010, the Group did not have any non-financial assets or liabilities
that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the consolidated financial
The Groups F d liaki
2 been categonzed Dased upon the fair value in accordance with
the accounting standards. The following fair value hierarchy table presants
Iinformation about the Growp's financial assets and liabdities measured at falr
value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2011 and 2010:

Deposit-Linked Loan, 1oans fro areholders, land

relid @1 fair

Signiscant
Unabservabie
Inpists
[Level 1 Lewed 2] [Leved 3
Formand axchange rale
co recaivabie
December 31, 3011 § - § T § - § T
[nfaresr e Seap fahiities
Dy ar 31, 2011 § - § 36 % - § 353
December 31, 2010 § 1] 0421 8 5 10421




13.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMEMNTS (continued)

Authoritative literature prowides a fair value hierarchy., which prioritizes the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value inta three broad
lenvels, The
entirety falls is based upon the lowest level of input that s significant to the
fair value maasurement as follows:

| in the higrarchy within which the fair value enl in its

- Level 1
instruments traded in ac

— inputs are based upen unadjusted quaoted prices for identical
& markets.

. Level 2 — inpuls are based wpon quoted prices for similar instruments

markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments. in
W

n the market of can be

In aciive

markets that are not active and model-based valuation te

i

which all signfficant assumplions ane obserdable
coroborated by observable markst data for substantially the full term of

pts or |

the ass tigs.

* Lavel 3 — inputs are generally unobservable and typically raflect

timates of assumptions that m

manage! B85 kat participants:

would uSsa in pricing the or liability. The fair v wrg tharelone

detarmined wsing model-based technigues that include oplion pricing

modals, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques

The fair value of these inlerest rate swap agreements and forward exchangse

rate contract approximates the amounts the Group would pay if these
da r

E d at paclive val value is

estimated based on a standard valuation model that projects futuee cash

ra cash floy

flows and discounts those ful s 1o a present value using market-

market foreard

based observable such 3% ind

rate yields and

nput
exchange rates. Since significant observable inputs are used in the valuation

medal, the

rate

arral

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On M 1, 2009, the Company
22 ,000 ADSs, representing a total of 135,000 0
aggregate, to the public in a follow-on offering with net proceads after

gsued 67,500,000 ordinary sha

ordinary shares in

[

fbed 1o 3174417,

G B

On August
ng 128,155,335 ord

18, 2008, the Company issued an additional 42 718,445 ADSs,
rEpr a fu
on offering with net proceeds after deducting the offering expenses which
amounted to $208,112,

ther follcw-

Ay ares, 10 the pu

Fursuant 1o the Company's extraordinary general meating hald on Oclober 6,

2011, an incraasa in the authorized share capital from 2,500,000,000 ordinary
v

af LIS30.01 « 000,000 o
value of US$0.01 each was approved.

R T,

On Nowember 28, 2011, the Co il of 40,211,930 ond

oan conversion as disclosed in

shares to Melco and Crown for shareholders”
Mote 20(c).

1 with the Com
, 310,575, 1.:
sed during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008,

as disg

gral

,110 ordinary shares were vested

Annusl Report 5511 1
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ot of ULS. ool

CAPITAL STRUCTURE [continued)
386, 8,785,641 and 2674 706 ordinary shares

The Company issued 6,920

uance to em

o its depository bank for 5 upen their future vesting

ricted Sl et

of opticns during the years ¢
Decembar 31, 2011, 2000 and 2009 respactively. 941648, 43,737 and
2,528,319 of these ordinary shares have been issued 1o employess upon
3,835,506, B04,285 and nd of ¢ Y
shares have been issued fo employees upon exercise of share oplions during
the years endad December 31, 2001, 2070 and 2009, respective
f 10,552,328, 8,400,188 and 471,567 ardinary shi srtirge 1o b
held by tha Company for

2008, respactively.

L JCH

3 of sh ardi

e igsuance as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and

As of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2004, the Comparny had 1,642,548,674,
1,507 248,925 and 1.5

e

5,883 ordinary shares issued and outstanding,

pClivaly,

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
The Company and certain subs
slands or British Virgin Islands

cliarie e exampt from tax in tha G

BVI7), whara they ane inconporated, Rowever,
tha Company is subject to Hong Kong Prafits Tax on profits from s activities
conducted in Hong Kong. Certal

subsidi incorporatad or conducting
the United 5t

5 ol Amer and ot

Busgine:

in Hong Kong, M
jurisdections are subject 1o Hong Kong Profits Tax, Macauw Complementary
Tax, income tax in the United States of Ama and in other jurisdictions,
ended December 31, 2011, 2010

respectively, during the and 2009,

Pursuant 1o the approval notices issued by Macau Government dated Juna 7,

2007, Melco Crown Gaming has been exempted from Macau Com,

[ty

Tax on income generated from gaming operations for five years commencing

dhrwzl Ploport 5111

fram 2007 to 2011 and will cor

five years from
Macau Government in April 2011

@ to banefit f
1o 2016 pursuant io the

m this exemption for ancther

approval notices issued by

The Macau Gow has bo Altira Hoted Limibed ("Altira Hofel™)

and Melco Cro
declaration of u

o which 1

1, respectively, pursuant

or @ pariod of 12 v

on any immovable property that they own or have been granted for Altira

Macau, Hard Rock Hotel and Croy

thay will 2

depreciation and reintegralion for pis

50 be allowed 10 double the Mo

iposes of assassment

n Towers Hotel, Under such tax holiday,

lic; @ bbe

ardling

of Macau

Complemantary Tax. The Macau Government has also granted to Altira Hotal

and Malco Crawn (GO0 Habe

declaration of utility purp

t on

gpecific wehicles purchased, pursuant to which they are entithed 1o & vehicha

tax holiday provided thera is no change

within & yaars from the date of purs

n use or disposal of thosa vahicles



INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE [continued)
The provision for incomea tax conststed of:

Year Ended December 31

A reconciliation of the

2 lax per the Co

1ax (cr

aled stat

dit] axpe

anits of operations

sa to income (loss) before

follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 200
Income tax provision for Income (loss) before income tax 287208 5 (2,605} %
current year: Macau Complementary Tax rate 12% 12%
Macau Complemeniary Tax -} 223 & 3 L
Hong Kong Profits Tax g2z
Profits tax in other jurisdictions 161 B85 34,465 1,153}
Sub-total $ 1,206 5 TO3 % 821
Under (over) provigion of income
tax in prior years: 24 168 23
u Comgl £ a g 8y % 2 Under {over) provision in prior yaars 124 {11} 53
Hong Kong Profits Tax 142 1 354 Effect of income for which no
Prafits tax in other jurisdictions 21} a = iNCOMe 1ax expense s payable B7T5) {258} (B633)
Sub-tatal £ 124 3 (1) % Effect of expensa for which no
D ) incorme tax benefit is receivable 12,191 7,868 297
Macau Complementary $ (2779 § 166 $ (1,537 Effect of tax hobday granted by
Hang Kong Profits Tax (185) 58 a1 Mecau Governmant (28,068} =
Prafits tax in other jurisdictions 2 - Lossas that cannot be carried
Subr-t $§ (2966 228 § (1,406 . -
Total income tax credit) expense _ §  (1,636) § 920 % 1132) n uahuation ellowance 21,504 22.374
{1,636) 5 920 &

Annusl Raport 5511 L.
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15.

ot of ULS. ool

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)

Macau Complementary Tex and Hong Kong Profits Tax have bean provided
at 12% and 16.5% on
fram b, gy during
31, 2017, 2010 and 2000, if applicabla. Profits tax in other jurisdictions for
the years ended Decembar 31, 2011 and 2010 were provided mainly for the

p of tup by

nated faxable income earned in or denvad

d brar

reglon where they operate. No provision for profits tax in other jurisdictions for
tha year ended December 31, 2008 was made as the representative offices
and k

ncurred tax lo whi n i

@ thiry opd

Mo prow

tax in the United States of America for the years ended December 31, 201
2010 and 2009 was provided as the subsidiaries incurred tax losses

drrwzl Proport 5111

Melco Crown Gaming w ay from Macau Complementary
Tax on casing gaming profits by the Mz ment in 2007, In April
2011, this tax holiday for Melco Crown EFCI"'\II'H] was extended for an
additional § years through 2016, Dy
2011 and

Group been required to pay such texes, the Group's consolidated net

granted a tax holid:
zau Gove

g the years ended December 21,

and had the

o Crown Gaming reporied net inc

w ad by 260,677, and basic and di

attributable to the Company per share would have reperted reduced

r jmelpil ]
WCOme
of $0.043 per share; and tha Group's consolidated net loss attributable to the
for &k ks 31, 2010 would ha

by $28,069, and basic and diluted net loss attributable to the Company per

piar @nchisd Dy

(Rial=

share would have reported additional loss of $0.018 per shara. Melco Crown

during thé
there was no impact on the Group's basic and diluted net loss attributable 1o
the Company per share. Melco Grown Gaming's non-gaming profits remain

hject fo the M; ) Complis

subject to the Macau spacial gé

y Tax and il

NG FeVEnues
g tax and other levies in accordance with
Its gaming subconcession agresmant.

gr 31, 2011 and 2010 we
ty, and the effective 1ax rate for

clive tax rates for the years ended Dec

negative rates of 0.6% and 9.6%, respec
o 31, 2009
ulory M

ar endod Decer

positive rate of 0.04%. Such rates
2% prirr

ciftesr from t u Campl

it

ary Tax r

rily due

to tha effect of change in valuation allewance for the years ended December
31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 a
described in
endad December 31, 2011 and 2

the effect of tax holiday granted by the Maca

0 and the impact of net loss of Malco
g during the year ended December 31, 2009,

Crown Gam




15.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE [continued)
The deferred tax assets and kabilities as of December 31, 2011 and 2010
consistad of the follow

Deferred tax assats

Met operating oSS carried forwards -4 60,782 % 47 1B3
Depreciation and amortization 24 =
Sub-total § G0B0G6 % 47183
Waluation allowar
Current (17.816) {6, 96E)
Long-term
Sub-total

Tedal net deferred 1ax assels

Deferred tax llabdities

Land use r 5 (68552 3
iy {505)
Unrealized capital allowanca 871y
Todal net deferned tax liabilities S (70.028) £ (18,040

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, waluation alowance of $60,782 and
547,158 were provided, res

pactivaly, emant doas not balie

@ that

il is mone likely 1 lerrad tax ass will be realized. As of
Decamber 31, 2011, adjusted operating tax loss carry forwards, amaounting
o $148.470, 5178,100 and $179.953 will expira in 2012, 2013 and 2014,
1 forwards ol 357,563 has

axpired dunng the year endad Decamber 31, 2011.

an not i L2

g

sCtivaly, Adgy d operaling 1ax lo3s car

Deferrad tax, where ag
the enaclad tesry ir i
applicable to the respective financial years, on the difference between the
consolidated financial statements carrying amounts and income tax base of
and ililigs.

cable, is provided under the liability method at

Undistributed sarnings of subsidiaries are accounted for as a temporary
differance, except that defermed tax are not mecorded for
undistribute L 3 3
reinvasted in foreign jurisdictions. Tha Comp Nag & |..|1|1 Tor resnvastmeant
of undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries as of December 31
2011, which dermonstrales such aar

5 will be indefinitely reinvestad in

the applicable ju Ong. AL & bean
reconded
An v on of the tax posit pd by the

Group by determéning i the weight of availlable evidence indicates it is
meore bkely than not that the poaitions will be sustained on audit, includeng
resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. Uncertain tax
b £ pd Solely on the
technical merits of being susiained on examinations. 1"e Group n.cm.luc.nd
that thera was no significant UﬂGE‘rtnn tax position requiring racogniticn in
the consolidated fir | ants for the years ended Decermber 31
2011, 2010 and 2009 and there i no matenal unne

pcd with 1% POSHIONS wing

grized tax banelit which

would favourably affect the effective income tax rate In fufure percds. As of
Dacember 31, 2011 and 2010, thera

vere no interast and penalties related to
- o f cial staterments

signific: INCreases of GeCcraasas 1o i1s
liability for unrecognized tax benefit within the next

The ncome tax returms of the Company and its su Ein SpEn
and subpect athan by the tax authorities of Hong I(-gng Macau, the
United States of America and other jurisdictions until the statute of limitations
axapire in sach comaspon jurisdiction, The statute of limitations in Hong
Kong, Macau and the U - K
years, respeciively.

Annual fimport 5011 L.
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SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
The Group adopted a share incentive plan in 2006 (“2006 Share Incantive
to attract and retain the bast available personned for positions of

ritaal g
Directors and consultants and to promote the success of its business.
Undar the 2006 Share Incentive Plan, the Group may grant either options
% (MNate: T
restricted shares, as named in respective grant documenis, are accounted
for as nonvested shares). Tha plan administrator would determina the
§ 3 the price in t
The exercise price may be a fised or vanable price related to the fair market
value of the Company's ordinary shares. |f the Group granis an incentive

who, al

ility, 16 pre

livies 10 amployed

icted sh

e pur WS O

L=

i

prige 1 Gption

shang opbon 1o an @mplog oip i OF 1 it, €

representing maore than 10% of the woting power of all classes of the
Company’s share capital, the exercise price cannot be less than 110% of the
ardinary ares on the date of that grant

market valug of the Comp
The term of an award shall not exceed 10 years from the date of the grant.
The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be issued pursuant

1o all awards under the 2008 Shara Incentive Plan (including shanes issuable
s 100,000,000 over 10 years, with & mdairmum

Upon Exercise of o
of 50,000,000 over the first five years, which the Board of Directors of the
Company approved the removal of the maximum Emit of 50,000,000 shares
S3wed over the firs? five yaars and the shaeholders of the Company approved
this removal at the general meeting held in May 2009. The new share
ncantive plan (2011 Share Incentive Plan®) as described below was affective
1

fter the li

mrmediatehy
Board of SEHK on December 7, 2011 and no further awards may be granied
under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan on or after such date as all subsequent
wid uncier the 2011 Share Incentive Plan, As of Decembser

g of the Company’s ordin:

y shares on the Main

wrdds will be
31, 2011 and 2010, nil and 63,347 487 shares out of 100,000,000 shares

onsolidated Financial Statements

remained available for the grant of share options or restricted shares undaer
the 2006 Share Incentive Plan,

On October &, 2011, the Group adopted the 2011 Share Incentive Flan to
the value of the Compdg

promo 55 and anhang y by linking

personal interests of the members of the Beard, employess and consultants

ing such indwviduwals with incentive
Ficrcle
and such adoption was conditional upon the listing of the Company’s andinary
shares on the Main Board of SEHK on December 7, 2011, Under the 2011
Sharg In t 1 3
including but not limited 1o, optons 1o purchase the Company's ondinary

fo those of the shareholders and by provi

Jperior redurng to the sh

tor outstanding perdorman

& Qe

ntive Plan, the Group may g arious shang b pinds,

shares, share appreciation rights. rastricted shares, etc. The tarm of such
15 pd 10 1, Thi
aggregate number of shares which may be ssved pursuant to all awards
under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan is 100,000,000 over 10 years, which
could be raised up 1o 10% of the issued shane
approval. As of December 31, 2011, 100,000,000 g
the grant of various share based awards as no award had bean granted or
agreed to be granted under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan

1 Ao Exc it of 1

ar

sital wpan shareholde

Wargs remain available lor

The Group granted ordinary share eptions to certain personnel under the
2006 Share Incentive Plan during the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010 with the exarcige price delarmined at the closing price of the date of

These ordinary share options became exercisable over different vesting

ranging from immediately vested on date of grant to four years with

arche

vasting scale. Th ry shire options granted expire 10 y

atter the date of grant, except for options granted in the exchange program,
described below, which have a range of 7.7 to 8.3 years’ life,




SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continuad)
During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Board of Directors of the

Company approved a proposal to allow for a ane-time share option exchange

rid viche &

program, des

i mployess an opporiu

-
certain outstanding underwater share oplions for a lesser amount of new
share options 1o be granted with lower exercise pricas, Share options eligibla
b ar o April 11, 2008 und
the 2006 Share Incentive Plan. A total of approximately 5.4 milien eligible
share options were tendered by employeas, represanting $4% of tha total
f

tor exchs hat we ntesd on or

xd an a e of

jikky for axch

. The Group gri

approximately 3.6 million new share oplions

exchange for the eligible share
options surrendered. The exercise price of the new share options was $1.43,

which was the clogsing paice of the Company™s ordinary arg on he

date. No

smental share oplion expense was recognized for the exchangs
because the fair value of the new

options, using Black-Scholes valuation

model, was approximately equal 1o the fair value of the su
they replaced. The

Jergd oplons

ignificant as:

mptions used 1o determing the fair value

of the new options includes expected dividend of nil, expacted stock price
wolatility of B7.29%., risk-fréa interest rate of 2.11% and axpected average life

of 5.6

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Group settled bonus

=] ted to

aly]

year anded D
approximately 6.4 million restrictad shares granted and vestad on the same
date in 2009, The total fair value of those restricted shares amounted to
26,014,

, 2008 1o employeas with

The Group has also granted restricted shares 1o certain personnel under
the 2006 p In
2010 and 2009. These restricted shares have a vesting period ranging from

v Plan cduring the y ended December 31, 2011,

fiataly vasted on date of gra

1to

e with re cé to the market closing price at date o

The Group uses the Black-5
ated fair value for each o

oles valuation model to da
grant is

, with highly subjective

assumgtions, changes In which could materially atfect the estimated falr

value. Expected wolatility is based on the historical volat
Exg
f expected term of publicly traded com

y of a peer group

o d conm

hy 1rg

termm is based upon the

or the historical

anies. The risk-frea
interest rate usad for each period presented is based on the United States of
Ar a T
EXpECTed 1afm.

o

iry yiedd Cun

¢ of grant for the pericd équal to the

The fair value per oplion wirs estim

at the date of grant using
following weighted-average assumplions (excludes options granted in share
option exchange program):

December 31
2011 2010

Expected dividend yield = - =
Expd
Risk-fres inte
Expaciad aver

oplics

| $tock walitality
1 rate 2.07 3

age life of

Annual fimport 3011 L.
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SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

Share QOptions
A summary of share options ac
of D 31, 2011,
2011, 2010 and 2000 are pre

[

v under tha 2008 Share Incentive Plan as
ndied Decarmber 31,

Weighted-

Aver

Jd: ¥
Granted
Granted under option

Dacamba
Granted

20,916,452

i i
™

5 1.43
g
3 439
5
g
L4

| e e i

wn

Exescazabla at
December 31, 2011

11,007,541

i
ha
&
m
m
&

i

ezl Floport

011

under the 2006

A summary of share options vested and exp

Sh

wcentive Plan al December 31, 2011 are p

Range of exercise prices
per share (£1.01-85.06)

(Mote) 11,007.541 § 125 6.66 § 22,280

rage Average

Mumber Exerciza Remain
Price par
Tesri
Range of axerise
prices par shans
[51.01-54.69) 0.506.821 § 1.89 8.26 § 13,077




16. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continuaed)

Share Options [eontinued)

The weighled-gverage fair value of sb

e options gr
options granted in the share opltion exchange program) durning the years
endad Decamber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $1.67, 50.84 and S0.67,
eclively, 3,835,506 and 804,285 share oplions were exercised and
proceeds amounted 1o $3,950 and $838 were recognized during the years
endad December 31, 2011 and 2010, respactively. The &
¢ opt
were 58,348 a
the year ended December 31, 200% and therefore no cash proceeds

1al intrinsic valua of

mecognized

As of Decambar 31, 2011, there was $8,183 unracognized compensation
costs redated (o unvested share options and the costs were axpected 1o be

(=

grized ouer a weighted-average penod of 2.03 years,

Restricted Shares

A summary of the status of the 2006 Share Incentive Plan‘s restricted shares
as of Decembar 31, 2011, and changes during the years ended December 31,
2011, 2010 and 2009 are presanted balow,

Wesighted-

Mumber of Average
Resiricted  Grant Date
Shares Fair

Unvested at January 1, 2009 T538,07T6 § 2.02

Granbed 74
Wegtad (10,825 ,445)
Forfeited (538,341}

Unwestad at December 31, 2008 and

January 1, 2010 5 141
Granted 1.38
Vegtad .
Forfeited 1.27
Unvestad at December 31, 2010 and
January 1, 2011 2,845,059 5 1.31
Granted 2,908,383 2.52
WVestad 11,252,223} 1.07
_ Farfaited o A _ BeTie 187
Unvestad at December 31, 2011 2

4,002,503 %

The total fair valw
sl D

3, IEEPEC

at date o

ant of the restricted shares vested during the
1, 2010 and 2 were 51,330 52 166 and

nber 31, 20

sely.

ylars

gaT,
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16.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continuad)

Restricted Shares (continued)

A5 of Dece ¢ 31, 2011, there was 56,033 of unrecognized carmp
costs related to restricted shares and the Coosis are expected 1o be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2,12 years,

The impact of share oplions and resiricted shares for the years ended
Decamber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2004 recognized in the consolidated financia

statements were as follows:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2008
Share oplions s 5570 3 5,169
estricted shares 3,054 6,638
Total share-based
compensation axpenses $ 8624 S 6045 § 11,807
Lass: share-based compansation
L italizad in
CONSLrUCTIon in prograss == 2} (422)
Share-based compensalion
recognized in general and
administrative expanses 5 8624 8 G043 £ 11,385

drwzl Proport 5011
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17.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The Group provides defined contribution plans for ite employees in Macau,
Hong Kong, the United States of America and other jurisdictions

Macau

Employeas employed by the Group in Macau are members of government-
e S =5

the Macau G iment and the Group s required to pay a mol fixed
contribution te the S5F Scheme to fund the benafits. The only cbligation

operated by the Macay

Security Fund Schem Schame”) of by

the Group with respect 1o the S5SF 3¢ ]

Government is 1o make the required cantributions under the scheme.

Hong Kong

Employees employed by the Group in Hong Kong are members of Mandatory
Provident Fund Schame (the “MPF Scheme™) operated by the Group. For
these employees, with exception of senior management, the Group's and

5" confributions 1o the MPF Scheme are 281 at 5% of the

the emplo
employees’ relevant incoma up 1o a maximum of HKS1,000 per amployes
par month, For senior managemant, the employess’ contributions to the
MPF Scheme ane sat al 5% of the amplo 5
of HK$1.000 per employes per month. The Group's contribution to the

Salames up o a mMaxinmum

MPF Scheme is set at 10% of the employess’ base salaries. The axcass

over the Group’s mandatory
employees’ salaries wp to 8 maximum of HKS1,000 per employes per manth,
are treated as the Group's voluntary contribution and are vested to senior
1 _ b oat 10% . The Groug
confributions to the MPF Scheme are fully and immediately vesied to the

Y par

per year with full vesting in 10

empl

yeos once they are paid. The MPF Scheme was established under

trust with the assets of the funds held separately from those of the Group by

independant inustees,



17.

EMFLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS [continued)

United States of America and Other Jurisdictions
and athar j

Thes Grgu
opesate a number of defined contribution schemes. Contributions to the
dafined contribution schemes applicabde to each year are made at a certain
W met the minimam

Pl

requirements.

Dy
contributions

i s 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, ik
nto the provident fund were 35414, £5070 and 55012,

g

the

raspectivaly,

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS
All subsidiaries incorporated in Macau are required fo set aside a minimum
of 10% to 25% of the entity's

unfil the batance of the legal reserve reaches a level eguivalent to 25% 1o

5

r laxation 1o the legal reserve

50% of the entity’s share capital in accordance the provisions of the

amount from the

Macau Commarcial Code, The legal reserve se1s aside an

subsidiaries’ g smants of operalions and s ol available for disbribution

o the shareholders of the subsidiaries. The appropriation of legal resanve

is recorded in the subsidiaries’ financial sta in tha year in which
il is approved by the board of directors of W iaries. As of
Decamber 31, 2011 and 2010, the balance of the reserve amounted 1o 53 in

aach of thase years

The City of Dreams Project Facllity contained rest
dividands by the Borowing Group which applied wntil the City of Dreamns

[

tions on payment of

wgnched on Jung 30, 2011, There was a res

Project Facility wa (-

paying dividends during the consiruction phase of the City of Dreams project.

Upon complation of the construction of the City of Dreams, the relevant
sulbsid
financial tasts and conditions.

es wera only be able to pay dividends if they satisfied certain

The 2011 d from
June 30, 2011 on pay
members of the 2011 Borowing Group, unless certain financial tests and

satisfied. D Fre

ontain resirictions which apply on &

ing dividends to the Company or persons who are not

m 1] & %

conditic
defined i
subject fo compliance with the financial covenants under the 2011 Credit
Fac
exceading the aggregate cash and cash equ
ng Group as at Juna 30, 2011 subject to a certain amount of cash and

and, in @

wis may be

held by the 20

not

Borrowing Groug in an amo

alents inwestments of the 2011

Bormow

ed for ops g purpo: i G,

there baing no event of default continuing of likely 10 ocour under the 2011
Gradit Facilities as a result of making such payment.

The mdenture governing e Senior Motes also containg camain covenants
that, subject to certain axceptions and conditions, restrict the payment of
ividends for MCE Fir

ice and its restric

subsidiaries.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008, the Company
did not declare or th
divider

nary shares. No

have period

Annual flmport 23011 L.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(@)

)

Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2011, the Group had capital commitments
contracted for but nol provided mainly for the construction and
acquisition of property and equipment for City of Dreams and Studic
City totaling 380,643,

Lease Commitments and Qther Arrangements

Operating Leases-As a lessee
The Group leases office space, Mocha Clubs sites and staff quarters

.."(jl" NON=CANDH i'.!lll'{)'ll!fi
da
rental increases based on both contractual agreed incremental rates and

pis RIHET

rpgrEnts that expirg af ous

through June 2022. Those lease agreements provide lor pariodic

an the genaral inflation rate once Agr
mber 31, 2011, 2010 and
ncurred rental expenses amounting to $16,944, $15.373 and 514,557,

ed by the Groug BEH0,

5 ended Dace

During 1 the Group

raspactively.

As of December 31, 2011, minimum lease payments under all non-

cancellabla leasas were as follows:

snding Decamber 31,

% 12,105
7272
5,008
3.850
2,686

Crvar 2016 12,145

§ 43156

dhrrwzl Proport 5111

Az grantor of operating and right to use arramgement

The Group entered into non-cancellable operating and right 1o uss
agreaments mainty for mall spaces in the GCity of Dreams site with
5 through Fabn
Certain of the oparating and right 1o use agresams
base fee and operating fee
During the years ended Dece

ous ratailers that expirg at varic

nclude minimum

escalated contingent fes clauses
31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Group

recelved contingent fees ameounting to $18,053. $12,801 and 55,547,

respectivaly.

Az of December 31, 2011, minimum future fees lo be recelved under all
nen-cancellable operating and right to use agreements were as follows:

Yoar ending December 31,

2012 $ 11358
2013 10,602
2014 89,835
2015 5,567
2016 1,418
Cver 2018 -
$ 8944

The total minimum future fees do not include the escalated continga:

fod Clauses




19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGEMNCIES (continued)

(&) Other Commitments

Gaming subconcession

On September 8. 2008, the Macau Gow

in Macau. Pursuant to the gal

alyls

3 to ke Crown Gaming to operate §

ling subconcession agreement, Melco

Crown Gaming has committed to the following:

To pay the Macau Government a fixed a premium of $3,744

(MOP30,000,000).

To pay the Macau Government a vanable premium depanding on

the number and type of gaming tables and gaming machines that

the Group ope e premium is

" £37 (MOP300,000) per year for aach gaming table (subject to

a minimum of 100 ta

rvad axc

ol gamas of 10 cartain players,

. $159 (MOP150.000) per ye
a i af 100 tables) not resered exclusivaly for ¢

kind of games o 10 certain players, and

for @ach gaming table

o 0.1 (MOP1,000) per year for v electrical or me

gaming machine, Including the slot machine.

5

Government a sum of 1.6% of the gros

revenues of ming busin

basis, that will be made available 1o a pubdic

operalions on a monthiy
cundation for tha

ral. economic,

and chas i be

determined by the Macau Government.

u Gove el a ol 2.4% of the g

revenues of the gaming business operations on a monthly basis,

W) To pay the W

which will be used for uban development, tourist promotion and

he

security af Ma

Wl To pay special gaming tax to the Macau Government of an amount
of the 3 B

@q to 35% of the gross

operations on a monthly basis

susd

wi} Melco Crown Gaming 5t rmaint

two bank guar

by a specific bank with the Macau Governmant as the baneficiary

n a maximum amount of S62.395 (MOPS00.000,000) from
5 b B, 2008 fo Soplembaer 8, 2011
of $37,437 (MOP300,000,000) from September 8, 2011 until the
18dih day after the termination date of the gaming subconcession

1 MAKimum amount

Az a result of the bank gu

Annusl Report 5511 1
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19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

()

Other Commitments (continued)

Land concession contracts

The Company's subsidiaries have enterad into concession contracts
our Altira Macau, City of Dre
City properties and development projects are located. The title to the
\and lease night is obtained onca the related land concession contract
% published in the M;

for the land on whic and Studio

g afficial gazette. The contracts have a term
ol 25 years, which is renewable for further conseculive periods of 10
years, subject 1o payment of a special contribution to be defined by the

Macau Gove al oprmEnt s, Thi

Company's land holding subsidiaries ane reguired to i) pay an uplront
land premiéum, which is recognized as land use right in the consolidated

balance sheat and a nom
recognized as general and ad
avery five years; and (i) place a guarantes deposit upon acceptance of
the land lease ferms. which is subject to adjustments from time to time

sl government and use fad, which is

strative expense and may be adjusted

m ling with the amounts paid as sl land use fee. During the land
CONCESSION tarm, amendments have been sought which have or wil

rasult in rav

ions to the development conditions, land premium and
d use bees,

governmeant

Altira Macau
In March 2008, the
which Altira Macau Is localed fo Altira Developments Limited (“Altera

1 Gowvern d on

granted the Taipa La

Developments™), an indirest subsidiary of the Comgany. The land
premium of approximately S18,685 was fully paid in July 2006, a
guarantee deposit of approximately $20 was pald upon acceptance

ezl Poport 3091

of the land lease terms in 2006 and governmant land use fees of
approximately §171 per annum are payable. As of December 31, 2011,
the Group's total commitment for government land usa fees for tha Altira
Macau site to be paid during the ramaining term of the land concession
coniract was £3,282

City of Dreams

In Awgust 2008, the Macau Government granted the Cofai Land on
which City of Dreams is located to Melco Crown (COD) Developments
and Melco Crown Gaming., The initial land premium is approximately
2105.091, of which approximately $30,850 has been pad as of
December 31, 2011 and the remalning amount of approximatehy
$24.241, accruing wil
=]

5% interast per annum, is dus to ba paid in threa

stalments, and a

ing rantee deposit of approximately 5424

was also pasd upon acceptance of the land lease terms in February
2008. Melco Crown [GOD) Developmants and Malco Grown Gaming
A n contract in 2009
1o increase the 11al developable gross floor area and the purpose of
such area which reguired an additional land premium of approximately
232,118 was fully paid in March 2010, and governmant land use

the land conces

applied for an am

oS

were revised to approximately $1.1B5 per annum. This amendment
process was completed on September 15, 2010. As of December 31,
2011 and 2010, the tofal cutstanding balance of the land premium was
included in accrued exper
of $15,960 and $15,191 and in land use rights payable in an amount
of $8.281 and 524,241, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, the

Group's total commil

23 § 1 an amount

et land use fed:

it bar govern

for the City of
Cweams site to be paid during the remaining term of the land concassion
contract was $25,569



19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGEMNCIES (continued)

Other Commitmants (continued)

Land concession contracts (continued)
Studio City

) Gove

ch Studio City is located to Studio City Developments Limited
as MSC Desenvolvimentos, Limitada and East Asia
ign Lirmited) ("Siug D
subsidiary of the Company. In accordance with the terms of the land

concession contract, a land premium of approximately $2 910
full roximately 3105

nd use fees of approcmately 5105 per

b depe

provided and government

annum are payable. Since 2005, the land concession contract has bean

richad

n MNovember 2006
was accepted by 5

Macau Government issued a pro
fio City Devalopmants
Iy 70,581
govarnmaent land use fees would be revised to approximatety $:

amendment wh

requirgd an additi

nal land prarmium of approxin

6 per

annum during evalopmant period of Studio Gity

ind approximately
2527 par annurn after the d lely]
deposit of approcimately $326 was paid upen acceptance of the land
lease terms and conditions propesed by the Macau Gowernment.

nl pariod, An &

al guarantes

Approximately $23,561 of the additions
in 2006
due in fiva blannual instalments, accruad

land prami
ely 547,020 would be

ith 5% Intarest par annum,

and the remaining amount of &

h tha first instalment 1o ba paid

in six months from the dat

el el would be p

blighed in the Macay official ga:

Movernber 2006 proposed amendment was not published and since that

date other amendments have been requested and are in progress with

g balance of tha

and use righ

able and the Group's total commitment for government land use fees
for tha Studic

v 5ite to ba paid during the remaining tarm of the land

£7.7949,

Service agreements
A% of Di by 31, 20111, th

for but not provided in respect of shutthe busas and limousines se
mainty for the operations of Altira Macau and the City of Dreams totaling
82,237, Exp 5 during

9 amounted to

Annusl Report 5511 L
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19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

()

Other Commitments [continued)

Service agreements (continued)

As of December 31, 2011, the Group had other cemmitmants contractad
for but not provided in respect of cleaning, maintenance, consulting,
keing and ott
Altira Macau and Gity of

eams 1ol 435, Expanses for such
sarvicas during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008

amounied o 523 , 317,201 and £5,561, respect

the Group had other commitmants contracted
fi
casing totaling 36,678,
Expensas for the frademark and memorabilia license fees during the
years ended 31 December 2011, 2010 and 2009 i
£1,610 and $888, respactively.

As of December 31, 20

for operations of City of Dreams hotels and

ounted 1o 51,757,

As of December 21, 2011, the Group had other commitments
contractad for but not provided in respect of fees Tor the oparation of an
antartainment show in G ty of Dreams, which commenced perormance
n September 2010, totaling 20,887, Fees for the operation of the
D ¢ 31, 2011

the yaars &

ezl Boport 3091

to Consolidated Financial Statements

d)

fe)

Guarantees
Az of Decembsr 31, 2011

Melco Grown Gaming has issusd a
of $68,635 (MOPS550,000,000) to a bank

promissory note [*Livrang
n ¥ U Gove
al statemeants.

ssued to the Mac
| to the consolidated financ

in e af I

disclosed in Note 19(c)

As of De
guarantae with third parties amounted to $35.000 to guaraniee certain
payment obligations of the City of Dreams” operations.

ber 31, 2011, the Group has entered inlo two deeds of

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Group msued a

bank guarantee io the Macau Government amounted to 522
(MO 80,000, 000) 1o guar
of $32,118 payable to the Macau Gow

ayrient of the additional land p

rim

rimant for the increased

developable gross floor area of Cotai Land, whare the City of Dreams

site 5 located, e has bean réleased

as ol Decamber 2

sclosed in Note 8. The gu
, 2010

Litigation

Az of December 31, 2011, the Group s currently a party 1o cenain lagal
proceadings which redate to matiers arising out of the ordenary course
of its business. Managemeant doas not believe that the outcoma of such

[ el on the Grow

results of operations or cash flows.

s will have a material af




20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Duwing the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2004, the Group entered into the following significant related party transactions
Year Ended December 31,
A d Comipaniss s of 1 tions 2011 2010 2009
Transactions with affil s that constiiuted connected fransactions under Chapler 144
of the Listing Rules
Chin Som, Limited Purchasa of proparty and equipment 1,756 - & -
Coronwn Caonsultancy ad in construction in progress - 1,312
Congultancy lae recognized as axpeansa 461 298 61
Managemant fees expanse - 3 45
Office rental expense <] 13
207 - 74
fee axpanse s (2d) i
Traveling expensa 12
Other wicR fee income 43 14 TET
ARooms and food and beverage income - 3 =
Lisboa Holdings Limited 1,483 1,108 1,105

Annusl Report 5511 1.
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Year Ended December 31,
Related companies Matura of transactions 201 2010 2009

Transactions with affifated companias that constituted connected transactions wndar Chaptar 144
of the Listing Ruwles (continued)

Melco's subsidianies and its associated companias Advertising and promoticnal expenses S a9 % - % =
Consultancy fee expanse 509 570 540
Management fees expense 14 14 -
Network support lee expense = = 28
Oifice rental expense 533 533 485
Operating and office supplies axpensas 63 160 33

g8 of property and eguipment 186 1.287 55,021
MAINSRANce axXpenses - 236 B7

502 524 B46
207 254 129
221 13 12
Crown Enterta
["MCE Charity Association™) Donation axpense 120
Shun Tak Holdings Limited and its subsidiarias
(refarmad to as “Shun Tak Group™)" Advertising and promotional eaxpenses 126
Offica rental expansa 124 212 L]
Operating and office supplies axpanses 20 18 18
Purchase of proparty and equipment ]
Traveling expense 2,794 2,750 2,058
Rooms and food and beverage income 445 64

Annual Repert 2011




20.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Erdind Dy

Related companies Mature of transactions 20 2010
ted conneciod [ r Chapder 144
Sky Shuttle Helicopters Limited (“Sky Shuttle®) Traveling axpense -] 2,008 5 1,433 § 852
Socledade de Joges de Macau S.A. (“5JM" Office rental expanse — 158
eling expensa capitalized n progress 2
482
P Tumisrmio & Dive
") and its sulbaidi
ad fo as *STDM Group™) Advertising and promational expanses 116 5 85
Offica rgntal axpa BoT 258 259
Service fes axpanse 113 - 54
Traveling expensa capitalized in
construction in progress a 85
Travaling axg gnized 115 ro2 739

Annusl Raport 5511 1.
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continuad)

Yipar Ended December 31

Felated companies atwre of transactions 2011 2010 2009

Lo
T4A of the L

o companias thd

g A

Wah Garment Manufaciuring Comparny

d [*Ch Opar 3 - 5 - % 175
Purchase of prop = = 150

MGM Grand Paradise Lir f (“WGM") 9 - 155
& SUpplies aXpantes — 3 -

Purchase of property and equipment = _ 47

Shul

Master Asia Limited [“Shuffle M

O
Purchase of properly and equipment - -

Supplic

Tr

% Wil el s thal cong rgar

ter TdA of the Listing Rules

Crown talized in construction in p 15 1898
5t charges recognized &% axpense or a6 T
Other service fes incoma i = =
Rooms and food and bew Coma 39
Malco nterest charges capitalized in construction in progress - - TES
nterast charges racognized as expensa 174 156 138
ol fiw ir - 23
Rooms and food and Deverags iNcomea 5 15 5 39 5 11

drwsl Ploport 511




20.

RELATE

D PARTY TRAMNSACTIONS [continued)

fa) Amounts Due From Affiliated Companies

The outstanding balances arising from ops
pré
are as folle

g Incoma recaived or
ber 31, 2011 and 2010

yrvent of ope

] expenses as of Decer

December 31,

2011 2010

[ el
its associatad companias 5 1,
Shun Tak Group

$ 184 §

The madmum amounts o

ding due from Melco™

WS
s
S1.7
Melco's associated companies during the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010 wene 34 and 55, re

g the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were 51,841 and

raspactivaly. The maximum amounts cutstanding due from

Clhivily.

Tha maximum amounts outstan

ding due from Shun Tak Group during
the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 wend $236 and 364,
respectivaly.

Th i D
3 and 2010 as mentioned above arme unsacured, non-intarest
baring and repayable on demand

anding bala rom aHiliated companie:

ses chud bar

Annusl Report 5511 1.
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20.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

)

i)

Amounts Due To Affifated Companies

Thié ou ling Balancas ansing from Operating  expe as of

December 31, 2011 and 2010 are a3 follows:
December 31,
2011 2010
Crown's subsidiary s 18 % ag
Malco's subsidiaries and
1% o companies 179 134
MCE Chanty Associaton 120 =
Shun Tak Group 304 276
SJM 113
Sky Shuttle 302 -
STOM Group S (1 164
% 1137 % B3

The ocutstanding balances due to affiliated companies as of December
31, 2011 and 2010 a5 mér
beaning and repayable on demand.

d above ane unsecurad, non-nberest

Loans From Shareholders
Melco and Grown provided loans to the Company mainty for working
capital purpasas, for the acquisition of the Altira Macau and the City of

Dreams sites and for construction of Altira Macau and City of Drsarms

As of December 31, 2010, the outstand ng loan balance due to Melco
amounied to HKS5TE.577,752 (approximately £74,367), was unsecured,

ezl Poport 3091

to Consolidated Financial Statements

and at 3-month HIBOR
plus 1.5% per annum only during the period from May 16, 2008 to May
15, 2009 and repayable in May 2012, As of Decembar 31, 2010, tha
nted 1o HKS321,157.031
bearing at 3-maonih

interast bearing at 3-month HIBOR per a

cutstanding loan balance due to Crown amoi
y $d41,280),
HIBOR per annum and repayable in May 2012,

unsecurad, in

(approximat

i to convert their

On Novembes 18, 2011, Melco and Crowm
respective sharehclder loans Into equity. They entered into a series

of agreements, pursuant to which, on Nowvember 28, 2011 (the

. Melco transferred by novation HKS180.000,000 (approximatety
231360 of the ol
the Company to Crown. On completion of the nowvation, the

3 lean balances owed 1o M

5 by

Company was indebted to Melco in the sum of HKS388.577, 752
d Growm in tha surm of HKS501,157,031

woximately 551,221

(approximately $64,4186).

. Each of Melco and Crown agreed to conwvert oulstanding

ocan bDalances owed by ihe Company to them into shares.
The Company isswed a total of 40,211930 ordinary shares in
connaction with the shassholder loan conversion, based on a

conversion price of 3287 per share,

Tha maximum amount of ocutstanding loan balances due to Melco
and Crown during the yea ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
was HK$5TE.577.752 (approximately $74.367) and HKS501,157,031
(approximately S64,416), respectively,




20.

21,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d) Amounts Due From/To Shareholders
Az of December 31, 2011, the ¢ nding balance due from M
46, ar Sing from oper g Income received. As of Decamber 31, 2010,
the cutstanding balance was a payable to Melco of 523, mair

1o interest payable on the culstanding loan balances, The

of

y related

were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

T
1o interest payable on the oulst

3, 2010
g loan balances, were unsecured,

s of 513 due 1o Crow ik

nen-intarest bearing and repayable on demand

SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is principally engaged in the gaming and hospitality business, The

s
i, City of

1 makar monifors s Of ations and avaluate:
ng the ass mie] e . ko a Clubs, Altira k

Dreams and Stedio Gity, which was acquired by the Group in July 2011. Taipa
Squara Casing i included within Corporate and Others. All ravanues were

by

genarated in Macau

Total Assets

December 31

2011 2010
Mocha Clubs $ 174404 5 145173 % 144,455
Altira Macau a7 145 57,504 ars4AFY
City of Dreams 3,103,458 3202692 3075052
Studio City 713,637 - -
Caorporate and Othars 1,701,336 071 1,067,861
Total consolidated assets $6.260,980 54,884,440 %4.862845

Capital Expenditures

Year Ended Decamber 31,

2011 2010 2009

Mocha Clubs 3 23558 5 13140 % 11,448
Altira Macau 6,662 7.ra4 6,712
City of Dreams 38,774 &4,278 B0A8,424
Studio City 713,253 - —
Corporate and Others 2,387 4,4 2,152
$ TES634 5 119,660 & B2E.TIE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

For the years ended Decaember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008, there was no single

to Consolidated Financial Statements

customar that contributed more than 10% of the total revenues

The Group's segment inform
years is as follows:

tion on its results of operations for the following

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2008

NET REVENUES

Mocha Glubs $ 131834 § $ 97.584

Altira Macay 1,173,930 B59, 755 B58 043

City of Dreams 2,491,383 1,636,401 552,141

Studio City — - -

Corporate and Others 33,600 31,838 24.705
Total nat revenuas $ 3,830,847 $2.641,976 $1,332.873
ADJUSTED PROPERTY EBITDA "

Mocha Clubs 5 40475 5 208311 3 25416

Altira Macau 248,300 133,679 13,702

City of Dreams 584,440 26,398 56,666
Total adjusted property EBITDA 880,915 485 848
OPERATING COSTS AND

EXPENSES
Pra-opening costs (2.680) (18, 548) {91, BEZ)
Development cosis {1,110} - -
Amortization of gaming

subconcession (57.237) (57,237)
Arnortization of land use rights (34.401) [| 22) 3
Depreciation and amortization (259, 224) (236,306) (141
Share-based compensation (8.624) (6,043) (11,385
Prop ned ot (1.025) 1) (7 .0d0)
Corporate and B AXDENSes (71.494) (59, 489) [(40,028)
Total operating costis and expenses § (435.B05) § (397,338 § [367.B31)

dhrwzl Proport 011

“Year Ended Decembar 31,

2011 2010 2008

OPERATIMNG INCOME (LOSS)
MON-OPERATING EMNSES
Interest income
Irit@re:

axpanses, nat of
capitalized interast
Raclassification of accumulated
losses of interest rate swap
agréements from accumulabed
other comprehensive losses
Change in fair valua of
irfEng:

ate: Swia

pragmants

Armortization of defe
financing costs
Loan commitment fees
Forgign
Othes income, met
Listing expenses
Loss on axtinguishmant of debt
Cosls ass0cis
deabt modification
Tertal non-op 16 EXPENSES
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
INCOME TAX
INGOME TAX CREDH
MET INCOME (LS
MET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
MNONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
NET INCOME (LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO MELCO
CROWN ENTERTAINMENT
LIMITED

i) gain, gt

sl with

EXPENSE)

§ (272,047

4,13 404 488
{113,80E) (93,357) {31,824)
{4.310) = s
3,947
(14,302)
{1,411} 3811
{1,771} 3,563
3,664 1,074
{8.950) — =
{25,153)

{157,.202) {36, 546)
287,208 {308,393)
1,636 1
288,844 {308,461)

5812
204,656 & (10.525) $ (308.461)




1.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
On June 16, 2011, the Company entered into a share purchase agreament
and through its indirect subsidiary, MCE Cotai Investmants Limited (*MCE
affiiate of eSun Holdings Lim

ed (“eSun

ndependent third party, a 60% equity interast in Studio City
n as Cyber One Agents Limited)

ysidiaries, upT), w oper of Studio City,

“Studio City Gro

The total consideration under the share purchase agreement and related

1%

i of S100,000 in cash in thres
and $25000 cver two years commeancing
27, 2011 1o New Cotai Holdings,
LLC [the noncantradiing 1 in Studio City
ational Holdings), for transfarring to the Siude City Group the shares

instalments of $50.000, §

upon the closing of tha transaction on Ju

cdder who owns 40%

Itad
of other entities that own rights to develop the gaming areas of Studio City.
Tha t 2011, the

d by the Group in Au

zond instalment of $25,000 will be

t of 325,000 will be payabde in July 2013

Cn July 27, 2011, the Group complated the acquisition of B0% equity interest
in the Studio City Group. The Studie Cily Group did not have any operation

and revenue befere the acquisition. The Group principally acquired a parcel of

tion of the Studio

land and refated construction in progress through the acquis

City Group and this 1r or A% acg

and liabilities.
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 23. OPERATIMNG INCOME [LOSS)

The net assets acquired in the transaction are &s Tollows

Operating income (loss) is amived at after changing:

Amount “ear Ended Decembar 31,
recognized 2011 2010 2009
al the
date of Auditor's remunaration $ a1 5 906 % fira]
acquisition Loss on disposal of proparty
$ 426 § 178 % B4D
Met assets acquired:
Cash and cash equivalents $ A1}
Preps gther currgn T2
Depo! 432
La 549,078
[+, 139,201

A

Land use right payable

5.

nar current Rabilit

Mot a § 374,349
Total consideration & by:
Cash paid $ 310,000
Payables for acquisition of assets and liabilities 45964
355,864
Direct ot od for acq
liakli 18,365
$ 374,349

hrwsl Ploport 511




DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
ils of the emolumants peasd of payable to the Directors du

ars ended Decamber 31,

2010 an

-

i

ware as follows.

wn

1,050

3
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
24. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS [continued)

Diragtiors
Foes

§ = % 050 § 24 8 25 00 i
58 55

= = = = g ]

o4 = . — 40 134

8 - - - 81 178

85 B 176

7 - - - B 155

§ 58 3 1050 § 2074 § i a0 s 847

it sl Fogort 3011




24. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS [continued)

Fogs 2008 Total
an, g
La 8 fau Lung Ho § - i s 5 2 e 8 od
o
B4 [T
Wiz shet - - - - -
Bruce Craige k)
K] Z
g8 - - H
8 o7
a0 - -
& 713§ 5 2 §
Muobe
" £
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Notes

24.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, no emoluments
have been paid to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals disciosad
in Mote 25 as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company, or as
compensation lor loss of office. Except for Mr. Rowen Bruce Craigie who
waived emoluments of S200 related to services provided in 2008 and 2009
during the year ended December 31, 2010, and Mr, William Todd Misbet

who waived amoluments of $120 related to services provided in 2010 during
tha year anded December 31, 2011, no Director or the five highest paid
individuals disclosad in Mote 25 waived any emoluments duning the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,

EMFLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

For each of the three years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the
five highest paid individuals included one Director of the Company, The
amoluments of the remaining four highest paid individuals for the years endad
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2000 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2008

Basic salarias, housing alowand
other allowances and

s 2,358 § 2912 § 1,724

Parformance bon 1.909 1,908
Retirament banelit schame
utions 148 2} 157
s Compensation 1,068 1,828 2,325
$ 5,385 § 6742 § 4,206
Mok
it ned with reflerence 1o the p and

el Boport 3091

to Consolidated Financial Statements

Thair emoluments

wara within the following bands:

of Emplay

Year Ended Decamber 31
1 2010 2008
HEKSE,000,001 (approodmatedy $771) ta
HESE, 500,000 (approximately $835) - - 1
HKS6.500,001 (approxmatedy SB35 to
HEST 000,000 [apy - = 1
HKST 500,001 {approssm;
HESS, 000,000 (approxim -t _ {
HK$9,000,001
1 = -
HE58,500,001
HKS10,000,
HK$10,000,001 |
HES10, - 1 -
HKE10,500,001
HEE11,000 i = =
HES11,000,001 {appeaxim
HES11, 500,000 {approx = 1 -
HES12,0000001 [apg
HKE12 = - 1
K approximatel
HES15, 000,000 (approximatedy §1,528] 2




26.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.5. GAAP AND IFRS
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U5,

GAAR
that I

ch differ in certain respects from IFRS. The significant differencas,

@ material impact on the Cor arihole

" equity and ned

income {loss) attricutalble 1o the Company, relate principalty to the accounting
for the following:

(a)

i)

Capitalization of amortization of land use rights as properly
and equipment

Under LS, GAAR, 1k
the consolidated siatements of ope

ortiz:

of land use rghts s recog

ons over the estimated lease

term of the land on a straight-line basis and is not capitalized to the

congtruction in progr

during th prog. ONSiruction pariod,

Under IFRS, the amortization of land use rights is generally recognized

in the consclidated staterments of operations over the estimated lease

term of the lang . I the amortization of land

use righls is expenditure diractly attributable to brnging a proparty

an a straight-line bas

to working condition for its intended use, the re

d amaor

[ =T talized 19 construclion in progress, until @

tirse &% he
construction works are complatad

Borrowing costs
Under U.5. GAAP the amount of interest cost to be capitalized is
determined by applying the capitalization rate to the average amount of
for the

t during the construction pericd,

accumulated expenditures exceed the total amount of
that borrowing, the capstalization rate to be appfed to such excess shall

be a weighted ge of the rabes 5 of

pplicable to other borrowing

the entity. Income eanmned on temperary investment of actual bomowings

e}

Under IFRS. to the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for the

Parpose of obtan g a (llJ:LIlyIIIU asset, ihe I'II|I|:|l sha determing
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization as the actual
barmaw

in

¥ cosks incurred on that bormowing during the period less any
t of th

ol O Thié TEMpOrary ink

Erarrawing

I an entity bo

we funds generally and uses them for the purpose of

obtaining a qualifying asset, the entity shall determine the amount of

eligible for ¢

alization by
assel. The capitalization rate shall
ba the weighled awarage of the borrowing costs applicable to the

rate to the expendiures on that

bBorrowings of the entity that ane out g during the period, othar

than bomowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a

qualifying asset.

Defarred incomea taxes
Under U.S. GAAR defered income 1ax is recognized for the temporany

from

combination. The tax efect of asset purcha: at are not business

combinations in which the amount paid differs from the tax basis of the

assat shall not re in immadiate staterments of operations recognition
The diffe d
deferred tax asset or liability should be recognized. The simultaneous-

al

v diffan

ons method shal

be used fo calculate the assigned value of the

il Tax

Annusl Raport 5511 1.
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26.

esto C

ot of ULS. oollien, d

DIFFERENMCES BETWEEN U.5. GAAP AND IFRS (continued)

()

(d)

Deferred income taxes (continued)

Under IFRS, deferred UK iS5 not or gnized for tamporary
differences resulting from the ndtal recognition of an assat or kability
n a transaction that is not a business combination and do not affect

afit as of the tr Thr

carrying value of the assat and liability s not adjusted.

g lirgd for Altira Macau, City of
are different under U.5. GAAP and IFRS. Accordingly,
the amount of amortization of land wse rights o

and Studio Ci

the estimated usefu

nd the delerned incon

Share-based compansalion
Under LS
senace condition anly, an

GAAR for awards that

i graced o
entity has to choose as an accounting policy

sither to (1) recognize a charge on an accelerated basis to reflact the
5 it soours |
amortize the entirg grant on a siraight-line

5 similar to the method under IFRS) ar {2)

S ovEr the longest vasting

period

IFAS 51 RAlGn ExXpanse is recognized on
an accelerated method where an entity recognizes compansation cost
ovar the requisite service period for each separately vesting portion of
f the award w

5 ndre-i

sl COFTIpar

the award as

in e, multiple awards, Ea

portion is treated as a separate grant, &s each portion has a different
vesting pesiod

drwsl Proport 5111

onsolidated Financial Statements

fel

Tha Group has adopted the s ht-ling method in the prepara
consolidated # ts. Cor

will be different under U.5. GAAP and IFRS

al stalerr smsation exg

nse recognized

Deferred financing costs
Under U5 GAAR fees paid to
ncurmad iIn

enders and other thind-party costs

relation 1o a debt refinancing are o and
b
as modified or extinguished in accordance with U.S. GAAR If the debit

is extinguished, fees paid to lenders are included in gain of loss on

accounted for diffe asgihc af such de

tly depending on

extinguighment of i othr thind-

Ty <o
deferred financing costs and amortized as an adjustment of interest
expanse over the term of the amended debt instrument.

Under IFFRS, if an exchange of debt ingtruments or modification of 1erms

is accountad for as an extinguishment, all fees and costs incurmed ane

=0gnized 11, thare i no

nifd-party

differenca in ihe treatment for fees paid to lendars and other th
costs

n addition, delerad & anted in the consolidated

g cosls are o
balanca sheels as either assets or a reduction of the debt balance
wnider U5, GAAP wi

b

they can or

sresented in the consolidated

: @ redy W debi balance under IFRS.

ghes




26.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN LS. GAAP AND IFRS [continuad)

Thera are other differences between LS. GAAP and (FRS relavant to the
accounting policies of the Group, Such differences do not have a material
VS bar 31, 2011 {
2010 and net income (loss) attributable to the Company during the years
andad Decembar 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 but may affect future periods and
set out Bedow:

ct an the Con efiers

pity &% at D

Impairment of assels
(1 sr LS, GAAPR entitie
measure impairment. In step 1, entities perform a recoverabdity test by

comparing the expected undiscounted future cash flows to be derived from
¢ st

th gt with its carmyir armournt, IF th N
step 2 is required, and the antity must record an impairment loss calculated

as the excess of the asset's carrying amount over its fair value. Fair value

ved to sell a

in an orderdy transacton between market

ed as “the price that would be med

sler a liabilit

participants at the measuremeant date”.

t's

Undar IFRS, the impanmant 1085 is calculated as the excess of the ase
Carrying amount ower its recovarabla amount. The recowvarable amount (s the

higher of an asset's (1) fair value less costs to sall and (2 e in use. “Fair

0515 10 Sell” s defined “the amount oblanable from the sale
of an asset or cash-generating unit in an arm's length transaction batwean
knowledgeable, wiling parties, less the costs of disposal®. Whan entities

calculate value in use, they discount the expected fulure cash flows to be

genarated by the asset to their net present value

Under .5, GAAPR, if the recoverability test in step 1 is passed,

{ the assel is less tha

is not recorded even il the fair value o
Accordingly, an impairment loss may be recorded wunder IFRS but
y not be recorded under U.S. GAAP under the same sat of circumstances
arded under both U5, GAAP and IFRS, the
amount of the impalrment loss may not be the same under US. GAAR and
IFRS because the fair val
[urcder IFAS)

its. carrying

Wher logs ig n

M T i

lue (under LLS. GAAP) and recoverable amount

P
y cliffer,

1, 2010 and 200

Dwring the years ended December 31, 201

the management

i 1 that the

Group ¢o (gt

amount of impairment loss recorded under U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Thi@ri ar o g 1y Exirtan

1.5, GAAP and IFRS in the pra
and classification of items in the consolidated statements of operations,
balance sheets and statements of cash flows. In addition, there are
differences fini Wl staterment sclosure  required  betwaan LS
GAAP and IFAS. Such differences do not Ve Impact o
sharaholders” equity as at Decamber 31, 2011 and 2010 or net income (loss)
attributable to the Cor ended December 31, 2001,

2010 and 2009,

di

d COmpa

vy during the year

Annual flmport 2011 L.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

26. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.5. GAAP AND IFRS (continued) "
The material adjustmeants necessary to restate net income {loss) attributable

mpany and the Company’s shareholders' eguity in accond

1346 ¥, B ]
= e 94 AT

2505 a4 Tl

eliry] ") 57

1634 210 1448

3,386 - -

20,126
5,220 = =

i3 drvensil Boport 30711




26.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEMN U.5. GAAP AND IFRS [continued)
Decembar 31
2011 2010

The Company's shareholders’ equity as reported
ur 1.5, GAAP

IFRS adjustments.
Capitalization of amortization of land use rights

52,856,165 52,523,191

61,143 47,797

property and equipmant 1,706 1,480
Riac n amartization of defermed

fi g COStE 3,388 -
Rawversal of deferrad 1ax in rela n o

land usa rights (11,155) (8,513
Dhgcsr ortization of kang

a result of change in assigned valee of

land use rights 7,347 & Bd2
Additional depreciation of proparty and

equipmant in relation 1o diference in

capitalization of amortization of

land usa rights and bomowing costs (5.597) 3,568

rt ol |

T l=ls .
axtinguishmeant of debt (29,328) -
(5,220)

under IFRS

2,978,437 32565218

vificant consolid o Sheets :

5 reported under LS. GAAP to

as reporied

ar

as follows:

Decambar 31,
2011 2010

Property and equipment, net:
52,855,429 52,671,835

Capitalization of amortization of
land usa rights as proparty and

62,181 47,787
cosis as property and equipment 1,708 1,488
Additional deg n of property an

equipment in relation to difference
pitalization of amortization of

usa rights and barrowing costs (5.597) (3,5648)

sitalization of
and equipmeant a10 -

Under IFRS £2,714,620 £2.717.613

Dafarred financing costs
As reportad 5
IFRS ad 13
Reduction in amertization of deferred
financing costs 3,286

42,738 § 45387

1o logs

g sgnized as pa
on extinguishment of dabt (29,328 -
Lnder IFAS 5 16,7968 & 45,387
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

26. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN U.5. GAAP AND IFRS (continued)

Decembar 31
2011 2010
S8 nights, net:
ported S D42988 5 428155
IFRS adjustments
Decreasa in amertization of land wse rights
E a rasult of L= n g Jfslglile
of land use righls 7,347 4,842
Raversal of deferrad tax kabilities
recognized upon acquisition of land
(72,707) (24,722

Feduction in land use nghts recognized
upon acquisition of subsidiares as a
¥

it ian of

hZEGn
of land usa rights and start-up costs
as property and equipment

Undar IFRS $ 408,275
Defarred tax liabilities:
As reported & TOO2B 5 18010
IFRS adjustments
Raversal of defarrad tax in ralation to
11,155 8,513
] of delterrad tax kat
recognized upon acquisition of land
use rights _ (ma.T0T) [24,T22)
Under IFRS $ 1476 § 1,607

Decembar 31

2011

2010

Additional paid-in capital;

IFRS adjush
Additional share-based compensation
racognized
Under IFRS

$3223274 33095730

$ 3,220,299

Mancantialling ints

Ag reporied
IFRS adjusiments;

Nencontrodling interests” share on
capitalization of amortization of land use
rights as property and equipment

Moncontrodling intene share on
d 10} ony of land use
rights as a rasullt of change in asshyned
value of land use rights

Moncontrolling interests” share on

b

M A

reverzal of deferred tax in relation 1o
lamd usa rights
Under IFRS

§ 231497

5,338

626

drrwsl Ploport 511
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DIFFERENCES BETWEEMN U.5. GAAP AND IFRS [continued)
Decembar 31

2011

2010

Accumulated losses:

Junigl e
IFRS adj
Capita
rights
Additional ¢
g5 property and equipment
Reversal of deferred tax in relation to

THeNTS:
tion of amortization of land use

land ug
Dwcreass in amo
a5 a result of changa in assigned value
of land use rights
Addetional depreciation of proparty and
equipmant in relation to difference in
on of

ation of land use nghts

ortization of land use

II\JlI'.:"f and :.lf.lllu'.\'ll'lg cosls
Addstional share-based compensation
recognized

R L1 tiza al deferréd

financing costs
Financing costs recognized as part of
i it of debt

Reduction in net loss attributable to
nonconirolling interesis

Under IFRS

5 2E2510 3

(61,143
(1,706)

11,155

{7.,347)

5,997
6,025
(3.386)
29,328

5,220
§ 266253 §

577,166

{4,843

3,568

4,386

539,505

ficant consolidated

under IFRS is as follo

reporied under LS. GAAP to am

s of operations

‘fear Endad Decembar 31,

2011 2010 2009
General and administrative
B
Ag raporied $ 220224 § 199830 § 130,986
IFRS adjustment
Additional share-based
COMPEnSGAtion recognizad 1,639 210 1,449
Under IFRS $ 221863 5§ 200040 5 132435
Amartizal f rights:
As reportad § 34401 5§ 19522 § 18395

IFRS adjustments:
Capitalization of amartization
of land usa rights as
ity and agquipment

n amartiz W of

{13,348)

land use rights as a result

of changa in assigned

valua of land use rights
Linder IFRS 5

S05)
18,550 S

{941}
18,199 §

(6,872)

3419
10,582
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

26. DIFFERENCES BETWEEMN U.5. GAAP AND IFRS (continued) Year Ended December 31,
Year Ended December 31 2010 2009
2011 2010 2009
25193 § -]
Depreciation and amortization:
As raported $§ 259234 S $ 141,864
IFRS adjustment: = -
ek 54521 & - & -
pr B3 & Qo0 £ 1
relation to difference in 16% 3 delly 3 132
capitalization of
amortization af lan q
rights and barrowing co 2,029 1,847 1,057 - T z
Undear IFFRS $§ 261,253 & 238,153 % 142971
b
capitalized inte 5812 & - § -
As reported § 113806 5 £ 31,824
IFRS adjustmeant:
5,338) - -
equipmant 7l (1,129) Ll
Under IFRS £ 113589 § 92228 § 31.915
Amortization of defemed 526) - -
financing costs:
As raparted § 14208 § 14 £ 5074 s i -
IFRS ac it 2 5 ]
Ry imartization of
daferred financing costs (3.386) - - .
Reduction in capit .
19

10,817

drwsl Proport 5911



27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of subsidianies ane as follows:

Mama of Subs

o

Establishmant/

Cperation

Nominal Va ¥
and Fully Paid Share
Capital®Quota Capital

Attributable Proportion
af Morminal W
d 3 Capits
ta Capital Held
by the Group

2011
Altira Developments Macau Ordinary shares 100%** 100%% Casino and hotel developmant
MOP1,000,000
Altira Hotel Macau Cuata al — 100%™ Hotel related businessas
MOP25,000
COD Theatre Limited Quota ¢ al 109G 100%°* Parforma
MOP25,000 e
Golden Fulure (Management Services) Limited Macau CQueta capital — Management services provider
MOP25,000
MCE Certai Orcinar arg — MR Investmen
Islands USs0.0
MCE Dasigns and Brands Limitad BVI Ordinary shara — 100%™ Inactiva
USE1
MCE Finance Cayman Ordinary shares — 100%6" Financing
Islands ussi12.02
MCE Hoddings L ted Cayman Ordinary shara 100%:" 100%"* Investrmant ho
I 3 USs0.M
MCE Heidings Three Limited Cayman Ordinary shares — 100%™  Inwestment holding

(formarly known as MPEL (Greater Chinal

Lirmitesd)

MCE Holdings Two Limited
(formarly known as MPEL
Macau Par 1) Lirnitad)

Islands

BWI

Class A shares: USS0.4

Class B shares: US51.6
Ordanary share —

(P

100%"

Investment holding
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY [continued)

Attributable Proportion

of Nominal WValue of

Incarporation’ MNominal Valy [E: Share Capitaly
Establishme and Fully Paid Share Quota Capital Held by
Mame of Subsidiary Oparation Capital/Quota Capital thie Group Pr
2011 2010
MCE | 1l Lirmitesd Hang Kang Ok 100%:* 100%° king SOTvices pr
HKS1
MCE Management Limited Hong Kaong Ordinary share — 1 100%"  Inactive
HES1
Maloo Growm (Cafe) Limi Macauy Cuota capital 100%:* 100%*  Catiring ops gl
MOP25,00 managament services
providar
Melco Crown COD (CT) Hotel Limited Macau Cuota capital — 100%™ 10 Inactive
Malco Crown ([COD) Developmants Macay 100%"* 0% Integrated entertainment resort
devalopmant
Malco Crown COD {GH) Hotel Limited Macau 100%™ Hotal related businesses
Malca Crovwn (SO0 M 100% 100 % Hotil rilated by
Malco Crown COD (HR) Hotal Limited Macauy 100%:" *  Inactive
MOP25,
Melco Grown (COD) Retail Services Limited Macau Quota ¢ 100%:" Retail and shops oper:

Melco Crown (COD) Ventures Limited

Mealco Crown Gamin

drrwsl Ploport 511

Magau

Macau

MOPZE0,000,000
Class B shares’
MOPT20,000,000

100%*  100%*

100%™ 10

Inactive

Casino operations and

mant holding




a7,

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY [continued)

P ol
Incorporation’
Establishment/

Cparation

Nominal Vakee of Issuad
and Fully Paid Share
Ci

al'Quata Cag

Attributable Proportion
of Mominal Va o
|zsuad Share Capital/
Quota Capital Hedd by

thie Growp

Melco Crown Hospitality and Sarvices. Limited

Melco Grown [Macau Peninsula) Developments
Limited
Pa

Meleo Crown [M ulE) Hetel L

Melco Grown Security Services Limited
Mocha Cafe Limited

Maocha Slot Group Limited

Mocha Skot Managament Limited

MPEL Caotai Developme

MPEL {Delawara) LLC

MPEL International Limited

MPEL Inwestmeants Limited

MPEL Mominea One Limitad

Macau

Macau

Macau

Macau

BV Macay

Macau

Macau

United States
of America

1

Cuota capital —

MOPZ25,000
Quota capital —
MOP25,000

Quota capital =

MOP1,000,000
Quola capital —
MOP25,000
Ordinary shares

Uss5100
Quota capital —
MOP25,000
Chucda ¢

MOPFZ5,0
Capital contri
USs100

Ordinary shareg —

sS4

ras

Ordinary share —
USE0.0M

2011 2010
1 100%:"
1005
100" 100%™
100%* 100%™
100%™
10004 100%
1 1005
100%** 100%™
100%™ 100%™
1005
1009 100%
1005

Management servicas provider

Managament services provider

Inactive

Management services provider

Inactive

Imwestma

Inactive

Inactive

Investmeant holding

Irstr

halding

Investmant holding
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27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY [continued)

Plg ol
Incorporation’
Establishment/

o

ol Nominal

Nominal Value of lssuad
and Fully Paid Share

ibutabde Proportion

s oof

Isgued Share Caphtal/
Quota Capital Held by

Mama of Subsic Oparation Capital"Quata Capital the Group Principal Ag
2011 2010
MPEL Mormingss Thraa Limited Cayman D0%™ 100%6** It rent holding
Islands USED.01
MPEL Mominea Two Limited Cayman Ordinary share — 100%™ 100%™ Investment holding
Islands LIS50.01
MPEL Projects Lirmited BVl O ¥ ghang — 100%™ 100%:* Inwestrant holding
uss1
MPEL Properties (Macau) Macau Quota capital = 100%* 100%™  Proparty holding
MPEL Senicas Limitad Hang Kong = 100%:" 100%:" Management Senices provider
MPEL Sarvicas (US) Ltd United Comma 0% 100%™ Management services provider
ol Amer LUS5100,(
MPEL Ventures Limited Bv Ordinary shara — 1009 100%"  Investment holding
Studia City Developme B0 M @rvhe S0t
P maaint
Siudio City Hospitality and Services Limited Macau Quota capital — 605" MN/A Management services provider
i y Kngwn MSC B it @ MOP25, 000
Servigos Sociedade Unipessoal Limitada)
Studio City Hotels Limited Macau Cuota capital — 605%™ MiA Heital related businesses
I arly Kr s MSG Haotéds, Lir MOP25,000
Studio City Sery Limited B0 M Inwestrment holding
(formerly known as MSC Servicos Limitada)
MSCT Limr acal A55 (Y Inactive and dissohad
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2¥. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
aAttributable Proportion

Place of of Morminal WVa of
Inconporation’ Nominal Vakee of Issuad lzsuad Share Capital/
Establishment/ and Fully Paid Share Quota Capital Hedd by
Cperation Capital'Quata Cay the Groap Principi
2011 2010
Mw Cotai Entertain LC Linited States Capital contribution BO%™ T Investmant holding
of America USE100
Studio City Entertainment Limited (formarly Macau Quota capital — BO%™ MSA Management services provider
known as MSC Diversdas, Lim a and MOP100,000
Mew Cotal Entertaimemant (M. Limnibech
Studic City Company Limited Bvi Ordinary share - G0 N/ Inactive
UsE
Studie City Finance Limitad BWV1 Ordenary shara — B0%™ MiA Ineestmant holding
uss
Studic City (HK) Limited [formarly known Hong Kang Qrdinary shara B0% LT Managerment Services provider
ag Macs o City (Hong Kong) Limited HES1
and Macao Studio City (Hong Kong) Limited)
Studio City Holdings Limited =11] Ordinary shara 605%™ WA Inwestmant holding
Uss
Studia City Holdings Two Limsted BWI Ordenary ghara — BO%™ MiA Investmant halding
{fermerly known as Cybar Meighbour Limited) uss
Studio City Inbe all Mol Bvl Oirdangry BO0%6" hrs Irastr
US$10,000
Studie City Iinvestments Limited BWvl Ordinary shara — GO WA Inwestment holding
Uss1
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY [continued)

¥ e during the year excepl for the Senior Notes msued by MCE
Finanoa as daclosed in Nota 11, which the Group had no interast.
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BALANCE SHEETS

Decembear 31

Additional Information — Financial Statements Schedule 1
Financial Information of Parent Company

Decambar 31,

2011

2011 2010
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents § 77805
Armounts dué from affikated companies 1,551
Amounts dua from subsidiaries 49,849

Income tax rece
Propaid oo

currant

:!'r,‘.;ll CLrTEn
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
LONG-TERM PREPAYMENT
RESTRICTED CASH

DEFERRED FINANGING COST
TOTAL

135,211
T 3415113
135
364,807 -
5,159 —

§3.920,425 $2.822,672

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

surrgnt liab

Income tax payable
Amounts dua to

ed companies

due te
g due to shareholders

et [Rakilities

§ 8317 % 1,600

67 -
52 127
181,609 181,771
- 36

5 190045 3 183,834

LONG-TERM DEET

§ 718,085 §

ADVANCE FROM A SUBSIDIARY 56,140 -
LOANS FROM SHAREHOLDERS - 115,647
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
ary shares at USS0.01 par valwe per share
(Avthorized — 7,300, 000 2,500,000,000
shares as of Decamber 31, 2011 and 2010 and
1,653.101,002 and
658,111 3 2011
D, respectivaly) 16,531
shares, at USS0.01 par value per share
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respe {106}
Additional pasd-in capital 3223274
Accumulated ather comprehensive losses [1,034)
A ted 1o (282,510}
To ty 2956155
TOTAL 53,920,425
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES $ (534,834}
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES £ 3,730,380
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Additional Information — Financial Statements Schedule 1
Financial Informaiin of Parent Company

STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME [LOSS)

aes Aocumulahed
5 2869257 §
~ = = - 545
= = = 0o
& - -
% %
955 = 30
=] B&
1,605,858,111 16,056 B4 145 [ 164




STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME [LOSS) {continued)
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Additional Information — Financial Statements Schedule 1
Financial Inforuiin of Parent Company

NOTES TO FIMANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULE 1

1.

i has been preparsd using the same accounting
policies as sat out in the Companys consclidated financial statements
axcept that the parent company has usad equity methad to account for its
nvesiments in subsidiaries.

2. Long-term debt

T

Company issued the AMB Bonds and obfained the Deposit-Linked Loan
during the year ended December 31, 2011 as disclosed in Note 11 1o the
Group's consclidated financial statements,

Scheduled maturities of the long-term debl of the Company as of December

31, 2011 ara as follows:

‘Yoar ending Dacember 31,

2012 $ -
2013 718,085
$ 718,085

it Szl Flogort 3011




Financial Summary

Yaar Ended Decembar 31
2011 2010 2009 2008
{In thousands of LIS%, except share and per share data and operating data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Met revanues 5 3,830,847 % 2641976 & 73§ 1416134 &
Tetal operating costs and espensas (3,385,737 5 } 4, 920) (1.414,960)
1] - 445110 % 92512 % 5 i 3
Mat income (loss) % 288 Bdd 5 (10,525 § s s
Met loss attribuiable to nonconfrolling interasts 5812 - - = -
Meat income (loss) atfributable 1o Melco Crown
Er nt 294,656 5 3 (178,151)
Het income (loss) attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment
per Share
Basic i 0184 3 0007 % 5 0002 §
— Diluted 5 0182 % (oooT) & 5 (ooozy s
Met income (loss) attributable te Melce Crown Entertalnment
per ADS
— Basic ] 0551 % [uoz0p S 5 5
— Diluted % 0547 % (0.0z0p & § 5
Weighted average Shares used in calculating net incoma (loss)
attributable to Melco Crown Entertainment per Share
— Basic 1,604,213,324 1,320,946,942
= Dilutad 1,616,854 682 1,320,846 942
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Financial Summary

Daceamber 31,

2011 2010 2009 2007
{In thousands of US$)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,158,024 441823 & 292,598 B15,144 835419
Restricted cash 364,807 167,236 236,119 67977 208,963
Total 6,269,980 4,884 440 4 BEZ 845 4,485 442 3,817,059
Tatal 803,119 675,604 & 480,516
Total 2,325,980 1.528,195 616,376
Total 3,082,328 2,086,838 1,188,558
Me 231,497 - = -
Total 3,187,652 2,500,044 2,428,541
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Exacutive Director
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Ce-Chainmian and Chiel Execyutive Oificar)
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Definitions and Glossary

DEFINITIONS

“2006 Share Incentive Ptan® refers to a share incenfive plan as adopled
and revised by the Board on Movember 28, 2006 and March 17, 2009
and as approved by the Shareholders on December 1, 2006 and May 18,
2009, respactively, which aims 1o provide incentives in the form of awands
to consultanis, employees and members of the Board with the wiew of
promoting further success of our Company;

“2011 Cradit Facilities™ relers 1o the credit facilities entered inlo pursuant 1o
an amendment agreemant dated June 22, 2011 between, amongst others,
Melco Crown Gaming, Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch as agent
and DB Tru (Hong Komg) Lirmited 2 ity agend, comprising a term
lzan facility and a revolving credil 1ac for & total amount of HKS0.36
billion [approximataly US$1.2 billion), and ch raduce and remove certain
clions in the City of Dreams Project Fa

Y,

rasl

“2011 Share Incentive Plan” refers 1o a share incentive plan as adoplad
by our Company pursuant to a resolution passad by our Sharsholder at an
axtraordinary general meeting on October &, 2011 and became effective
on the Listing Date, which aims o provide incentives in the form of awards
1o consultants, employees and membaers of the Board, with the wview of
promoting further success of our Company;

“Adusted EBITDA™ refers o earmnings before interest, laxes, depreciation,
amortization, pre-opening costs, development costs, property charges and
athars, re-based compeansation, and other non-oparating income and

EXPENSES;

‘Adjusted proparty EBITDA® refers to earnings befora inferest, taxes,
depreciation, amortization, ) costs, development costs, property
charges and ofh sation, corporate and olber
expenses and other non-operating income and expenses;

“ADSSE" rafers 1o our Amarican Depo h of whi

ihrea Sharas;

ry Shings, ch reprosents

“Altira Macau®™ refers to an integrated casine and hotel d
[ to AS ralling
by Altira Developments Limited, our subsidiary;

welopment that
g i May 200

and wnéd

“Articles of Association” refers to our articles of association conditionalty
adopted on Oclober 8, 2011 and which has become aMective on the Listing
Date of December 7, 2011;

“Board”™ and “Board of Directors” n y the board of Di

constituted committes tharsol,

rctors or a duly

*China”, *mainland China” and "PRC" refer to the People’s Republic of China,
g Homg Kong, M

“City of Dreams" refars 1o an integrated resort located on two adjacent pleces
of land in Cotai, Macau, which opened in June 2008, and curmently fes
casing areas and thres luxury hotels, including a collaction of retail brands, a
wet stage performance theater and other entertainment wenues, and owned
by Melco Grown (SO0 Devalopments;

Ires a

“City of Dreams Project Facility” refers 1o the project facility dated September
5, 2007 entered into betwesn., amongs! others, Melco Crown Garr:ng a8
borrower and certain other subsidianes as guarantors, for a total sum of
USE1.75 billion bor the purposes of financing, among other things, cerain
project costs of City of Dreamns, as amended and supplemanted from time fo
tirme;

“Cotai” or% 10 an aréa of meclaimed land located belween the s of
Taipa and Coloane in Macau;
"Crown” refars to Crown Limited, an Australian-listed corporation, which

compléted s acquisition of the gaming busmesses and nvesiments of PBL,
new known as Consolidated Media Holdings Limited, on Decemiber 12, 2007;




“Crown Asia Investmenis®™ rafers 1o Crown Invastm
formerly known as PAL Asia Investments Limited, which is
owned by Crown and w

sis Py, Ltd.,
i indiracthy
incorporated in the Cayman Islands but is now a
Ay,

“Crown Entertainment Group Holdings™ refar to Crown Entertainment Group
Haoldings Pty, Lid., a company incorporated an June 19, 2007 under the laws
of Aig idiary of Crown,

alia and

“Daposit-Linked Loan™ refars to a deposit linked facility for HEKS2.7 billion
(equivalent to US$353.3 million bazed on exchange rate on fransaction dafe
3 May 20, 2011, which Y A ogil of RMB2.3
i USS353,3 ion based on exchange rate on transaction dak

ihe Direcclo de Inspecglo e Coordenagdo de Jogos (ihe
on and Coordination Bureau), a depariment of the Publ
n of Macau;

“Dirgctors” refers 1o the directons) of our Company,
"Exchange Act” refars to the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934;

“Greater

China™ melers to mainkand China, Hoag Hong and Macau,
coll i

i

“Group® refers to our Company and cur subsidiares and, in respect of
the period before our Company became the holding company of such
d on the busir t Group

“HK$" and “H.K. dollars® refer to the legal

v of Hong Kong,
“Hang Kong™ rafers to the Hong Kong Special Administration Region of the PRG;

“Hong Kong Listing™ and “Listing”™ refer to the listing of our Shares on the
Main Board of Stock Ext i Decambar 7, 2011

“IFRS" refers to International Financial Reporting Standards;

g Date” refers fo Dacember 7, 2011, on which our Shares are listed and
from which dealings in our Shares are parmitted to take place on the Main
Board of the S10ck Exchange,

“Listing Aules” refers o the Rules Govemning the Listng of Sacurities on tha
Stock Exchangs, as amended plemanted or othenwiss madified fram tima
to tim

cau” and “Macau SAR™ refer to the Macau Spaecial Administr
e PRAG;

e Region

“Macau Tower® refers to the Macau Tower GConwvention & Entertainmant
Centre, owned by Sociedade de Turismo e Diversoes de Macau, S.A. and

xdd By Shun Tak Holdings

s Limitad:

“MCE Fing

G

2" reliers Lo our whally-owned subsidiary MCE Fir
an Islands exempted company with limited Rability;

"Malco™ rafers to Melco International Developmant Limited, a Hong Kong
listed compar

“Medco Grown (GOD) Developments™ refers to our subsidiary, Melco Grown
(COD) Developments Limited, a Macau company through which we hold the
land and buddings for City of Dre

.
(LLF

Ch o Gan
g} Lirmitisd, @ M

" orefers o our Sul (= e

company and the

ary, Mealc
haldér of our Subconc

Ehacn Laisurg” sefers to Malco Les and Emtartainment Group Limited,
a company incorporated under the laws of the Beitish Virgin Islands and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Melco,

“Mocha Clubs® col
h apenad in Sepl
Opsarali

y refers to clubs with gaming machénes, the first of
2003, and ane now the |2 LI Sing based
of abecironic gaming machings in Macau, ad by Malco
Crown Gaming;

w ibe




Definitions and Glossary

al Coda" refers to the Model Code for Secu Transactions by
= of Listed issuers as sat out in Appendix 10 to tha Listing Rules

on of Se Dealers Autormated

*MASDAQ" refers 1o the National Ags
Quotation Sy

‘Mew Colal Holdings® refers to New Cotai Holdings, LLG, a company
incorporated in Delaware, the United States on M 24, 2006 U

of Dl primgrity owned by US fu
Silver Point Capital, L.P. and Oaktree Capital Management, LP

lavy:

Subconca
Melco Crown G

o™ sube:

rafers. to the Macau gar

gsion held by

‘Patacas” and “MOP" refer to the legal currency of Macau;

“PBL" refers
corporation that is now know

and Brog ng Limited, an Australian-
as Consolidated Media Holdings Limited;

*Renmink™ and “AMB” refer to the legal currency of China

*Ravolving Cradit Facility” rafers to the revolving credit facility granted under
tha City of Dreams Project Facility, originally for a sum of US5250 million

“AMB Boac refers to the AMB2.3 billion aggreg: principal amount of
3.75% bonds due 2013 issued by our Company on May 9, 2011;

by
40% owned by New Cotai Holdings;

*BECT reders 1o the LS, Se

md Exg

*SFO" rafers to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), &3 amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time 1O lime;

drwssl Bleport 311

"SGX-5T" rafers to Singapore Exchange Sacurities Trading Limited;

“Senior Motes” refers to the initial notes (i.e. the USS600 milion aggregate
principal amount of 10.25% senior notes due 2018 issued by MCE Finance
on May 17, 2010) and the exchange notes (.. approximately 99.98% of
the amtagl nol nber 27, 2010, exchanged for 10,2
semsor notes due 2018, registered under the U.5. Securities Act of 1
collectivelylk

s which weang, on De

S 3, par value of USS0.01 each:

" refar 1o our ordinary sha

rafars to holder(s) of our Sha from time to tima;

“Shareholdar(s)

“SPV" refers to Melco Crown SPV Limited, formerly known as Melco PEL
SPY Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company which is S0¢/50 cwned by
Malco Lesurs

wd Crown Asia | sirments;

“Stock Exchange® refers to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

"Studio City™ refers t0 an integrated r |
and gaming facilities proposed 1o be developed under the shareholder
agraement batween ouw Company and Mew Cotad, LLC;

g entertainmant, r

"LISE™ and "LLS, dollars™ refer 8o the kegal curréncy of the United States;

“U.5° and “United States” refer to the United States of Amaerica, its
tarritor possessions and all a Sicthon;

“U.8, GAAPR® refers to the accou
United States:

ng principles generally accepted in the

“we”, “us”, “pur”, “our Company”, “the Company”, “MCE™ and “Melco Crown
Entertainment™ refer to Melco Grown Entertainment Limited and, as the context
reguires, its predecessor entities and its consolidated subsidiaries; and

“Wynn Macau” refers to Wynn Resorts (Macau) S.A




GLOSSARY

“avarage

“ADR"

“cage”

“chip*

“concession”

“drop”

“drop box"

“gamaing machine b
[wolurme]®

viding total rpom ra R5S Service

charges, il any) by total mMoms cccupeed, L&, aver

price of cocupded rooms per day

a8 secure room within a casino with a facili

allows patrons to exchange cash for chips required to

par af 1o Exe 5

yate in g

g actvll

e
for cash

round token that s used on casino gaming tabdes in
liesu of cash

games

g and ¢

an administrative contract which
Concessionaing, or the antit

ad o operats

pursuant 1o
holding the concession, is

¥

forty i cl

casinos in Macau

the amount of cash to purchase gaming chips and
promational wouchers that are depesited in a gaming
4

y drop bax, pl

Casing cage

a box or container thal serves as a repository for cash,

chips, chip purchase wvouchers, credit markers and

ficar i 10 1 N e C

P

by

on each table game

total amount wagered in gaming machines

Ming promoter” or

ket represantativa”

“hold percentage”

bl r@asort”

drop” (previously known

as "“nons=ralling chip

an indwidual or cofporate entity who, for the purpose
of promoting rolling chip ga
d a

ning

BITanges

customar frans tian, provides

credit in its sole discretion if authorized by a gaming
operator, and arranges food and beverage services and

antertainment in aoch for commissions or othar

compe

alion from a gaming operato

nd
commissions) as a perceniaga of drop or rolling chip

the amount of win ated before discounis

volume

a resort which provides customerss with a combination
of haotel accommodations, casings of Gaming areas,

retall and dining facilities, MIGE space, entertainmant

wvenues and spas

a customear whio play

5 af Bath takle
on public mass gaming floors by mass market patrons
for cash stakes that are typically lower than those in

the rolling chip seg

the amount of table s drog in the mi

table games segn

LT
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Definitions and Glossary

market tab
hold percantage”™
(previously known
asg “ne -

“non-negotiable chip™

“non-rolling chip® or
“traditional cash chip®

“gccupancy rate”

y par
ar "REVPAR"

“rolling chip’

games m

5 markel table ¢ S Win as a percentage of mass

markat table games drop

vgs, Conventions and Exhibdtions, an
1o 1onsm irmndd

ad 1o refer

Qe groups b
PUrpesa

togather for an e

promational casing chip that is not to be exchanged for
¢ 1

chip that can be exchanged for cash, used by mass
market patnons 1o Maksa Wagess

the average percentage of
occupied during a period

hote

available

rooms

VG

by tota bla, theraby

ombination of hotel average daily reom

rmoms a

represanting a

rates and oocupancy

usad by rolling chip

drwsl Proport 011

“ralling chip patron™

“ralling chip wolurme’

’ r:'||||r|r| r:ﬂl[} win rate
[ ously known
as “rolling chip hold
percentage”)

“shot machine

“wet stage perfonmance
tar”

a player who is primarily a VIP player and tyg

recaives various forms of complmeantary
from  the gaming promoters of COoNCessionanes of
PO Rirgs

the amount of non-negotiable chips wagered and kst

by the rolling chip markel segment

ralling chip table games win a5 a perc
0 voleme

g of ralling

L=

traditional gaming machine operated by a single player
and electronic multiple-player gaming machinas

JelfT it for the operation of ¢ % of
fort and chance in casinos between the entity
holding the concession, or the concessionaire, a
subconcessionaire and Macau government, pursuant
1o which

SubCon

operate s Of fortw

Macau

armo

vl and

arded

the approximately 2,000-saat
dasigned 1o = “The House of D

theater

spacifically
featar” show

actual win exprassed as a percantage of gaming
machine handla




Appendix | — 2006 Share Incentive Plan and 2011 Share Incentive Plan

2006 Share Incentive Plan

Wi adopted the 2008 Share Incentive Plan 1o attract and retain the best available

parsonnel for positions of substantial responsibility, provide additional incentives to

employees, directors and consultants and to promote the success of our business.
Tha 2006 Share Incentiva Flan has bean succesded by cur 2011 Shara Incantive

Plan. Mo further awards may be granted under the 2006 Share Incentive Plan. Al

subgaquent awards will b2 mseed under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan, Awands
the 2006 Sha

et 1o the

Tha following paragraphs describe the principal terms included in the 2006 Share

Incantive Plan.

Types of Awards. Tt
Plar

wards permitted 10 be granted under our 2006 Share

Inca uded o ricied Shares

Eligibility. We were permitted fo grant awards to employees. directors and
consultants of our Company or any of our related entities, incleding Melco, Grown,

other joint venture entities of Melce or Grown, cur own subsidiaries or any entities

in which we hold a substantial ownership interast. Howaver, we could grant optons

that are inte

ded to qualify as incentive share options only to our amploye

Maximum Number of Shares. Under the 2006 Share Incantive Plan, the maximuam
aggregate number of Shares which could be issued pursuant to all awards
fincluding Shares issuable upon exercise of options) was 100,000,000 over 10

years.

Plan Administration. Our compensation committes would administer the 2006

Share Incentive Plan and determine the provisions and terms and conditions of

each award grant.

Award Agreement. Awards granted were 1o be evidencad by an award agreemant

th forth the

ions for each awand

Exgrcise Price and Term of Awards. In general, the plan administrator would
determine the exercise price of an option and set forth the price in the award
agreemant. The exercise prica could be a fixed or variable price related to the fair
market value of cur Shares. If we granted an incentive share option to an employee
wiho, at the time of that grant, owned Shares represanting mone than 10% of tha
o af all i our id nat be
1 1109 of the

The tarm of each award would be stated in the award agreemant, and would not

voting

capital, the ex

less the air market valug of cur Shares the date of that g

excaed 10 years from the date of the grant

Vesting Sechedule. In general, the plan admi tor determaned, of the award

agreement would specily, the vesting schedule.

As of Decermber 31, 2011 the wn
St

granted wnder the 2008

Incentive Plan represented approximately 0.589% of owr issued share

1ed shang oplige

capital. If all the unvested share options ware to be exercised and vested during
the year endaed December 31, 2011 on an unaudited pro-forma basis, theme would
be & dilution effect on the shareholdings of our Shareholders of approximatety
0.58 ngs per Share of US20.0011

% and basic eann

Annual fleport 5011 L.




Appendix | — 2006 Share Incentive Plan and 2011 Share Incentive Plan

2011 Share Incentive Plan
We adopied the 2011 Share Incentive P

0 provide aur am , dirpctors and

g
consultants with incentives 1o increase shareholder value, and 1o attract and retain
the services of those upon whom we depend for the success of our business. The
2011 Share Incentiva Plan was conditionally approved by our Shareholders at the
extracrdinary genaral meeting held on October &, 2011 and became effective upon
commencament of dealings i our Shares on the Stock Exchange on December T,
2011, The 2011 Share Incentive P

» Incentive Plan,

The following paragraphs summarize the principal terms of the 2011 Share

Imcantive Plan,

Types of Awards. The awards that may ba granted under the plan include oplions,

incentive share oplions, restricted Shares, share appreciation rights, dividend

equivalent rments, deferred sh d restricted

Eligibility. We may grant awards to employees, directors and consultants of our
Company, any parent or subsidiary of ocur Company, or any of our ralated antities
that our Board designates as a related entity for the purposes of the 2011 Share
Incentive Flan. Our compensation committee may from time to time salect from

among eligible individuals thoge to whom awards shall be granted, Howewver, only

employeds of our Company

of of @ parent or 4 v af gur Cor

pary ane eligible

10 receive incentive share option awards
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Maximum Number of Shares. The maximum aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued pursuant to all awards under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan is
100,000,000 Shares. This limit may be increased from time to time, but by no mone
than 10% of the Shares then in issue as at the date of the Shareholders’ meeting
to approve such increase. The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of

all outstand

ted and 10 be éxércised n shall not

dwands gri

exceed 30% of the Shares in |

@ from tirme to time, as prescribed under relevant
Listing Rules. Mo award has been granted under the 2011 Share Incentive Plan
during the year endad December 31, 2011

Maximum Entitlement of Option Holders. The maximum aggregate number of

Shares underlying an oplion grant shall mot, in any 12-month pehiod up to the

o 1% o

r of gran e of ings in issue on the date of grant,

unless Shareholders’ approval i5 ob ed in accordance with the Listing Rules,

The maximum aggregate number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of options
granted to a substantial Shareholder or an indepandant non-axecutive director of
our Company, or any of their respective associates, shall not excesd 0.1% of the
Shares In issue on the offer date or have an apgregate value, basad on the otficial
closing price of the Shares as quoted by the Stock Exchange on the offer date, in
of HKS5 m

B an, unless Shanehobd 1 in

appre
with the Listing Rules, Such limits may be amended from time 1o time by the Stock
Exchange. Our compensation committea may not grant options to a director, chief
executive or substantial Sharaholder of our Company, or any of their respactive
associates, without approval by independent non-executive Dwaclors on the
compensation committea at the time of auch detarmination.



Option Periods and Paymaents. Our compansat

n committee may in its discration
datermine, subject to the plan expiration perod: the period within which Shares
must be laken up undar an opticn; the minémum pariod, if any, for which an option

miust be held before it can be exercised; the amount, If any, payable on application

or acceptance of the option; and the period wi which payments er calls must or

gy bé made o b MUST D rép

Plan Administration. Our compansation committes will adm r tha 2011 Share

Incantive Plan and has the power to, among other actions, designate eligible
participants, detarming the number and types of awards to be granted, and set the

terms and conditions of each award grant

Award Agreement. Award o will b ad By an aw

S5 forth the terms, conditions and limitations for aach award,

Exercise Price. In general, the compensation committea may establish the
exercise price or purchese price, if any, of any award. The exercize price of an
option may be a fised or variable price related 1o the fair masket value of our

Shares, but in any event shall not be less thar

the highest of: the official closing

on the date s yption is aMered in writ [

price quoted on the Stock Exc

a pe

cipani, or the offer date; the average of the official closing prices as quoled

on tha Stock Exchangea for tha five business days immediately precading the offer

date; and tha nominal value of a Share. If we grant an incentive share option award

o an amployes who, at the time of that grant, owns Shares representing mare than
10% of the voting power of all classes of our Sharas, the exercise price may not be
less than 110% of the fair market value of cwr Shares on the date of that grant.

Term of Awards. The term of each award shall be stai

n the award agreement,

. If the panicipant Osases

all depend on the terms

ons of the award agreemant, For a participant pd an incentive

share option, upon theee menths of termination of employment as an employes, the

right to exercise the incentive share option shall be ravoked.

Tranaferability. Rights in awards are personal 10 parlicipans and, excs|

atherw d shall be

provided by our co

tian commitbes,

W,

triu prrid, or otharwise dis

s of By a participant other than by will or the laws

of descent and distribution.

Adjustments. In the event of any share split, combination or exchange of shares,

spin-off, recapitalizalion, reorganization, merger, consolidation oF any other change

vy our share capital, our compensation committes shall make propaort

equitable adj to reflect such change with respect &

sh

A

r and types of may be sseed under the plan; (56 the terms and

LT

conditions of

vy outstanding awards: and (§i) the grant price or axercise price par

shara for any outstanding awards.
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Change in Control Transactions. In the event of a change in the control of our
Company, ow compensation committes may in its sole discretion provide for
termination, purchase or realization of awards, or replacement of awards with other
rights or property. Upon the consummation of a merger or consolidation in which
a sale of substantiall

our Company is not the surdving e all of our assels,

the complete hguida

¢ dissolution of aur Com

awand will terrminate the ardd is

kg

il By the S

¢ gntity, If the

% the award or alaces it with a ©

o

E e

L

, o

replaces the award with a cash ing e program and provides for subsequent

payout, the replacement award or cash incentive program will automatically

become fully vested, exercisable and payable, as applicable, upon termination of

the pamicipants

ployment withoul cause within 12 months of such corporate

1 If the aw. pmed nor neplac bacarme fully

vl @xen from any repurchase or forfeiture r

immediately pricr to the effective date of such corporate transaction, provided that

the participant remains aligible on the affective date of the corporate transaction.

Amendment and Termination. Subject to applicable laws, our compensation

committes may terminate, amend o modidy the 2011 Share Incentive Plan upoa

obtaining the approval of our Board and the approval of the Shareholders for

the amended plan, However, no amendmaent, modiication or fermination &

adversaly affect in amy material rd previcusly granted under 2011

Share Incentive Plan or any pravicus plans, without the prior written consant of the

participant

Expiration. The 2011 Shara Inceniive P % after the date i

will expire 10 ye

becarme affective

@ INC@ntive

Plan after that

dhrrwzal Broport 5111

and 2011 Share Incentive Plan




Exhibit 99.2

Melco Crown Entertainment Limited
(the “Company”)

To Shareholders of the Company

Dear Sir or Madam,

The purpose of this letter is to provide further information to the Company’s 2011 annual report dated April 19,2012 (the “Annual Report”). This letter
forms an integral part of and should be read together with the Annual Report. If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take, you should consult
your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other professional adviser immediately. Unless otherwise defined herein, words and expressions
defined in the Annual Report shall have the same meaning when used in this letter.

The Annual Report is hereby supplemented as follows:

1.

The fifth bullet point under the section headed “Factors Affecting Our Current and Future Results” in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 25 and 26 of the Annual Report is amended and restated as follows:

“Our relationships with gaming promoters, which contribute a significant portion of our casino revenues and the majority of which are provided with
credit as part of the ordinary course of business, expose us to credit risks. For the years ended December 31,2011,2010 and 2009, approximately
61.0%, 62.3% and 71.8% of our casino revenues were derived from customers sourced through our gaming promoters, respectively. For the year ended
December 31,2011, our top five customers and the largest customer were gaming promoters and accounted for approximately 23.9% and 6.9% of our
casino revenues, respectively. We believe we have good relationships with our gaming promoters and our commission levels broadly have remained
stable throughout our operating history. Commissions paid to our gaming promoters (net of amounts indirectly rebated to customers) amounted to
US$339.0 million, US$238.7 million and US$180.9 million for the years ended December 31,2011,2010 and 2009, respectively.”

Mr. James Douglas Packer’s biography in the section headed the “Directors and Senior Management” on page 51 of the Annual Report is amended and
restated as follows:

“Mr. Packer was appointed as our non-executive Director on March 8, 2005 and has served as our Co- Chairman of our Board since March 2005. Mr.
Packer is the executive chairman of Crown, an operator of casinos and integrated resorts, having been appointed on its formation in 2007, and a
member of the Crown Investment Committee since February 2008. Mr. Packer is also the chairman of Consolidated Press Holdings Limited (the largest
shareholder of Crown), having been appointed in January 2006, and the deputy chairman of Consolidated Media Holdings Limited, having been
appointed in December 2007. Mr. Packer is a director of Crown Melbourne Limited, a casino and integrated resort operator, having been appointed in
July 1999, and Burswood Limited, a casino and integrated resort operator, having been appointed in September 2004. His previous directorships
include Challenger Limited from November 2003 to September 2009, SEEK Limited from October 2003 to August 2009, Ellerston Capital Limited
from August 2004 to August 2011, Sunland Group Limited from July 2006 to August 2009, and Ten Network Holdings Limited from December 2010
to March 2011.”

The section headed “Directors’ Services Contracts” in the “Report of the Directors” on page 59 of the Annual Report is amended and restated as
follows:

“Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a director service contract with our Company on December 18, 2006, except for Mr.
James Andrew Charles MacKenzie, who has entered into a director service contract with our Company on April 24, 2008. These director service
contracts will continue from the date of the contracts until the date on which the relevant independent non-executive Director ceases to be a member of
the Board for any reason. Under the director service contracts, each independent non-executive Director will receive a fixed quarterly income.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into a director service contract with our Group (excluding contracts expiring or determinable
by the employer within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation). Mr. Ho entered into an employment contract
with the Company for his role as our Chief Executive Officer.”
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4. Notes (1) and (2) under the section headed “2011 Share Incentive Plan” in the “Report of the Directors” on page 74 of the Annual Report are amended
and restated as follows:

“(1) Melco Leisure is the beneficial owner 0f 556,222,503 Shares and is deemed or taken to be interested in 556,222,503 Shares owned by Crown
Asia Investments pursuant to rights of first refusal over such Shares granted by Crown Asia Investments in favor of Melco Leisure under the new
Shareholders’ deed, which became effective in December 2007 (“New Shareholders’ Deed”), entered into between Melco and Crown. SPV is
owned as to 50% by Melco Leisure and 50% by Crown Asia Investments and 2,004,360 ADSs (6,013,080 Shares) are held by SPV.

(2) Crown Asia Investments is the beneficial owner 0f 556,222,503 Shares and is deemed or taken to be interested in 556,222,503 Shares owned by
Melco Leisure pursuant to rights of first refusal over such Shares granted by Melco Leisure in favor of Crown Asia Investments under the New
Shareholders’ Deed. SPV is owned as to 50% by Melco Leisure and 50% by Crown Asia Investments and 2,004,360 ADSs (6,013,080 Shares) are
held by SPV.”

5. The following definitions under the section headed “Definitions and Glossary” on pages 176 and 177 of the Annual Report are amended and restated
as follows:

“2011 Share Incentive Plan” refers to a share incentive plan as adopted by our Company pursuant to a resolution passed by our Shareholder at an
extraordinary general meeting on October 6,2011 and became effective on the Listing Date, which aims to provide incentives in the form of awards to
consultants, employees and members of the Board, with the view of promoting further success of our Company;”

“Crown Asia Investments” refers to Crown Asia Investments Pty, Ltd., formerly known as PBL Asia Investments Limited, which is 100% indirectly
owned by Crown and was incorporated in the Cayman Islands but is now a registered Australian company;”

The Annual Report published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.com) and the Company’s website
(www.melco-crown.com) on April 19,2012 has contained the above supplements to the Annual Report.

The English text of this letter shall prevail over the Chinese text for the purpose of interpretation.
The Annual Report may only be distributed if accompanied by this letter.
Melco Crown Entertainment Limited

April 19,2012
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